
 
 

 

 

 
LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 

TUESDAY, 24 JANUARY 2023 
 

 
A MEETING of the LOCAL LICENSING FORUM will be held in the on TUESDAY, 24 JANUARY 

2023 at 4.00 pm.  The meeting will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL 

HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS  and will be a blended meeting and can be 

accessed remotely via Microsoft Teams.  

All Attendees, including members of the public, should note that the public business in this 

meeting will be livestreamed and video recorded and that recording will be available 

thereafter for public view for 180 days. 

 

 
J. J. WILKINSON, 
Clerk to the Council, 
 
17 January 2023 
 
 

BUSINESS 
  

1.  Apologies for Absence.  
 

 
 

2.  Order of Business.  
 

 
 

3.  Declarations of Interest.  
 

 
 

4.  Development Session (Pages 3 - 44) 
 

75 mins 

 Session lead by Aidan Collins, Alcohol Focus Scotland. 
 

 
 

5.  Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 - Section 142 Guidance for Licensing 
Boards (Pages 45 - 162) 
 

30 mins 

 (Copies attached.) 
 

 
 

6.  Future Work Plan  
 

15 mins 
 

7.  Any Other Items Previously Circulated.  
 

 
 

8.  Any Other Items which the Convener Decides are Urgent.  
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 
 
NOTES 
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions. 
 
2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 

item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting. 

 
 
Please direct any enquiries to Fiona Henderson  Tel: 01835 826502 
E-mail: fhenderson@scotborders.gov.uk 
 
 



   

Borders Local Licensing Forum Development Workshop  

Discussion one: Taking Stock  

Background  

AFS has been engaging with forums to learn more about challenges and opportunities they have 

encountered. The experience of forums across Scotland appears to be very mixed. While some 

describe having influence within the licensing system, others do not believe that they are functioning 

effectively.  Some examples of common challenges and opportunities identified by forums are set 

out below.    

Challenges  Opportunities  

• Confusion over role and remit  

• Lack of clear aims / workplan  

• Views ignored / tokenistic 

• Poor communications 

• Difficulties involving specific groups 

• Difficulties retaining members 

• Competing interests/lack of consensus  

• Limited resources/time  

• Lack of activity  

• New reporting requirements (Functions 
Reports) 

• Agreed aims / workplan  

• Support from local agencies  

• Access to valuable information/data   

• Engaged membership   

• Good relationships with board  

• Wealth of experience/skills around table  

• Strong leadership  

 

Questions for discussion  

• Which of the above challenges/opportunities could apply to your forum? 

• What other challenges/opportunities might you encounter?  

Discussion 2: Looking Forward  

Background  

It can be beneficial for forums to set out the activities that they will undertake in the coming year, or 

over a longer time period. This can support them to agree what actions they will take and what types 

of issues they will explore, as well as to track progress.  Some examples of activities forums might 

undertake are set out below.   

Work area  Examples of activities  

 
Reviewing the 
operation of the 
Act in the forum’s 
area  
 

• Review the licensing policy to identify how the board intends to promote 
the objectives. 

• Use Annual Functions Report to review decisions of the board – is the 
policy being followed?  

• Gather evidence to measure the local impact of alcohol and the board’s 
decision making (e.g., published alcohol data, views of licensees, local 
services). 

• Develop a local alcohol profile that pulls evidence together from multiple 
agencies (some forums develop these each year).  

Giving advice and 
making 

• Provide evidence to show what impact the licensing policy is having and 
recommend any actions/changes needed.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



   
recommendations 
to the board 

• Make recommendations regarding the content of Annual Functions 
Report, and any issues arising from it. 

• Make recommendations regarding licensed hours in the area.   

• Suggest good practice controls for licensed premises and occasional 
licences, such as sample conditions.  

• Monitor the use of occasional licences and make recommendations e.g., 
what sort of events it is not appropriate to license? 

• Make recommendations to the Board on improvements to processes 
that would increase accessibility/transparency for the public. 

Developing the 
forum  
 
 
 
 
 

• Develop a work plan setting out the activities that the forum will 
undertake.  

• Undertake a review of the membership to ensure it is broadly 
representative. 

• Encourage/enhance membership e.g., contact youth organisations, 
promote forum on social networking sites. 

• Identify opportunities to develop relationships with fellow licensing 
stakeholders e.g., work shadowing, training, events.  

• Develop terms of reference and/or standing orders.   

• Gather feedback about the forum to identify areas for improvement. 

• Agree practical arrangements for communication with the board.  

• Actively seek opinions from the community – find new ways for public to 
feed-in.  

 

Questions for discussion  

• What issue/s would you like your forum to focus on over the coming year? 

• Which activities do you think would be most useful for your forum to undertake?   

• How will you take this forward?   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4



Local Licensing Forum 
Members’ Guide 

July 2021

P
age 5



PAGE 1

ABOUT THIS GUIDE  2

PART 1: ESSENTIAL KNOWLEDGE 3

1.1 The role of the forum  4

1.2 The membership of the forum  4

1.3 Key information for forum members 5

1.3.1 The licensing system  5

1.3.2 Licensing boards  6

PART 2: HOW THE FORUM CAN FULFIL ITS ROLE 7

2.1 Reviewing the operation of the Act in the forum’s area 8

2.1.1 Scrutinising the implementation of licensing policy  8

2.1.2 Gathering evidence  11

2.2 Giving advice and making recommendations to the board 14

2.2.1 Development of the local statement of  
licensing policy  15

2.2.2 Ongoing review of licensing policy  16

2.2.3 Implementation of policy and decision making  17

2.2.4 Reporting requirements  18

2.2.5 Recommendations about licensed hours  19

2.2.6 Identifying conditions to promote the objectives  20

2.2.7 Monitoring the use of occasional licences 21

2.2.8 Suggesting improvements to board procedures 23

2.2.9 When the licensing board does not follow  
the forum’s advice 23

PART 3: TIPS FOR AN EFFECTIVE FORUM 24

3.1 Ensuring an inclusive approach to involvement 25

3.2 Building the knowledge of forum members  27

3.3 Developing a work plan  28

3.4 Achieving a culture of participation 30

3.4.1 Preparation  30

3.4.2 Management of business  30

3.4.3 Exploring ideas and group decision making  30

3.4.4 Evaluation and review  34

3.5 Facilitating effective communication  35

3.5.1 Communicating with the board  35

3.5.2 Communicating with stakeholders and communities  36

3.6 Forum to-do list  37

CONTENTS

P
age 6



PAGE 2

ABOUT THIS GUIDE 
 
This guide provides information to help you in 
your role as a local licensing forum member, and 
practical suggestions and tips to support the 
forum to function effectively. It has been informed 
through direct engagement with forum members. 

Alcohol Focus Scotland (AFS) developed this guide in response 
to concerns amongst licensing stakeholders that there is a 
lack of support available to forums. Our engagement with 
these stakeholders1 found that, while many believe forums 
have the potential to play an important role in the licensing 
system, they have faced significant challenges that have 
limited their contribution. These include difficulties retaining 
members, interpreting their role, and reaching consensus on 
important issues. However, the most common area of concern 
identified by forum members is a lack of information, resources 
and support. We hope that production of this guide may help 
to address this. 

1 Alcohol Focus Scotland (2017). Taking Stock: Views and experiences of alcohol 
licensing in Scotland in 2016/17: https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/
media/287043/Taking-Stock-Report.pdf

 Hyper-links to key reference materials and additional 
resources are included throughout this guide to enable 
you to access these documents easily. 

 We would appreciate any feedback about what is useful, 
anything that is not needed and anything you would like 
to see included in future versions of the guide. 

 To provide feedback please contact 
Enquiries@alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk 

 The most  
common area of  

concern identified by 
forum members is a lack 
of information, resources 

and support. We hope that 
production of this guide may 

help to address this.  

P
age 7

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/287043/Taking-Stock-Report.pdf
https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/287043/Taking-Stock-Report.pdf
mailto:Enquiries@alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk


PAGE 3

PART 1:  
ESSENTIAL KNOWLEDGE

P
age 8



PAGE 4

1.1 The role of the forum 
The Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 is the main piece of legislation 
that controls the sale of alcohol in Scotland, and it requires every 
council to establish a local licensing forum. 

It is the job of the forum to review the licensing board in the area 
and to provide it with feedback. Specifically, the law states the 
forum’s role is to:

• Review: “keeping under review the operation of this Act [The 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005] in the forum’s area, and, in 
particular, the exercise by the relevant licensing board or boards 
of their functions”, and

• Advise: “giving such advice and making such recommendations 
to that… board in relation to those matters as the forum considers 
appropriate.”

However, this does not include reviewing or offering recommendations 
in relation to individual applications or cases, which the law prohibits. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM
Forum’s role NOT the forum’s role

 Review the licensing board  Comment on individual 
cases

 Give feedback, advice & 
recommendations to the 
licensing board

 Comment on other areas 
of law

The local council must provide support to the forum to enable 
it to be effective in its role. This will normally include a venue for 
meetings, an administrator to take/circulate minutes and a legally 
qualified person with experience of alcohol licensing to provide 
legal advice. It could also include a budget for training of forum 
members (for more information about training see section 3.2). 

1.2 The membership of the forum 
To be effective, licensing forums should be both independent and 
expert, and trusted by the range of people whose interests are 
affected by licensing. They have a vital role to play in local licensing 
arrangements, representing different communities of interest and 
ensuring that a breadth of views are considered and input to 
licensing boards. 

Forum membership must be representative of the range of 
people whose interests are affected by licensing, so that 
they can bring a variety of perspectives on the local 
situation to the forum. The type of information 
different forum members can bring will 
also vary. For example, representatives 
of bodies such as the police and 
health board are more likely to 
have statistical information, 
whereas representatives 
of residents or the trade 
are more likely to bring 
practical experience 
and insight. 

 To be effective, 
licensing forums should 

be both independent 
and expert, and trusted 
by the range of people 

whose interests are 
affected by licensing. 

P
age 9



PAGE 5

The law requires all forums to have a membership of between 5  
and 21 people, and they must include:

• At least one Licensing Standards Officer (LSO) for the area.
 The intention behind this part of the law is that the LSO can 
function as a link between the forum and the licensing 
system. 

• At least one person from the health board for the area.
 This reflects the need to understand how licensing can 
protect and improve public health.

The law also sets out five main categories of members which the 
council must reach and engage in the process of setting up/
maintaining a forum: 

• Licence holders (preferably both on-sales and off-sales)
• Police 
• Health, education or social work
• Young people 
• Residents

The forum has the flexibility to decide at a local level how many 
representatives there should be for each of the different interests, 
although all the interests are equally important. It can also include 
people that represent other interests relevant to licensing, for 
example the Scottish Ambulance Service, Security Industry Authority 
(SIA) or third sector organisations. 

To ensure independence, the forum must develop an identity that 
is clearly separate from the licensing board or any other interest or 
group of interests. It must have the capacity to be impartial.

1.3 Key information for forum 
members

In order for the forum to fulfil its role, it is important that all the 
members have an understanding of the licensing system and the 
functions of the licensing board. The key information which you 
should familiarise yourself with includes:  

• The board’s statement of licensing policy and annual functions 
reports 

• The relevant parts of licensing legislation (The Licensing 
(Scotland) Act 2005)

• Guidance issued by the Scottish Government

There is no requirement for forum members to have any specific 
legal knowledge but you may find it helpful to get a basic overview 
of the law. For more information about building the knowledge of 
forum members see section 3. However, below is a quick summary 
of some key points to note. 

1.3.1 The licensing system 

Alcohol has been part of Scotland’s culture for centuries and is seen 
as an integral part of Scottish life. However, controls have been 
placed on how, where and when alcohol is sold in recognition that 
alcohol is intoxicating and addictive, and can cause a range of 
health and social harms to drinkers and to others around them. 

As noted above, the main relevant legislation is the Licensing 
(Scotland) Act 2005. It regulates the sale of alcohol on licensed 

P
age 10

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2005/16/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2005/16/contents
https://www.gov.scot/publications/licensing-scotland-act-2005-section-142-guidance-licensing-boards-local-authorities/pages/2/


PAGE 6

premises and covers all liquor licensing matters. There are five 
licensing objectives, set out in the legislation, that underpin the 
licensing system in Scotland. These are: 

• Preventing crime and disorder 
• Securing public safety 
• Preventing public nuisance 
• Protecting and improving public health 
• Protecting children and young persons from harm

These objectives provide a clear purpose for the licensing system, 
and each one of them is of equal importance. Many licensing 
boards describe the need to strike an appropriate balance 
between supporting the local licensed economy, while also 
upholding the five licensing objectives.  

The purpose of licensing
The Scottish Government has stated that “the purpose of licensing 
is to limit or control activities which, while legitimate and permitted, 
are considered to have the potential to be harmful or disruptive. 
Licensing protects the public interest, for example… supporting 
public order and public health”2

 
The licensing system works to prevent and reduce alcohol problems 
in two main ways. It controls the number, type and opening hours 
of licensed premises, and it regulates the way individual licensed 
premises do business.

2 Scottish Government, The Policy memorandum accompanying the Air 
Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Bill, May 2014 (para 11)

1.3.2 Licensing boards 

Licensing boards decide all applications for licences to sell alcohol 
in their area. Board membership consists of local councillors, though 
the licensing board is separate from the local authority itself and 
should conduct its business on non-party political lines.

• The licensing board decides whether or not to grant applications 
for new premises, personal and occasional licences, variations of 
existing licences and transfers of licences.

• Where problems are reported, it is licensing boards that decide 
to review a premises or personal licence, and what action (if any) 
they will take.

Licensing boards are required to publish two documents that will be 
of close interest to forums in helping them hold boards to account:

• A forward-looking statement of licensing policy setting out their 
strategic approach to promoting the licensing objectives in 
their area over several years. Boards must have regard to the 
statement when making their decisions. 

• A retrospective annual functions report setting out how they have 
delivered in relation to the licensing objectives and their policy 
statements in the previous year. Further details on these reports 
and how your forum might use them is provided in section 2.1. 

The clerk of the board provides legal advice to the licensing board. 
They are employed by the council and are legally qualified, and 
may attend at the forum to provide updates or other input. 

P
age 11



PAGE 7

PART 2: HOW THE FORUM 
CAN FULFIL ITS ROLE

P
age 12



PAGE 8

2.1 Reviewing the operation of 
the Act in the forum’s area

A key role for the forum is assessing the operation of the Licensing 
(Scotland) Act 2005 in your local area. In practice, this means that 
you are expected to evaluate how the licensing system, and in 
particular the decisions of the local licensing board, is impacting 
local communities. To do this you need to be aware of:  

• What the licensing board is doing to address any problems and 
what further plans it has 

 The forum needs to scrutinise the board’s licensing policy 
and how it is being implemented. You can do this using the 
board’s annual functions reports. 

• What is happening in the area
 The forum needs to gather evidence of how alcohol 
and licensing policy and practice is impacting on local 
communities. 

2.1.1 Scrutinising the implementation  
of licensing policy 

Statements of licensing policy 

All licensing boards must publish a statement of licensing policy 
within 18 months of each local government election. The policies 
are intended to provide local communities and stakeholders with 
an indication of how boards will manage the licensed premises 
in their area; outlining their approach to matters such as opening 

hours and children’s access. They must also include a policy on 
overprovision (see page 9). Each board must ensure that the policy 
statement is freely available to the public and it will normally be 
accessible on their website.

The forum can use the local board’s policy to identify what the 
board intends to do to promote the objectives. Actions to promote 
the objectives could include: 

• Declaring one or more areas as overprovided 
• Controlling licensed hours
• Applying local conditions
• Asking applicants to provide risk assessments relevant to the 

objectives along with their applications
• Working with stakeholders to ensure all relevant information is 

kept up–to-date and accessible
• Facilitating effective communication between local stakeholders
• Liaising with local partners
• Endorsing local initiatives relevant to the objectives
• Carrying out spot checks of premises
• Highlighting good practice
• Conducting reviews of licences 

 You are expected 
to evaluate how the 

licensing system, and in 
particular the decisions 

of the local licensing 
board, is impacting  

local communities. 

P
age 13



PAGE 9

Overprovision  
Licensing boards are legally required to assess whether there 
are too many licensed premises in their area, and to include 
a statement on ‘overprovision’ in their licensing policies. This 
assessment can relate to licensed premises generally or to a 
particular type of premises (e.g. late-night opening premises), and 
can cover the entire board area or smaller localities within it. If 
the board decides there is overprovision, it creates a presumption 
against granting any new licences to relevant premises in that area, 
and may also prevent the granting of variations to existing licences. 
This enables boards to prevent expansion in the supply of alcohol in 
areas that are considered well-provided for and at risk of becoming 
overprovided. The board must include a statement of overprovision, 
regardless of whether it identifies areas of overprovision. 

 
AFS has produced resources to outline the range of measures 
being used by boards across Scotland to promote the objectives 
contained in the most recent licensing policies; this should help to 
give you an idea of the types of policy measures to look for  
– see measures & conditions resources. 

Once the forum knows how the board intends to promote each of the 
objectives, it can then consider what types of information to gather to 
help measure the impacts of the board’s approach. For example, if 
the board intends to promote the use of schemes like ‘Ask for Angela’ 
which seek to prevent gender-based and domestic violence, you 
might decide to collect police data on domestic crimes/incidents 
involving alcohol, information from the licensed trade about the use of 
the scheme, and intelligence from local agencies that work to support 
people with experience of domestic abuse. Further information about 
evidence gathering is provided in section 2.1.2. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Review the licensing policy to identify how the board intends 
to promote each of the objectives. Give consideration to 
any outcomes that might result from the board’s approach, 
and how progress toward achieving the objectives can be 
measured and tracked.

Annual functions reports 

For a policy statement to be effective it needs to be applied in 
practice and be kept under review to assess what impact it is 
having. Annual functions reports provide a vital means for forums 
to assess the extent to which their local board’s licensing policies 
have been implemented and adhered to. Licensing boards are 
legally obligated to include within their annual functions report: 

• A statement explaining how they have had regard to the 
licensing objectives and their policy statements in the exercise  
of their functions; 

• A summary of the decisions they have taken over the relevant 
financial year including decisions by officers under delegated 
powers; 

• The number of licences held under the Act in their board area, 
including the number of occasional licences issued during  
the year. 

The forum should be able to easily identify from the local board’s 
report the actions and incremental steps it is taking towards 
achieving its longer-term aims. If the report is of a good quality, it 

P
age 14

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/440019/resource-2-%E2%80%93-measures-to-promote-the-licensing-objectives.pdf
https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/440020/resource-3-%E2%80%93-examples-of-conditions-to-promote-the-objectives.pdf


PAGE 10

should also enable you to identify the types of evidence that the 
board is using to monitor the impacts of its policy and decisions. 
As such, the ongoing production of the reports provides a key 
mechanism for the forum to review progress and develop evidence 
to make suggestions for changes to licensing policies moving 
forward. 

The duty on licensing boards to publish annual functions reports is 
still fairly new, with the first reports being published in 2018. An AFS 
review3 of these reports found a wide variation between them in the 
breadth and depth of detail provided, but most allowed for some 
scrutiny of boards’ decision making. 

A well-developed annual functions report should enable you to 
identify: 

 The steps taken by the board to promote each of the five 
objectives, and how these are being reflected in decisions e.g. 
refusals of licences or licence conditions being attached on the 
basis of each of the objectives. 

 Information about the board’s delivery against its statement of 
licensing policy and overprovision policy, including details of 
instances when it’s deviated from the policy (e.g. by granting 
licences in overprovision areas) and its reasons for doing so.

3 Alcohol Focus Scotland (2019). Review of Licensing Board Annual Functions 
Reports 2017-2018: https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/
afs-annual-functions-report.pdf

 Information on the evidence used by the board in following its 
policy and informing decisions, including how evidence has 
been updated.

 Data on the board’s decisions during the year, and a summary 
of the overall provision of alcohol in the area, including the 
number of occasional licences issued. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Use the annual functions report to review the decisions of the 
board, and determine whether/how the licensing policy is 
being adhered to. 

 The duty on  
licensing boards to 

publish annual  
functions reports is still  

fairly new, with the  
first reports being  

published in 2018. 

P
age 15

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/afs-annual-functions-report.pdf
https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/afs-annual-functions-report.pdf
https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/afs-annual-functions-report.pdf


PAGE 11

2.1.2 Gathering evidence 

It is essential that the forum gathers evidence in order to identify key 
licensing issues affecting the area, and what impact the decisions 
of the board is having. This should not be seen as a one-off exercise 
but rather part of an ongoing process, to enable the identification 
of changes over time and emerging issues that the forum may wish 
to bring to the board’s attention. There are many ways this can be 
done, and the forum’s broad membership provides opportunities to 
gather a wide variety of evidence. Different sources of evidence from 
each forum member’s area of expertise can be used to measure the 
impact of alcohol and licensing policy and practice, including:  

• Experience and knowledge of forum members: The forum 
members will likely have extensive professional and/or local 
knowledge of licensing related matters. This knowledge may also 
be supported by relevant evidence and statistics.

• Views and experiences of local residents: People living in the 
area will have first-hand experience of how licensed premises 
operate and how the availability of alcohol affects the 
community on a day-to-day basis. For example, community 
councils may be able to provide details about any alcohol-
related concerns being raised by residents. 

• Published alcohol data: A range of alcohol statistics are centrally 
collated and published, including crime, health, emergency 
service, alcohol consumption and sales data. This information 
gives an indication of the extent of alcohol problems and trends 
over time. Alcohol statistics and information may be available at 
different geographical levels, from Scotland-wide, to data zones 

made up of 500 to 1000 household residents. More information 
on data sources is available from AFS see Resource Pack and 
Evidence Resource.

• Information from local agencies: Some alcohol-related statistics are 
collected locally, but not always published. However, these may be 
available on request or via forum members or local agencies e.g. 
Alcohol and Drug Partnerships (ADP), social work, and the fire service. 
The chief constable must also send a copy of a report annually to the 
forum setting out their views on matters relating to policing/licensing.

• Information from licensing boards: You can request copies of any 
relevant statistics, information and reports from the licensing board. It 
must supply this information to the forum when requested.

  Information from Licensing Standards Officers: LSOs may be able 
to provide information about their engagement with the public, 
licensees and applicants in your area. This could include details of 
visits to premises and any complaints received by the LSO about 
premises.

• Information from the licensed trade: The licensed trade should be 
able to provide insight into the licensed economy and any issues 
of concern. This could include issues such as aggression faced by 
staff when refusing entry or service, and difficulties with transport or 
‘hot-spots’ in busy areas. It may also be able to provide information 
from incident logs or refusals books.

• Qualitative information/evidence: Local agencies, charities and 
organisations can be invited to attend the forum to testify on 
the impact of alcohol problems and alcohol availability in local 
communities.

P
age 16

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/291077/afs-licensing-resource-pack.pdf
https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/440018/resource-1-%E2%80%93-evidence-considered-by-licensing-boards-to-develop-policy.pdf


PAGE 12

Example: Sources of evidence by licensing objective

Objective Evidence 

Preventing crime & 
disorder

Examples include: 
• Numbers of alcohol-related police incidents and crimes, including domestic and road traffic incidents
• Details of police inspections of premises
• Police advice about identifiable “hot spots”
• Research into glassing and bottling incidents
• Reports from licensed premises about aggression faced by staff when refusing entry or service or other issues 
• Information from local agencies supporting victims or perpetrators of crime

Securing public 
safety

Examples include: 
• Police details of incidents of anti-social behaviour and other types of public disorder linked to alcohol use
• Scottish Fire and Rescue Service data on domestic fires where impairment due to alcohol is suspected

Preventing public 
nuisance

Examples include: 
• Public nuisance information supplied by the Environmental Health Service 
• Alcohol-related noise complaints received by the Environmental Health Service
• Feedback from residents about alcohol-related disorder
• Details of concerns being reported by residents to Licensing Standards/Community Councils 

Protecting and 
improving public 
health

Examples include: 
• Numbers of people engaged in alcohol treatment and recovery services
• Details of alcohol-related hospital admissions (including mental health) 
• Alcohol-related death rates
• Numbers of presentations at A&E where alcohol is a contributory factor

Protecting children 
and young persons 
from harm

Examples include: 
• Surveys of young people to show levels of consumption e.g. The Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and 

Substance Use Survey
• Police intelligence about agent sales – where an adult purchases alcohol for a person who is underage
• Information from youth groups, schools and higher education providers about any alcohol-related issues 
• Social work data on numbers of child protection cases where alcohol is identified as a concern 
• Input from local youth groups and services 

P
age 17



PAGE 13

The forum might also decide to undertake its own research into 
local issues or specific policy measures. For example, it could collate 
information from licensed premises’ refusals/incident books to get 
a picture of what’s happening locally, such as the most common 
reasons for refusing service or times when problems are more likely 
to occur etc. Or, if the board decided to grant extended hours to 
certain types of premises, the forum could collect the views of local 
residents, licensees and patrons about the changes, and data from 
public agencies to indicate what impact (if any) the extended 
hours are having. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Gather evidence (on an on-going basis) to measure the 
impact that alcohol, and the licensing board’s decision 
making, is having on communities. 

Developing local alcohol profiles 

Local alcohol profiles are reports that pull evidence together 
from multiple agencies to show how alcohol is impacting on 
communities in the area. They can be a particularly useful tool to 
help forums and others identify changes over time and key issues 
affecting their area, as well as to monitor the effectiveness of 
licensing policy and practice. 

In some areas, forums produce these reports on an ongoing basis, 
often working in conjunction with licensing boards and/or public 
agencies. They can also be provided to licensing boards to help inform 
their approach and highlight issues that may require additional action. 

AFS has produced a resource setting out in more detail how to 
develop a local alcohol profile.

  THE SCOTTISH BORDERS 
ALCOHOL PROFILE

The Scottish Borders Alcohol Profile is developed every two 
years by the local Alcohol & Drug Partnership on behalf of the 
Scottish Borders Local Licensing Forum. It is used to provide 
evidence to the Scottish Borders Licensing Board to support 
decision making and inform the development of licensing 
policy statements. 

Data from various sources is used to compile the Profile 
including from the Scottish Government, NHS Health Scotland, 
NHS Borders, Police Scotland, Scottish Borders Council and 
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service. The data shows levels of 
alcohol consumption and the impact of alcohol in the Borders, 
including; children and young peoples’ consumption, men and 
women’s consumption, alcohol-related deaths, hospitalisations, 
attendances at A&E and anti-social behaviour. 

The Board acknowledges the work carried out by  
the Scottish Borders Licensing Forum by way of the  
multi-agency data gathering project and the 
subsequently produced report “Scottish Borders  
Alcohol Profile”. The Board will have regard to the  
Profile when determining applications.” 

Scottish Borders Licensing Board, Policy Statement 2018

P
age 18

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/291077/afs-licensing-resource-pack.pdf


PAGE 14

2.2 Giving advice and  
making recommendations  
to the board

The law states that one of the main roles of forums is to provide 
advice and recommendations to licensing boards. Boards have 
reciprocal obligations to have regard to forum’s recommendations, 
and if they decide not to follow them then they must provide their 
reasons as to why. 

There is no legal restriction on what issues forums can comment on 
but it is recommended that they stick to issues that relate to alcohol 
licensing as these are the only areas licensing boards have direct 
control over. It should also be remembered that forums cannot 
comment on individual premises or applications, but they can talk 
about areas or types of premises. 

It may be that some issues identified by the forum can only be dealt 
with at a national level (e.g. minimum unit price), or fall outwith with 
the scope of licensing legislation (e.g. parents allowing teenagers to 
drink at home). As a general rule, forums should only comment on 
issues that happen and things that can be done in their local area. 
This may be by linking with the work of other relevant local or regional 
groups for example a Community Safety Partnership or ADP.

There is no guidance in the Act about how forums should raise issues 
with licensing boards. Some suggestions are:

 Write a letter to the board.

 Invite members / the Chair of the board to attend a forum 
meeting.

 Discuss it at a joint meeting.

It is also recommended that any advice or recommendations from 
the forum to the licensing board:

 Are provided in writing along with any supporting evidence.

 Include a clear statement that the forum is expecting the board 
to respond. For example, “The forum thinks it would be a good 
idea if…” can be easily ignored. In comparison, 
“The forum recommends…” is much stronger.

Below are some suggestions of issues  
that may be of interest to you,  
and key opportunities for the  
forum to provide advice and  
make recommendations  
to the board. 

 Forums cannot 
comment on individual 

premises or applications, 
but they can talk  

about areas or types  
of premises. 

P
age 19



PAGE 15

2.2.1 Development of the local statement  
of licensing policy 

When preparing a statement of licensing policy, which includes 
a statement of overprovision, licensing boards must consult with 
forums and other groups. This gives local people a chance to have 
their say on the approach to alcohol licensing in their community, 
and boards must give appropriate weight to the views of all those 
consulted. Most consultations will begin around six to nine months 
before the statement is due to be produced.

Forum members are well positioned to gather evidence to feed 
into these consultations, and to use their expertise to make 
recommendations about the policy. In many areas boards and 
forums work closely together to develop the policy. During previous 
rounds of policy development some forums established working 
groups specifically to develop the forum’s input to the policy 
statement process – sometimes at the request of the relevant 
licensing board. 

When licensing boards are writing their policies and determining 
overprovision they can also look at statistics from the police,  
health, the local authority etc. Alcohol Profiles (see section 2.1.2) 
which pull together a range of evidence from different agencies 
can provide a particularly valuable evidence base to inform the 
board’s approach. 

Policy 
consultation 
requirements

Licensing policy

When preparing the 
licensing policy statement 
boards must consult with:
• the local licensing forum 
• the relevant health 

board, and
• any other relevant 

persons  
(e.g., Chief Constable, 
the public).

Although the statement 
of overprovision is part of 
the licensing policy, the 
list of people boards must 
consult is slightly different:
• the Chief Constable,
• the relevant health 

board,
• licensed trade,
• residents in the area, 

and 
• any other persons the 

board thinks fit.

Overprovision

P
age 20



PAGE 16

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Respond to the board’s consultation on its licensing policy. 
Provide evidence of the local situation and suggestions 
of specific controls/measures the board could adopt to 
promote the licensing objectives, particularly drawing on  
the experience of the forum’s wide membership. 

If for any reason a licensing policy is not published within the 
required timeframe, then the forum could raise this matter with the 
board, and confirm what plans it has to develop its policy. 

2.2.2 Ongoing review of licensing policy 

Once published, licensing policies should not be inflexible and 
unchanging. Boards are expected to keep their policies under 
review and make revisions as and when appropriate. They can 
publish a supplementary licensing policy statement at any time and 
are required to consult with forums before doing so.

The forum is uniquely positioned to assess what impact the local 
licensing policy is having and whether any changes need to be 
made to it. It could be the case that some aspects of the policy 
don’t have the intended effect or have unintended consequences. 
Local circumstances might change making parts of the policy 
irrelevant or in need of update. New issues might emerge that are 
not addressed by the policy at all. 

  EXAMPLE: MAKING 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
(EXCERPT FROM FORUM COMMUNICATION)

“Layout of premises; height of shelves, security. 

The Forum considers it important that recognition is made in the 
new licensing policy of the influence the layout of shops (including 
fixtures and fittings) has in the ability of off-sales premises to monitor 
and regulate alcohol sales (e.g. segregated aisles, height of shelves 
around alcohol areas). The policy should clearly state that layout 
plans will be under scrutiny by the Board. The Forum notes that in 
many off-sales premises soft drinks and alcohol are often displayed 
side by side or in adjacent aisles. 

Recommendation: The Forum recommends that alcohol aisles be 
segregated in supermarkets, with greater separation between 
commodities popular with children and young people (e.g. soft 
drinks) and alcohol aisles, and with no end of aisle displays. 

Recommendation: Security requirements should be made explicit 
in the policy according to the nature and size of premises. For 
supermarkets and larger retail outlets, this includes adequate CCTV 
that is maintained and working, manned security and display 
arrangements that minimise the risk of theft. For small shops, the 
location of the alcohol should make supervision easy e.g. behind the 
till, and height of shelves be restricted, to minimise the risk of theft. 

With alcohol being the most frequently shop-lifted item from retail 
outlets, these measures would support the licensing objective of the 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder as well as Protecting Children and 
Young People from Harm and Protecting and Improving Public Health.”

P
age 21



PAGE 17

Evidence is not only vital for policy formation but also for keeping 
licensing policies under review. As highlighted above, the forum has 
a key role to play by gathering evidence of how alcohol and alcohol 
licensing is impacting on local communities. From this activity it will 
be routinely collecting information that could be used to provide 
advice and recommendations to the board about the policy. For 
example, it could highlight: 

 Aspects of the policy that the forum has identified are working 
well. Positive feedback is important as it supports the board to 
identify what aspects of its policy should be retained or built upon. 

 Aspects of policy that don’t appear to be working well. The 
forum could provide the board with evidence to show why it 
believes this to be the case, along with suggestions of how the 
policy could be improved or adapted. 

 Evidence of changes in local circumstances and suggestions of 
how the policy could be adapted and updated in response. 

 Evidence of emerging issues or matters that are not addressed 
within the policy, along with suggestions of how these could be 
addressed. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Provide evidence to show what impact the licensing policy 
is having on local communities, and recommend any 
additional actions that should be taken. This could include the 
development of a supplementary licensing policy statement.  

AFS has developed a resource which provides much more detail 
about informing the development and review of licensing policy. 

2.2.3 Implementation of policy and decision 
making 

Licensing boards must have regard to their statement of licensing 
policy when making decisions. Using a licensing policy to guide 
decision-making in this way supports consistent and well-reasoned 
decision-making. It also makes the licensing process more 
transparent. 

The forum has a key role to play in scrutinising how the board is 
applying its policy in practice, and whether it is taking decisions 
in line with its policy. While the forum can’t consider individual 
decisions it can look at the boards overall approach. Annual 
functions reports provide a vital means for you to do this. If you 
identify that the board is making decisions that do not align with 
the policy then the forum could raise this matter with the board and 
enquire as to the reasons why. It may be that the policy needs to be 
adapted, or there may be unique circumstances which have led 
the board to take a different approach. 

While the board can make exceptions to its policy, these should 
always be justified. It’s worth noting that if the board makes frequent 
exceptions then it may find it difficult to rely on its policy if a decision 
is appealed. Appeals can cost the council a lot of money. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Check that the board is taking decisions in line with its 
statement of licensing policy.  

P
age 22

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/291077/afs-licensing-resource-pack.pdf


PAGE 18

2.2.4 Reporting requirements 

Annual functions reports are of particular relevance to the forum 
given its role in reviewing the operation of the licensing system in the 
local area. However, they will also be relevant to a range of other 
stakeholders such as Community Councils, health boards, police, 
and Alcohol and Drug Partnerships amongst others, many of whom 
may sit on the forum.

Beyond the high-level legal requirements outlined in the legislation, 
there is no guidance to outline what types of information the annual 
functions report should contain or how it should be presented. AFS’s 
review4 of the first reports published identified that, while some were 
concise and fairly easy to read, a significant number contained 
legalistic language, appeared to mostly repeat sections of the law 
and regulations, and may not be particularly accessible for key 
audiences to understand. 

Given the relative newness of these reports, however, it seems likely 
that boards will seek to refine the content of these reports with each 
publication. The forum is particularly well positioned to provide 
feedback to the board about the contents of its annual functions 
reports to ensure they provide the right information, in the right way, 
for local partners to make use of. For example you could make 
suggestions regarding:

4 Alcohol Focus Scotland (2019). Review of Licensing Board Annual Functions 
Reports 2017-2018: https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/
afs-annual-functions-report.pdf 

 The types of data or information that could be included within 
the report to provide increased transparency.

 How the report could be written so that it is meaningful and 
accessible to its intended audience. 

This type of information will be valuable to the board to help inform 
the development of future reports.

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Give advice and make recommendations regarding the 
content/format of annual function reports, and any matters 
arising from them. The reports could be included as an 
ongoing topic for discussion at joint meetings of the board 
and forum. 

 Annual functions 
reports are of particular 
relevance to the forum 

given its role in reviewing 
the operation of the 
licensing system in  
the local area.  

P
age 23

https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/afs-annual-functions-report.pdf
https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/media/310853/afs-annual-functions-report.pdf


PAGE 19

2.2.5 Recommendations about licensed hours 

The Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 sets the hours for off-licence 
premises as 10am-10pm. These cannot be extended but licensing 
boards may grant reduced hours to new applicants if appropriate. 

It is for each local board to decide (in its policy) what hours are 
appropriate for the on-licence premises in their area. These can 
be nuanced to offer different hours to different types of premises, 
although there is a presumption against granting 24-hour licences. 
In addition, licensees can apply for an extension of licensed hours 
in connection with a special event, and boards can grant general 
extensions to hours for special occasions e.g. Freshers’ Week, 
sporting events, and local festivals. 

Licensing hours are important not only to individual licensed 
premises but can have a wider impact on an area. Over the past 
twenty or thirty years we have seen licensed premises opening 
earlier and closing later. Before longer hours are granted, licensing 
boards should be seeking evidence that they will not cause any 
increased harm in the area. This should include harms across all five 
of the licensing objectives. It is not easy for boards to reduce hours 
once granted. 

The forum is well positioned to check that the board can justify 
any decisions that are exceptions to its policy on licensed hours. 
It could also gather evidence about the impact of licensed hours 
and make recommendations regarding what hours it believes to be 
reasonable, or when granting extensions of hours what may/may 
not be appropriate. 

  MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS  
(EXCERPT FROM FORUM COMMUNICATION)

“Extended hours 

Recommendations:
• Board should consider on a case-by-case basis whether a 

default two hour extension is appropriate and consider one 
hour instead.

• Board to provide guidance for applicants to promote 
consistency in decision making; 

• Guidance for applicants to include definitions of ‘special 
event’ and ‘event of local or national significance”

Explanatory Notes:
• Police Scotland noted that there has been an increase in 

extended use applications over the last few years, especially 
in comparison to other Board areas across Scotland. Many 
applications appear to be generic “party-event”, “DJ-
event” as well as ‘days’ (Halloween, St Patrick’s Day etc) 
turning into weekend-long festivities.

• The trade believes that an event of local or national 
significance is an event which is significant to a sizeable 
proportion of the city’s residents.”

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Check that the board is implementing its policy on licensed 
hours and make recommendations regarding licensed hours 
in the area.  

P
age 24



PAGE 20

2.2.6 Identifying conditions to  
promote the objectives 

There are national mandatory conditions for all premises and 
occasional licences. These can only be changed by the Scottish 
Government revising the legislation. However, licensing boards  
can also add their own local conditions to deal with local issues  
or circumstances. These may be applied to individual premises  
or to a particular type of premises as boards see fit. 

The forum can use its own knowledge to suggest good practice 
controls for licensed premises and occasional licences, such as 
sample conditions. These can be included in licensing policies or 
published elsewhere, and their creation can have a number of 
clear benefits. Not only do they indicate the ways in which the 
board will promote the objectives, they also provide examples 
of what conditions applicants could be subject to or volunteer 
themselves, and provide people making representations/objections 
with suggestions of the kinds of conditions they can propose.

It is worth remembering that if an applicant for a new licence simply 
promises the licensing board that they will (or will not) do something, 
once the licence is granted, there is no way of ensuring they fulfil their 
promise. In comparison, if it is attached as a condition to the premises 
licence then it can be enforced. If a premises breaches a condition 
then the board can review their licence. AFS has produced a resource 
that outlines the conditions contained in the most recent licensing 
policies, set out against each of the licensing objectives. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Suggest good practice controls for licensed premises and 
occasional licences, such as sample conditions.  

 The forum can  
use its own knowledge 

to suggest good practice 
controls for licensed 

premises and occasional 
licences, such as  

sample conditions. 

P
age 25



PAGE 21

2.2.7 Monitoring the use of occasional licences

An occasional licence allows the temporary sale of alcohol in a 
place that is normally unlicensed. These are intended to enable 
premises that are not fully licensed to sell alcohol at occasional 
events, which in practice can range from wedding receptions and 
fetes through to large scale music concerts.

Most licensing boards grant several hundreds of occasional licences 
each year. These are not as strictly scrutinised by boards and, unless 
there are specific reasons to refuse them, they must be granted. 
Concerns have been raised that some applicants have sought to 
apply for consecutive occasional licences as an alternative to a full 
licence, allowing them to circumvent parts of the licensing regime. 
They also add to the provision of alcohol in the area but are not 
included in any assessment of overprovision.

The forum can monitor the number of occasional licences being 
granted by the board using its annual functions reports, which must 
state the number of occasional licences issued during the year. The 
forum could also explore what sort of events occasional licences 
are being granted for, gather evidence of any impacts, and make 
recommendations about their use. For example, it could identify 
the types of events it believes that it is not appropriate to license 
(such as events for children) and any restrictions the board could 
add to the use of occasionals (such as refusing to grant consecutive 
occasional licences for the same premises). 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Monitor the use of occasional licences and make 
recommendations e.g. regarding the sort of events it is not 
appropriate to license, and restrictions the board could add 
to occasional licences.  

 Most licensing  
boards grant several  

hundreds of occasional  
licences each year. 

P
age 26



PAGE 22

  MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS  
(EXCERPT FROM FORUM COMMUNICATION)

“Extended Use of Occasionals 

Recommendations:

• After four months or 10 occasional licences, any application  
for a further occasional licence should trigger extended  
scrutiny by the Board, for example to consider whether a  
full premises licence has been applied for. 

• Similarly for temporary, ‘pop-up’ type bars (outwith  
seasonal festive/Festival periods), after five occasional  
licences it would be reasonable for an applicant to have  
to appear before the whole Board. 

• Community members thought the Board should consider 
defining “festive period” to allow for particular scrutiny of  
such applications.

• Pop ups during the festive/festival periods should be  
considered as exceptional. We suggest that Festival  
occasionals should be considered separately.

• The Forum would welcome moves to ensure consistency  
in decision making over occasionals by Board members  
and others

Explanatory Notes:

• There was concern specifically about the extended use of 
occasionals for pop-up bars, often starting during an extended 
hours period (Christmas/festival) but extending for several weeks 
beyond that. 

• The Police believe that it is inappropriate for pop-ups to operate 
on a series of continuous occasional licences without the 
applicant explaining to the Board why a premises licence has 
not been applied for. 

• Trade representatives highlighted legitimate reasons why people 
might be operating on occasionals, but also that the continuous 
use of pop-up bars outside of Christmas and the festival periods, 
and for a prolonged period is unfair to the permanent trade.

• The Police acknowledge that there is very little alcohol related 
crime during the Festival period.

• It is entirely logical for applicants to have to explain the continuous 
use of occasionals after a period of time. It was acknowledged 
that premises may be operating on occasionals for legitimate 
reasons (i.e. in the process of applying for premises licences).” 

P
age 27



PAGE 23

2.2.8 Suggesting improvements to board 
procedures

The licensing board sets its own procedures and etiquette. 
Therefore, you may wish to attend at board meetings to observe 
how they operate. You could also offer feedback on the board’s 
procedures to ensure they are as accessible as possible to the 
public. 

The forum could assess whether all stakeholders – e.g., education, 
social work, communities, police, health, licensed trade – are involved 
in the licensing process. If one group is not engaged, could more be 
done to inform them about licensing and ensure that the procedures 
of the board are as user-friendly for everyone as possible? 

Overly formal processes, intimidating licensing hearings, and a lack 
of accessible information about the work of licensing boards can 
all be barriers to public participation. As such, the forum could 
investigate the extent to which community members feel able to 
participate in licensing processes, and are confident that their 
contributions will be given due regard. 

 JOB FOR THE FORUM

 Review licensing processes and make recommendations to 
the board on improvements that would increase accessibility 
and transparency for the public.  

2.2.9 When the licensing board does not 
follow the forum’s advice

If the board chooses not to follow the advice or recommendations 
of the forum then it must provide you with their reasons as to why; 
it has 42 days from when the decision was taken to provide its 
reasons. The forum should consider these reasons and ensure that it 
addresses any issues raised with its future recommendations.

Questions you may wish to consider include:

 What information about the licensing system is publicly 
available, e.g. on the board’s website? Does it include 
information for objectors as well as for applicants? 

 How easy is it for a member of the public to get more 
information about an application? E.g., some boards 
put details of applications on their website in advance, 
whereas in other areas people struggle to get details about 
applications.

 Are meetings intimidating for those without legal 
representation? How could they be improved?

 Are meetings held in accessible venues and at convenient 
times?

 Is information/support available to enable the general 
public to participate?

P
age 28



PAGE 24

PART 3: TIPS FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE FORUM

P
age 29



PAGE 25

3.1 Ensuring an inclusive 
approach to involvement

In order to do its job, the membership of the forum should include a 
range of people and organisations who can bring knowledge of the 
impact of alcohol and licensed premises in the area. Forums should 
strive to ensure that a diversity of interests can attend meetings, and 
be heard in a welcoming and supportive environment.

Maintaining a clear focus for the forum, as well as relevant 
experience from its membership, is important for ensuring its 
ongoing motivation. It is essential that forums and the councils that 
support them keep the membership under regular review, and take 
pro-active steps to ensure balance and maintain engagement. 

 TOP TIP
Undertake a review of the forum membership at least once a 
year, in partnership with the council, to ensure the membership is 
broadly representative. 

If it is identified that the forum membership is not representative of a 
particular group or interest then a range of methods could be used to 
encourage/enhance membership. The forum and council should give 
consideration to which methods may be most suited to the needs of 
the type of participant you want to attract. For any public agencies, 
care should be taken to target the most appropriate person, who 
might not necessarily be the chairperson or chief executive. Some 
examples are set out in the table on page 26.

Many people seeking information about licensing forums will likely 
look for it online. It is therefore important that the forum either has 
a dedicated page on the council’s web site, with a prominent link 
from the home page, or its own web page to provide details about 
it. Websites can be used to publish meeting agendas and minutes to 
give people an insight into what the forum does, and also provide 
people wanting to contact you with an easy way to get in touch. 

 TOP TIP
Publish meeting agendas and minutes on the forum’s website, 
and ensure that people can easily get in touch with the forum via 
the website. 

Forum meetings and procedures should be regularly reviewed to 
ensure they are user-friendly and relevant to the needs of different 
participants. For example, could you create a more youth friendly 
environment by adapting the language used at meetings and 
avoiding jargon? 

Consideration should also be given to the location and timings 
of forum meetings. Some people may face additional barriers to 
attending meetings, especially if they are working or have caring 
responsibilities. Holding meetings in the early evening might make 
it easier for more people to attend, while holding them in different 
venues could help ensure that people from any one geographical 
area are not disadvantaged. Meetings of a forum must be held in 
public but the potential to make use of video conferencing and 
virtual meeting platforms could be explored to make it easier for 
people to participate in or observe meetings. 

P
age 30



PAGE 26

Methods to encourage/enhance membership

Licence 
holders

• Make request via Local Trade Association / 
Scottish Trade Association 

• Visit and distribute information to local licensed 
premises 

• Ask local businesses to promote the forum on their 
social media channels

• Advertise in industry publications

Police

• Contact local police stations, meet with relevant 
police staff 

• Make contact with Police Scotland’s National 
Licensing Team 

Health

• Attend local Alcohol and Drug Partnership meetings 
• Provide information/make contact with local 

healthcare services e.g. GP practices, hospitals 
• Make request via professional bodies and groups 

e.g. The Royal College of Nursing (N.B: It is a legal 
requirement that forum membership includes a 
representative from the health board for the area) 

Education 

• Make contact with local schools, colleges, universities 
• Make contact with Local Authority education 

representatives

Social 
work

• Provide information/make contact with local 
social work services e.g. addiction support, child 
protection, criminal justice

• Make request via professional bodies and groups 
e.g. Social Work Scotland

Young 
people 

 Make contact with local Members of the Scottish 
Youth Parliament (MSYP) (some MSYPs may 
already have a presence within local council 
buildings)
 Make contact with local/national youth 
organisations e.g. YouthLink Scotland, YoungScot, 
Youth Scotland. Invite Youth Workers to approach 
young people on behalf of the forum, or provide 
support to young people to enable them to 
participate 
 Promote the forum at local schools, youth clubs 
and youth events
 Promote the forum on social networking sites that 
are used by young people e.g. TikTok

Residents

• Publicise the forum in local newspapers and 
publications 

• Make contact with local Community Councils – 
they are notified of new licence applications and 
applications for major variations 

• Make contact with housing associations and other 
local organisations

• Distribute leaflets/posters to explain the role of 
the forum and to give notice of public meetings 
– they could be placed in shops, gyms, libraries 
and public buildings to reach the general public, 
or included with letters sent by the Council to 
individuals and community organisations

P
age 31



PAGE 27

3.2 Building the knowledge of 
forum members 

To enable forum members to meaningfully participate, it is 
important that they all share the same core knowledge about 
licensing in general and the functions of forums in particular. Links 
to the key information that you should familiarise yourself with are 
contained in section 1.3.

You should also consider what other opportunities for learning and 
development in licensing might be useful for you. There are plenty 
of low-cost ways that you could develop relationships with fellow 
licensing stakeholders and enhance your licensing knowledge, 
including: 

• Attending relevant meetings and events
• Observing the licensing board
• Creating work shadowing opportunities
• Attending training courses (Personal Licence Holder training, 

Licensing Board Member training etc.)
• Inviting local stakeholders to deliver presentations on key topics 

 TOP TIP
Proactively identify opportunities to develop relationships with 
fellow licensing stakeholders and enhance your understanding of 
licensing. 

It could also be helpful to collate relevant information about 
the forum in one place by developing documents such as a 
constitution, terms of reference and/or standing orders. These 
documents can be a good way of setting out key information for 
forum members about their responsibilities and the conduct of 
meetings, including details of:  

• Membership – including eligibility and tenure 
• Office bearers – including appointment and removal
• Convener and vice convener’s duties 
• Administrative support 
• Meetings/Annual General Meeting – including conduct of 

meetings/business
• Non-attendance at meetings 
• Motions and amendments 
• Voting
• Committees/sub-committees/working groups 
• Agendas and minutes 
• Rescission of previous resolutions (procedure to reverse a previous 

decision) 
• Alterations to the constitution and powers to make or amend rules 
• Geographical boundary

 TOP TIP
Collate useful information about the forum in one place for 
members by developing documents such as a terms of reference 
and/or standing orders. 

P
age 32



PAGE 28

3.3 Developing a work plan 
The forum might find it beneficial to develop a work plan setting 
out the activities that it will undertake in the coming year, or over 
a longer time period. This can support the forum to agree what 
actions it will take and what types of issues it will explore, as well as 
to track progress and consider any related communications with 
the board. 

As a starting point the work plan should include details of the 
ongoing evidence gathering activities of the forum, and details 
of when it will review the board’s annual functions reports and 
statement of licensing policy. Other activities may be more issue-
specific or reactive in nature depending on what comes to the 
forum’s attention. Once the work plan has been developed it 
should then be a ‘living document’ which is revisited and updated 
by the forum on a regular basis. An example of a work plan is 
provided on page 29, drawing on some of the examples of activities 
contained in this guide. 

 TOP TIP
Develop a work plan setting out the activities that the forum will 
undertake, and use it to track progress and consider any related 
communications with the board.  Once the work  

plan has been 
developed it should then 

be a ‘living document’  
which is revisited and  
updated by the forum  
on a regular basis. 

P
age 33



PAGE 29

Example: Forum Work Plan

TASK TIMESCALE UPDATE/OUTCOME COMMUNICATION WITH BOARD 

ACTIVITY: Collect data and intelligence relevant to the licensing objectives

Request quarterly reports from 
relevant statutory bodies.

January – 
ongoing 

Requests were issued in January. Reports are now 
being received from Police, ADP/NHS and Social 
Work on a quarterly basis. 

The forum agreed to write to the board regarding 
increasing incidents of alcohol-related crime in 
the city centre, along with recommendations to 
address this. Discussions are ongoing. 

Collate information from refusals 
books/incident books. 

May-
August 

LSO has agreed that Licensing Standards will 
contact city centre premises to request access to 
documentation. 

The forum will advise the board about days and 
times when problems are more likely to occur, and 
recommend control measures. 

Request reports from the licensing 
board about the numbers/types 
of occasional licences being 
issued in the summer months. 

May – 
August 

Request was made to the board. The board has 
advised it will provide a report to the forum in 
August. 

Request issued, currently awaiting board’s report.

ACTIVITY: Find out from communities what are their areas of concern

Invite Community Council 
Members to attend the forum. 

January Community Councils were contacted in January. Three 
Community Councillors now attend the forum. 

N/A 

Host open community 
consultation event. 

May A venue has been identified and date set. Posters 
advertising the event have been placed in community 
venues. 15 participants have so far registered to attend. 

An event summary report will be provided to the 
board. 

ACTIVITY: Review Annual Functions Report

Hold a dedicated forum meeting 
to discuss report. 

November Forum meeting is scheduled for November. A copy 
of the report will be provided to all members in 
advance of the meeting. 

Report to be included as an agenda item for 
discussion at board and forum meeting.  
Forum will make recommendations regarding the 
content/format of report, and any matters arising. 

ACTIVITY: Collect feedback on Forum membership and meetings.

Conduct post-meeting 
questionnaires. 

Jan – 
ongoing 

Post-meeting questionnaires are now completed 
each quarter. 

N/A 

Include the functioning and 
membership of the forum as an 
agenda item. 

September The September forum meeting will include this agenda 
item. Forum members have been asked to consider in 
advance any key issues they want to discuss.

N/A 

P
age 34



PAGE 30

3.4 Achieving a culture of 
participation

In order to achieve a culture of participation, it is vital that forum 
meetings are managed in an effective way. All members should 
feel comfortable and able to be involved in discussions, and trust 
that their contributions will be valued. Meetings should be focused 
and conducive to generating ideas and effective decision making. 
The key factors are:

3.4.1 Preparation 

Opportunities should be offered for all the members to raise items 
for discussion. If suggestions cannot find space on formal agendas, 
other ways may be found to deal with them. This will foster a sense 
of ownership of the business to be handled. Agendas should not be 
over-loaded to ensure that the volume of business is realistic and 
achievable. Attention should also be paid to the order of business, 
so that the most important items can definitely be concluded. 
Agendas and papers should be circulated at least a week in 
advance of meetings. 

3.4.2 Management of business 

The Chair/Convenor has perhaps the single most important role 
to play in ensuring that the forum meetings run smoothly. To assist 
the Chair to undertake their role effectively, it is important all forum 
members give the role appropriate respect and support.

In essence, the Chair’s job is to make sure that all of the items on 
the meeting agenda are dealt with on time. In practice, this usually 
means that the Chair will have to make judgements about how 
much time to allocate to each item. It also means that they may 
occasionally have to bring speakers back to the agenda and 
encourage people to make their contributions brief and to the point. 

The Chair must be mindful of time and regulate discussion so as to 
make sure that meetings get through their agendas. Care needs to 
be taken that discussions reach clear conclusions and/or stipulate 
clear actions to be taken, specifying who is responsible for taking 
matters forward. There should be regular reporting back about steps 
taken as a result of previous discussions and what the outcome was. It 
is important to guard against unrealistic expectations.

3.4.3 Exploring ideas and group decision making 

Forum members will inevitably be presented with a large variety 
of issues and problems. Some may affect a single group of 
stakeholders, others the entire community and beyond. The forum 
must try its best to make a balanced decision on what issues it will 
explore and how they can be tackled. 

As the performance of the forum involves taking into account the 
opinions of every member, being able to come to a decision as 
efficiently as possible is important for the effective functioning of the 
group. However, group decision making is not always easy. Making 
decisions can sometimes be challenging for forums as members 
come with different perspectives and have their own views and 
values. Forums also risk making ineffective decisions if they have 
incomplete information. 

P
age 35



PAGE 31

Below is an example of some key steps to help ensure effective 
decision making. These steps can provide a structure for the 
forum to choose an appropriate course of action or response to 
an issue. They can also be used to help deal with any problems or 
interpersonal conflicts that may arise within the group. 

1  Identify the decision to be made. Before beginning to gather 
information and list alternatives, it is important for the forum 
to understand exactly what it is you are trying to decide so 
you have a focus for your discussions. Be clear about what it 
is you need to decide, and consider if there are any conflicts 
affecting the forum’s effectiveness. 

2  Analyse the issue under discussion. Once you have defined 
your aim (i.e., the decision to be made or the problem to 
be overcome), examine the information and resources that 
you already have, and identify what else you may need. 
Ask: What is causing the problem? Who does it affect? What 
is wrong with the current situation? Find out the key points 
and then find out what local people feel about it. This may 
include seeking views of wider stakeholders/community 
than just forum membership, or utilising the knowledge and 
experience of the forum membership to gather evidence.

3  Establish criteria. Identify the criteria or conditions that 
would enable the forum to measure the success of a chosen 
course of action or solution. You may want to consider what 
criteria are the most important (for example, some issues 
may not be fully resolved). Ask: What would make a solution/
decision successful? What issues need to be dealt with by the 
solution? Are some criteria more necessary than others?

Example: Decision making: Preventing Crime and Disorder 

1   Identify the decision to be made

The Police have raised concerns with the forum about increases in alcohol-
related crime linked to licensed premises in the City Centre. The forum wants 
to explore why this might be occurring and what could be done in response. 

2   Analyse the issue under discussion

The forum identifies that it has limited information about alcohol-related 
crime in the City Centre, and so decides to collect more details about the 
incidents that are occurring. It contacts licensed premises in the area who 
advise that there are issues with people ‘pre-loading’ i.e. drinking at home 
before going out. Customers are not going to licensed premises until late 
and they’re frequently drunk before they get there. Sometimes this leads 
to groups of drunken people on the streets who are not admitted to the 
premises. The Police also inform the forum that they have attended at reports 
of drunkenness and fights in the area related to particular events e.g. football 
matches. The forum also asks local residents for their views, who comment 
that there appears to be a lack of late-night transport to enable people to 
get home, and that taxi ranks are not very well controlled.

3   Establish criteria

The forum identifies a number of key issues that require to be addressed: 

• ‘Pre-loading’ and groups of drunken people congregating on the streets 
who are not admitted to licensed premises.

• Disorder linked to particular events – e.g. football matches.
• A lack of public transport to enable people to get home. 

The forum decides it wants to make recommendations to the board about 
how to respond to these issues. It determines that while the board may not 
be able to resolve all of the problems identified, if the recommended actions 
are implemented then it should result in a reduction in the number of alcohol-
related crimes occurring in the area. 

P
age 36



PAGE 32

4  Brainstorm potential solutions (see page 33). Using the 
information collected, brainstorm for potential solutions to 
the problem or decision identified. This involves collecting 
as many ideas as possible. At this stage, ideas should not 
be criticised or evaluated. Ask: What are some possible 
solutions that would meet most of our established criteria? 
Are there any options that we may have overlooked? 

5  Evaluate options and select the best one. Once you have 
a list of potential solutions, you can evaluate them for the 
best option according to the criteria identified in step 3. You 
may be able to combine ideas to create a solution. Ideally, 
everyone would agree with the solution (a consensus), but 
it’s possible that they won’t. In this case, you will need to use 
a different decision-making method. For most forums this 
will be a decision by majority, where they hold a vote and 
the majority wins. When evaluating options, ask: What are 
the pros/cons for each option? Which option is the most 
realistic to accomplish for now? Which option is the most 
likely to solve the problem for the long-term?

6  Implement the solution. This involves identifying what has to 
happen to implement the decision, as well as the potential 
obstacles, then taking action. Decide: What should be 
done? How? When? By whom? In what order?

7  Monitor and evaluate the outcome. Based on the criteria 
identified in step 3, evaluate whether the decision was 
successful. If not, revisit step 4 to evaluate the other options 
or generate new ones.

4   Brainstorm potential solutions

The forum brainstorms potential solutions to the problems identified: 
• Recommend that the board puts a curfew in place which requires 

premises to refuse entry to new customers after a certain time.
• Recommend that the board encourages premises in the area to join the local 

Radiolink Scheme. This would allow premises to use radios to communicate 
amongst themselves and monitor anyone acting suspiciously. A CCTV control 
room, directly linked to the Police, would also monitor the radios. 

• Suggest that the board encourages premises to keep a Refusals Book and 
/or incident log. 

• Recommend that the policy is used to reinforce that there’s a responsibility 
for the licensed trade to challenge drunkenness at the point of service 
and throughout the premises. 

• Recommend that the board creates a condition that CCTV images 
should be retained for a specific period of time and that staff should be 
authorised to make these images readily available to the Police. 

• Recommend that the board encourages premises to conduct risk assessments, 
and that adequate transport must be considered for patrons attending events.

5   Evaluate options and select the best one

The forum reviews the options and decides to recommend that the board 
encourages premises to conduct risk assessments, and consider transport 
arrangements when large number of patrons are expected to attending 
events in the area. It also decides to recommend that the board encourages 
premises in the area to join the local Radiolink Scheme, and creates a new 
condition that CCTV images should be retained for a specific period of time.

6   Implement the solution

The forum writes a formal letter to the board setting out its recommendations, along 
with the evidence it has collected about the issues to be addressed. It also includes 
the topic as a regular agenda item for discussion at future forum meetings. 

7   Monitor and evaluate the outcome

The forum monitors whether its recommendations are implemented by the 
board, and the response of licensed premises in the area. The forum seeks 
reports from licensees, the Police and residents about the impact of the 
changes on reports of alcohol-related disorder and crime. 

P
age 37



PAGE 33

Brainstorming techniques

Brainwriting

The convener asks members to write down three ideas that relate 
to the topic of the brainstorm. About five minutes are allowed for 
this process. Then everyone passes their ideas to the person on their 
right, who will then build on these ideas, adding bullet points or 
suggestions. After another few minutes, everyone will pass the piece 
of paper again until it makes it all the way around the table. Once 
the ideas have made it around the circle, the group discusses them 
and decides which ideas are best to pursue.

Advantages: This technique can help prevent unbalanced 
conversation, or members converging on the first few ideas that are 
brought up in a brainstorm, which can stifle new ideas and prevent 
the forum from moving on. 

Rapid ideation

The convener asks members to write down as many ideas as 
possible in a set amount of time before any ideas are discussed or 
fleshed out. For this brainstorming technique, you will need to set 
(and stick to) a time constraint, otherwise you’ll risk losing the sense 
of urgency. 

Advantages: By allowing everyone to capture their ideas before the 
critique begins, rapid ideation avoids the premature shooting down 
of ideas. The time constraint can also prevent people from talking 
themselves out of an idea before they share it with the group.

Round-robin brainstorming

In a round-robin brainstorm, every member of the meeting 
participates, contributing one idea to the brainstorm. The first rule is 
that the group has to make it around the whole room at least once 
before anyone can contribute a second idea or discuss any of the 
ideas. The second rule is that no one can say, “My idea was already 
said.” You can come back to that person at the end when they’ve 
had more time to think. It’s also a good idea to give members some 
time to prepare ideas before the brainstorm meeting.

Advantages: This technique encourages everyone to participate 
and allows everyone to get all of their ideas out before moving on 
to the critique and discussion phase of the brainstorm.

 TOP TIP
Use brainstorming techniques to explore issues and generate ideas. 
This can help boost group morale by getting members to work toward 
a common goal in a creative and supportive setting. It can also 
be an effective way for forums to bring together the diverse ideas, 
strengths and perspectives of the various different forum members.

While forums will often use a vote to arrive at decisions where 
there is a lack of consensus, divergent views and any supporting 
evidence can be documented. This information can be helpful 
for licensing boards and other stakeholders, helping them to 
understand the different perspectives and potential approaches to 
an issue. It is also worth remembering that an issue does not need to 
have only two opposing sides – for example, could the forum be an 
independent mediator bringing opposing factions together? 

P
age 38



PAGE 34

When you have determined the official position of the forum on 
an issue, it should not normally be altered unless there is a material 
change in evidence or circumstances. Try not to let the forum 
become the venue for constant debate about the issue’s merits, or 
allow any single issue to dominate your meetings.

3.4.4 Evaluation and review 

It is important that all forum members are encouraged to provide 
feedback about the forum, about both the effectiveness of the 
meetings themselves and the overall performance of the forum. This 
can help open up conversations about things like the goals of the 
forum and areas of improvement. 

From time to time, the agenda should include a discussion that 
lets members air their views about how well things are progressing 
and whether they feel their involvement is worthwhile. Having this 
discussion regularly can be incredibly valuable because it can 
enable members to identify trends in how they are feeling about 
performance of the forum over time. 

Questions you could ask include: 

 How would you describe the forum’s current performance?
 How would you describe our progress toward our goals?
 How could we improve? 

Conducting post-meeting questionnaires can also be a good way 
to capture members’ views on the effectiveness of forum meetings, 
while the meeting is still fresh in their minds. To do this each member 
should complete a meeting evaluation questionnaire (that has 
been prepared in advance) at the end of the meeting. This can 
help members to identify any problems with the meetings or barriers 
to participation, as well as provide insights to help resolve any issues. 

Questions you could ask include: 

 Was the meeting a good use of time?
 Did you get what you intended to out of the meeting?
 How would you rate the meeting overall?
 What would make the next meeting better? 

Any feedback gathered should be compiled and shared with  
forum members for discussion. If people aren’t finding meetings 
helpful or have concerns about the performance of the forum, 
consider what you are going to do about it. By identifying areas 
for improvement, and acting on them, the forum will constantly be 
becoming more effective. 

 TOP TIP
Gather feedback from members about the forum to identify 
areas for improvement. By identifying areas for improvement, and 
acting on them, the forum will continually be becoming more 
effective. 

P
age 39



PAGE 35

3.5 Facilitating effective 
communication 

Good communications are essential for the successful operation of 
forums, both in relation to their own internal business and also their 
place in the opinions of the public. 

3.5.1 Communicating with the board 

Forums are independent from licensing boards but at the same 
time they share the common goal of having the local community’s 
best interests at the heart of decision making. For the forum 
to be effective, it is essential that it has ongoing and regular 
communication with the board. 

Practical arrangements in support of this should be agreed 
between the board and forum, and these arrangements should 
be regularly reviewed to ensure that they are meeting the needs of 
both parties. Examples of the types of communications the forum 
can provide to the board include:  

 Updates about the current and planned activities of the forum. 

 Requests for any relevant statistics, information and reports.

 Formal advice and recommendations.

 Suggestions as to the review of policy or procedural matters.

 Feedback on the licensing policy and annual functions reports 
(whether positive and/or constructive criticism). 

 Notification of local issues of concern, or areas of progress and 
positive developments. 

 Local Alcohol Profiles, collating local alcohol-related data.

 An invitation to attend or to speak to the forum.

There is a mandatory requirement for one formal meeting to take 
place between the board and the forum annually. However, this 
is the minimum required by law – there is nothing to prevent you 
from having more regular joint meetings to facilitate effective 
communication. 

Board members can also be invited to attend or to speak to 
the forum, for example to provide clarity on an issue or discuss 
suggestions put forward by the forum. In some areas, licensing 
board members also attend forum meetings as non-voting ‘ex 
officio’ members, to allow for contact between the forum and the 
board on a regular basis. However, to perform their role effectively, 
it is vital that forums retain their independence and can conduct 
business without licensing board members being present should 
they wish to do so. 

 TOP TIP
Agree practical arrangements for communication between the 
board and forum, and keep these arrangements under regular 
review. 

P
age 40



PAGE 36

3.5.2 Communicating with stakeholders  
and communities 

It is important that all the forum members take active steps to stay in touch 
with those whose interests they represent so they can feed their views into 
the forum. You should do this regularly to ensure you accurately represent 
their views and needs, rather than expressing your own personal opinions. 

For representatives from public agencies, such as the police or health, this 
will often include making their contact details and role on the forum clear 
to their colleagues, and participating at meetings which have relevance 
to alcohol within their respective organisations. Community representatives 
can discuss issues with local residents and community groups to clarify 
their views and assess the strength of their feelings on different topics. 
Similarly, trade representatives are able to liaise with local businesses and 
encourage them to bring issues to their attention so that they can take 
them up at forum meetings. 

Forums can also establish links with bodies responsible for developing local 
action plans to reduce alcohol-related harm, as well as organisations 
supporting the responsible retail of alcohol (e.g. Alcohol & Drug 
Partnerships, Community Planning Partnerships, Pubwatch/Shopwatch). 
Representatives from local agencies can be invited to present at forum 
meetings. It can also be helpful for forum members to attend meetings 
hosted by local agencies, or visit local services, to learn more about what 
is happening in the area. 

You should also consider community engagement. Forums are a way 
of connecting the decision makers (licensing boards) more closely with 
the community affected by their decisions, and so need to find effective 
ways of gathering and representing the views of the wider community. 
As a starting point, all information produced about the forum should 
be widely accessible. It should be easy for members of the public to 

inform the forum of issues which they would like to be discussed. Include 
main contact details in every communication that is sent by the forum, and 
always encourage feedback. Other ways that the forum could engage with 
local residents include:

• Holding surgeries/events for the community in public venues. These could 
be held within community premises, or local supermarkets, libraries etc. 

• Attending Community Council and other public meetings. This not only 
enables members to hear about local issues but also demonstrates to the 
community that they are being listened to by the forum, and that you will take 
action to address community concerns where appropriate on their behalf. 

• Using newsletters/public notices to share information and gather local views.
• Conducting surveys to ask resident questions about alcohol in their 

community. Surveys could be conducted online or in paper form, and 
could be promoted through local agencies such as housing associations, 
public bodies represented on the forum, via social media or distributed by 
the Local Authority. 

• Placing suggestion boxes in prominent local venues. Residents could be 
invited to make comments and/or suggestions on how to tackle a specific 
local alcohol related issue, or on alcohol and the community more generally. 

If the forum itself lacks the capacity or resources to carry out these  
activities, then organisations linked to the forum may be able to provide 
assistance or individual members could be tasked with some of it.

 TOP TIP
Always make it easy for the public to contact you. Actively seek 
opinions from the community and consider how to do this in a 
way that makes it as easy as possible for them to respond. 

P
age 41



PAGE 37

3.6 Forum to-do list 
Some examples of activities forums might choose to undertake are set out below. 

To-do 

Reviewing the operation of the Act in the forum’s area

 Review the licensing policy to identify how the board intends to promote the objectives.

 Use annual functions reports to review decisions of the board – is the policy being followed? 

 Gather evidence to measure the local impact of alcohol and the board’s decision making (e.g., published alcohol data, views of 
licensees, local services).

 Develop a local alcohol profile that pulls evidence together from multiple agencies (some forums develop these each year). 

Giving advice and making recommendations to the board

 Provide evidence to show what impact the licensing policy is having and recommend any actions/changes needed. 

 Make recommendations regarding the content of annual functions reports, and any issues arising from them.

 Make recommendations regarding licensed hours in the area. 

 Suggest good practice controls for licensed premises and occasional licences, such as sample conditions. 

 Monitor the use of occasional licences and make recommendations e.g., what sort of events it is not appropriate to license?

 Make recommendations to the board on improvements to processes that would increase accessibility/transparency for the public.

Developing the forum

 Develop a work plan setting out the activities that the forum will undertake. 

 Undertake a review of the membership to ensure it is broadly representative.

 Encourage/enhance membership e.g., contact youth organisations, promote forum on social networking sites.

 Publish meeting agendas and minutes on the forum’s website.

 Identify opportunities to develop relationships with fellow licensing stakeholders e.g., work shadowing, training, events. 

 Develop constitution, terms of reference and/or standing orders. 

 Gather feedback about the forum to identify areas for improvement.

 Agree practical arrangements for communication with the board. 

 Actively seek opinions from the community – find new ways for public to feed-in. 

P
age 42



166 Buchanan Street, Glasgow G1 2LW 

0141 572 6700 

enquiries@alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk 

www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk 

@alcoholfocus 

Alcohol Focus Scotland is a Registered Scottish Charity (SC009538)  
and a Company Limited by Guarantee (Scottish Company No.SC094096).

PAGE 38

P
age 43

mailto:enquiries@alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk
http://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Borders Alcohol & Drugs Partnership (ADP) 
 
Updated Guidance for Licensing Boards – Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 
section 142 Guidance for Licensing Boards – January 2023 
 
Situation 
Guidance for Licensing Boards (Boards) has been updated to assist Boards in 
carrying out their functions under the 2005 act. Appendix One.  
 
Background 
The licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 has been operational for over thirteen years 
and guidance has not been updated since then.  The intention going forward 
is that there will be more frequent updates to the guidance and the 
development of a stakeholder group to support this who will meet on biannual 
basis.    
 
Assessment 
The guidance includes best practice examples on how licensing Boards 
promote the five licensing objectives which Boards may wish to consider. 
 
Duties of Boards are also included within the guidance including: 
 

• Development of Statement of Licensing Policy 
• Overprovision Assessment 
• Public register with details of licences issued by the Board and 

decisions made 
• Development of an Annual Report which should be published no later 

than 3 months after end of financial year 
• Training of Board members and what this includes 
• Fees to be charged by the Board 
• Engagement Strategies including a joint meeting with the Local 

Licensing Forum each calendar year 
• Responsibility to Freedom of Information requests, responding to 

complaints and having due regard to Equality Act 2010. 

Each local authority must establish a local licensing Forum for the area which 
keeps under review the operation of the licensing system in their area and 
provide advice and guidance to the Licensing Board.  The guidance for forums 
includes roles and responsibilities, as well as core knowledge that each forum 
member should hold. Guidance also includes how forums can enhance and 
encourage membership.  
 
Recommendation  
Licensing Forum members ensure awareness of guidance published for 
Licensing Boards 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005
Section 142 Guidance for 
Licensing Boards

January 2023 Page 47



 

 

 
MINISTERIAL FOREWORD  
 

        
 
Under the terms of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 Ministers may issue guidance 
to Licensing Boards as to the exercise of their functions under the Act. I am pleased 
now to be able to issue updated guidance for Licensing Boards, which will also be of 
use to local authorities and other licensing stakeholders affected by the Act. 
 
Whilst section 142 of the Act requires Boards to have regard to the guidance I would 
like to stress that Boards will have the flexibility to operate and take decisions in light 
of their particular circumstances (although, in terms of section 142(4), a Board 
deciding not to follow the guidance must give Ministers notice of that decision 
together with a statement of the reasons for it). That is a fundamental principle of the 
Act and it is important to maintain it. The guidance does not seek to instruct boards 
exactly how to make the Act work. It is simply intended to assist boards as they carry 
out their responsibilities under the Act. Ministers wish boards and their clerks to be 
creative and innovative and to implement the Act in a way that best meets local 
needs and circumstances, which can be informed by direct engagement and 
dialogue with local licensing forums. Guidance that is too prescriptive would hinder 
that creativity. 
 
Finally I would like to make it clear that we remain open to suggestions about how 
the guidance might be revised in future. With that in mind my officials have already 
committed to on-gong engagement beyond publication of the updated guidance and 
we will therefore continue to engage with Boards, via SOLAR and other licensing 
stakeholders over the coming months, and beyond to ensure that any issues can be 
collectively considered and worked through.  In addition, we expect that new issues 
may arise in light of experience gained whilst Boards develop their Licensing Policy 
Statements in the months ahead and we will be happy to consider and discuss any 
matters of concern. Any revised or new guidance will, of course, have to be laid 
before the Parliament, as the 2005 Act requires. 
 

 
 
Elena Whitham MSP  
Minister for Community Safety 
 
 
  

Page 48



 

 

INDEX 
 
Chapter 1 Introduction 

 

Chapter 2 Licensing Objectives 

 

Chapter 3 Licensing Boards 

 

Chapter 4 Statements of Licensing Policy 

 

Chapter 5 Overprovision 

 

Chapter 6  Local Licensing Forums 

 

Chapter 7 Licensing Standards Officer 

 

Chapter 8 Premises Licences 

 

Chapter 9 Occasional Licences 

 

Chapter 10 Personal Licences 

 

Chapter 11 Control Orders 

 

Chapter 12 Sale and Supply of Alcohol to Children and Young Persons 

 

Chapter 13 Other Offences 

 

Chapter 14 Excluded and Exempt Premises 

 

Annex A Coronavirus Legislation 

 

Annex B Index of Defined Expressions  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005  
 
Statutory Guidance 
 
1.1 As part of the overarching national framework for the alcohol licensing regime 
introduced by the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 (“the 2005 Act”), Scottish Ministers 
issued statutory guidance to Licensing Boards.  The guidance is termed “statutory” 
as Scottish Ministers made use of the powers given to them under Section 142 of the 
2005 Act to issue guidance.  This guidance is frequently referred to as “Section 142 
guidance”. 
 
Section 142 of the Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a Licensing Board 
must have regard to Guidance issued by Ministers under that section. However, it is 
recognised that the Guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario that may 
arise. Licensing Boards may therefore depart from the Guidance if they have reason 
to do so. If Licensing Boards depart from the Guidance, section 142(4) of the Act 
requires that they must give the Scottish Ministers notice of the decision together 
with a statement of reasons for it. 

 
1.2 The purpose of the guidance is to assist Licensing Boards in carrying out their 
functions under the 2005 Act.  That having been said, it is hoped that the guidance 
will also be of interest to others involved in the alcohol licensing regime, such as new 
/ existing licence holders and licensing solicitors.  
 
1.3 This version of the statutory guidance (issued on 13 January 2023) replaces 
the version of the original statutory guidance.  

 
Approach Taken 

 
1.4 The 2005 Act has been operational for over thirteen years.  Licensing Boards 
have gained valuable experience and expertise in administering the alcohol regime 
as set out under the 2005 Act. 
 
1.5 Scottish Ministers recognise the independence of the Licensing Boards but 
also consider it is important for Licensing Boards to share and learn from each 
other’s experiences. 

 
1.6 The Scottish Government Licensing Team recognises the important work 
undertaken by the Society of Local Authority Lawyers and Administrators in Scotland 
(SOLAR) Licensing Group to promote inter authority communication, information 
sharing and best practice between members of the SOLAR Licensing sub group.  
The Licensing Team are grateful to both the Convenor and Depute Convenor for the 
opportunity to attend SOLAR Licensing sub group quarterly meetings. 

 
1.7 Throughout the guidance, where possible, examples of best practice have 
been set out, which it is hoped will be beneficial for all Licensing Boards to see and 
consider implementing in their licensing authority area as appropriate.  Whilst 
reference may be made to specific Licensing Boards, it is acknowledged that many 

Page 50



 

 

Licensing Boards may be undertaking similar work but it is impractical to list what 
each individual Licensing Board may / may not be doing. 

 
1.8 Going forward, the intention is to have more frequent updates to the guidance. 
This will be achieved through the creation of a small SG led stakeholder group that 
will meet twice a year to reflect legislative changes and other matters.  The Licensing 
Team will also look to Licensing Boards to provide examples of best practice, which 
can be incorporated into the guidance. 

 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 

 
1.9 A number of amendments have been made to the 2005 Act since it was 
commenced and since the issue of the last version of the statutory guidance.  Some 
of the amendments were fairly minor and some were more substantive.  The 
amendments made are referenced and discussed, as appropriate, within the 
individual chapters of the guidance. 
 
Licensing Objectives 
 
1.10 The guidance contains a separate chapter on the five Licensing Objectives 
which play a key role in the administration of the alcohol licensing regime.  Each of 
the Licensing Objectives is of equal importance. 
 
1.11 Just as legislative changes have been made to the 2005 Act since 
commencement, there have also been changes in the way that alcohol is both 
purchased and consumed. 

 
1.12 It is much more likely that individuals purchase alcohol in off sales premises 
to consume at home rather than purchase and drink in on sales premises.  
According to Monitoring and Evaluating Scotland's Alcohol Strategy (MESAS) 
monitoring report 2019, of the total alcohol sold in Scotland, 73% is now sold in the 
off trade.  Drinking at home means less control over how much is consumed and 
some harms are harder to detect e.g. domestic violence.  Many Licensing Boards 
recognise this shift and have reflected this when developing their licensing policy 
statements.  This is an approach the Scottish Government strongly supports, and 
would encourage all Licensing Boards to consider. 

 
1.13 Licensing Boards will be well acquainted with the range of reports and 
research material that has been published in relation to alcohol harm, not least the 
Scottish Government’s Alcohol Framework 2018 – Preventing Harm  report.  Scottish 
Ministers’ approach to reducing alcohol harm, aligned with that of the World Health 
Organisation (WHO), is reflected in the report. 

 
1.14 An example of statistical information can be found on the National Records of 
Scotland (NRS) website.  On 4 August 2022, NRS published annual figures (as at 
August 2021) relating to alcohol specific deaths in Scotland .  The figure as at 
August 2021 stands at 1,245 deaths, an increase of 4.62% on the August 2020 
figure of 1,190 (the corresponding figures for 2019 and 2018 being 1,020 and 1,136 
respectively).  The report also states “Alcohol-specific deaths have generally risen 

Page 51

https://www.healthscotland.scot/publications/mesas-monitoring-report-2019
https://www.healthscotland.scot/publications/mesas-monitoring-report-2019


 

 

since 2012. Before this point, deaths fells [sic] sharply from the peak of 1,417 in 
2006 to 968 in 2012”. 

 
1.15 Given the passage of time since the 2005 Act commenced, there is a wealth 
of information available to Licensing Board to help inform decision making/carrying 
out its functions e.g. documents they require to both consult on and publish including 
overprovision statements and licensing policy statements.  It is also important that 
Licensing Boards fully engage at appropriate times with key partners such as Local 
Licensing Forums, Community Planning Partnerships, Health Boards, Alcohol and 
Drug Partnerships and Police Scotland.  These local partners can often be a useful 
source of relevant and up to date information in their specific area of expertise. 

 
1.16 The Scottish Government acknowledges that many Licensing Boards do 
review relevant information and actively engage with key partners.  In addition, a 
number of Licensing Boards publish on their websites details containing the 
background information that has led them to adapt a particular policy.  The Scottish 
Government commends these approaches to all Licensing Boards. 

 
 
  

Page 52



 

 

2. LICENSING OBJECTIVES 
 
Introduction 
 
2.1 This chapter provides information on the five licensing objectives.  A key component 
of the licensing system set out in the 2005 Act is that it provides local flexibility to 
deal with local circumstances. However, to ensure consistency of approach, it is 
important that this local flexibility is balanced with a clear, effective and national 
framework within which Licensing Boards are required to operate. The 2005 Act 
established just such a national policy framework.  
 
2.2 The 2005 Act sets out 5 high level “licensing objectives” that represent the 
values on which the Scottish alcohol licensing system is based, the parameters 
against which elements of the system should be measured and the solid foundation 
which Licensing Boards must have regard to in carrying out their functions under the 
2005 Act. 
 
2.3 The licensing objectives are the engine that drives the 2005 Act. They are a 
key feature of Licensing Board policy statements, the basis for refusal of a premises 
or occasional licence, the attachment of conditions, sanctions on a personal licence 
holder or a competent ground for review of a premises licence. 
 
2.4 The five licensing objectives are listed below:  
 

• preventing crime and disorder; 

• securing public safety; 

• preventing public nuisance; 

• protecting and improving public health; and  

• protecting children and young persons from harm. 
 
2.5 Since the implementation of the 2005 Act, Licensing Boards have been able 
to develop their knowledge and understanding of how to best promote the 5 licensing 
objectives.  This will continue to be an ever evolving process, informed by local 
experience.  
 
2.6 Licensing Boards are also required by the 2005 Act to produce and publish 
Annual Function Reports which should be drafted with a focus on explaining the 
work of the Licensing Board over the relevant period, in order to provide 
transparency and accountability to the local community.  The reports are primarily 
about Licensing Boards showing how they adhere to the licensing policies and how 
they promote the licensing objectives, rather than providing a description of the 
Licensing Boards’ procedural approach. 
 
Licensing Objectives 
 
2.7 The guidance offered below for each objective is given in the order in which 
the objectives are listed in the 2005 Act.  Each objective is equally important i.e. no 
one licensing objective carries more weight than any other.  It is recognised that 
whilst the licensing objectives are standalone there will also be an element of 
interaction between them. 

Page 53



 

 

 
Preventing crime and disorder 
2.8 This objective relates to the prevention of crime and disorder as a result of the 
sale or supply of alcohol or irresponsible operation of licensed premises.  This 
covers behaviour such as: drunk and disorderly conduct; breach of the peace; 
assault and other crimes or offences which may occur within premises, outside 
premises, or in other settings which may have occurred as a result of the sale or 
supply of alcohol (see Chapters 11 and 13 for more information on control of order 
and other offences).   
 
2.9 One example of a Licensing Board promoting this licensing objective can be 
found within Edinburgh Licensing Board’s statement of licensing policy 2018 which 
states:  
 

• “The promotion of the licensing objective to prevent crime and disorder, 
places a responsibility on licence holders to become key partners in 
achieving this objective. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their 
operating plan that suitable and sufficient measures have been identified 
and will be implemented and maintained to reduce or prevent crime and 
disorder on and in the vicinity of their premises, relevant to the individual 
style and characteristics of their premises and the activities at those 
premises”.  

 
The statement of licensing policy goes on to provide clear, concise and helpful 
information as to the factors an applicant needs to address in their application/ 
operating plan to satisfy the Licensing Board that due consideration has been given 
by the applicant to this specific licensing objective. 
 
2.10 Alcohol related crime and disorder does not only occur within or immediately 
outside licensed premises. A significant proportion of alcohol is bought to be 
consumed at home or in other private dwellings.  Whilst alcohol licensing alone 
cannot directly address issues such as domestic violence, Licensing Boards may 
wish to consider supporting work in this regard through partnership working.  One 
example of a Licensing Board demonstrating a wider understanding of alcohol 
related crime can be found within West Lothian Licensing Board’s statement of 
licensing policy 2018 which states: 
 

• “The Board wishes to ensure that West Lothian is a safe place to work, live 
in and visit, and recognises that it is widely acknowledged that the 
consumption of alcohol can be a significant contributory factor in late night 
crime and disorder and in certain types of antisocial behaviour. Gender 
based violence issues also have strong associations with alcohol 
consumption (domestic abuse, sexual violence, human trafficking, 
commercial sexual exploitation and exploitation of vulnerable persons). 
While licensing alone cannot directly address these they are nonetheless 
significant issues within the crime and disorder, health, community safety 
and child protection agendas. The Board, in partnership with Police 
Scotland and other local agencies, is committed to playing its part in 
helping to reduce alcohol related crime and disorder and antisocial 
behaviour problems.  

Page 54



 

 

• “The Board recognises that licensing is not the primary mechanism for the 
control of criminal behaviour, public nuisance and antisocial behaviour 
once individuals have left licensed premises. Nevertheless the Board 
considers that licensing plays a key role in both preventing and controlling 
alcohol related crime and disorder and antisocial behaviour through the 
promotion of the licensing objectives and the monitoring of licensed 
premises.” 

 
Securing public safety 
2.11 This objective links to a duty placed on licence holders to ensure that the 
public are kept safe in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol or operation of 
licensed premises.  
 
2.12 The public in this context relates to a wide definition which includes 
customers on the premises, the premises’ staff and passers-by or persons in the 
vicinity of a licensed premises.  For example, The Highland Licensing Board 
Statement of licensing policy states at Appendix 8: 
 

• “All alcoholic and non-alcoholic drinks shall only be sold and served in 
cans or in plastic or polycarbonate containers. (This condition is likely to 
be applied at all large-scale public events such as music festivals, 
Highland Games and large agricultural shows, but may also be applied to 
other occasional licences where considered appropriate in the interest of 
public safety)” 

 
Preventing public nuisance 
2.13 Whilst the operation of a licensed premise does not of itself inherently create 
public nuisance, the 2005 Act recognises that nuisance from a licensed premise can 
be a concern for local residents and communities and this objective therefore seeks 
to provide comfort that nuisance (e.g. noise, littering) and anti-social behaviour can 
be addressed where relevant.  It is likely that the Police will be involved as the first 
responder to issues of public nuisance and anti-social behaviour.  
 
2.14 It should be noted that not all noise emanating from a licenced premise 
should be treated as a public nuisance for the purposes of this licensing objective.  
For example, nuisance caused to local residents from a noisy extractor fan or 
ventilation system should properly dealt with under a different regulatory regime.  
 
2.15 Fife Licensing Board’s statement of licensing policy sets out the steps one 
Licensing Board is taking to promote this licensing objective:  
 

• stipulating shorter hours when considering a premises licence application 
if it considers this to be appropriate, depending on where the premises are 
situated or the likelihood of the situation or use of the premises 
contributing to anti-social behaviour.   

 

• clearly setting out licence holders’ responsibilities with regard to: smoking 
in public places (making a cross reference to the “protecting and improving 
public health” and “protecting children from harm” licensing objectives); 

Page 55



 

 

waste generated in or by the premises being disposed of safely; and the 
provision of outdoor seating. 

 

• helpful examples of control measures are given to assist applicants who 
may need to take account of such matters when preparing and carrying 
out the activities in their Operating Plan. Applicants are also reminded of 
the need to consult with various named bodies prior to holding any outdoor 
musical events or using amplified equipment.  

 
Protecting and improving public health 
2.16 This licensing objective prompts those involved in the alcohol licensing 
regime to consider the impact of the sale and consumption of alcohol on health 
within the legislative framework provided by the 2005 Act.  This Licensing objective, 
probably more so than the others, provides Licensing Boards with the opportunity to 
take a more strategic approach to licensing in their area, and set out their vision for 
their licensing area through engagement with the local community.   
 
2.17 In this way this licensing objective encourages Licensing Boards to consider 
the cumulative effect of licensed premises on alcohol-related harm, within their 
licensing area, rather than the actions of any individual premises.  Collecting harm 
data for localities will build a picture of the health and wellbeing of the people in the 
locality, and doing so on a consistent basis over time means the long term health 
and wellbeing of a locality can be monitored and improvements made. Local 
Licensing Forums are well placed to assist Licensing Boards in this task. 
 
2.18 City of Glasgow Licensing Board is an example of one of a number of 
Licensing Boards which have adopted an approach of looking at alcohol and health 
issues at their local authority area level, and then made a policy that seeks to 
promote the public health objective.  City of Glasgow’s Licensing Board’s statement 
of licensing policy sets out its approach to this matter: 
 

• “…..the Licensing Board was particularly concerned by the number of 
areas in the city which suffer from high levels of alcohol related emergency 
hospital admissions and alcohol related deaths, in many cases well above 
the average for the country as a whole……. it was also evident that in 
some areas there are very few licensed premises and therefore identifying 
them as an overprovision locality in terms of the number and capacity of 
licensed premises would not be appropriate.  

 

• “However, overprovision is only one ground for refusal, and the Licensing 
Board believes that in terms of the alcohol related health data it has 
considered, it is important to clearly set out its concern regarding the 
granting of an off-sales licence and the Licensing Objective of Protecting 
and Improving Public Health.  

 

• “While each application will be considered on its own merits, in the view of 
the Board where there is evidence that the locality in which the applicant 
premises are situated suffers from higher than the national average levels 
of alcohol related health harms, …..the Licensing Board will carefully 

Page 56



 

 

consider whether the granting of such a licence would be inconsistent with 
the Licensing Objective of Protecting and Improving Public Health”.  

 
Protecting children and young persons from harm 
2.19 The Air Weapons and Licensing Act 2015 amended the 2005 Act to broaden 
out this objective  - from ”protecting children from harm”  - to “protecting children and 
young persons from harm”. The 2005 Act provides that “a child” means a person 
under the age of 16 and “a young person” means a person aged 16 or 17. Young 
people are particularly vulnerable to the effects of alcohol, whether they are drinking 
themselves or being affected by other people drinking in their lives.  Broadening out 
this objective gives Licensing Boards greater scope to protect young persons. 
 
2.20 In a wider sense, the presence of this objective underlines that the 
responsible operation of licenced premises is not simply about avoiding the 
commission of criminal offences but in ensuring that the environment or atmosphere 
of a premise where children or young people are to be admitted is a sensible, non-
threatening one where children and young persons can be in the company of adults 
who are consuming alcohol. 
 
2.21 For example, in the foreword to its 2018 statement of licensing policy South 
Ayrshire Licensing Board commented: 
 

• “The Board wished to strike a balance, in support of our very important 
objective of protecting children and young persons from harm, by 
suggesting that moderate on-premises consumption of alcohol in a well-
run and supervised family friendly environment is better able to protect our 
young people than any provisions we can make to discourage families 
consuming excessive alcohol in their homes.” 

 
2.22 Dundee Licensing Board, is one of a number of Licensing Boards which 
clearly state in its statement of licensing policy that:  
 

• “As a general rule, children and young persons under the age of 18 will 
only be permitted into licensed premises which are considered to be 
restaurants or into other licensed premises where the primary purpose of 
allowing them access is to consume a meal or to attend a pre-booked and 
ticketed function” 

 
2.23 North Ayrshire Licensing Board is one of a number of Licensing Boards which 
make specific reference in their statement of licensing policy to licensed premises 
requiring to provide the appropriate environment for children and young people. 
 

• “The Board has a long-standing interest in encouraging family-friendly 
Premises within North Ayrshire and wishes to continue to ensure that 
Premises which seek to accommodate under-18s are run in such a way 
that they are suitable. Premises which are small and enclosed or which 
have few facilities, are unlikely to be accepted as able to provide the 
appropriate environment” 

 
 

Page 57



 

 

2.24 Children and young people are particularly vulnerable to the effects of alcohol 
– the earlier a young person begins to drink alcohol, the more likely they are to drink 
in ways that can be risky later in life.  The 2005 Act creates a number of offences 
which relate to the sale or supply of alcohol to children and young persons (see 
Chapter 12 for more information).  
 
2.25 Licensing Boards will wish to be mindful that children and young people can 
be impacted by exposure to marketing and promotion of alcohol within licensed 
premises.  For example, Falkirk Licensing Board comments in its statement of 
licensing policy 2018 that: 
 

• “Where licensed premises intend to hold events where alcohol is not 
provided and those events are specifically targeted at children or young 
persons (for, example, underage discos or parent and toddler groups), 
consideration should be given to taking steps to avoid any obvious 
promotion of alcohol.” 

 
2.26 Whilst alcohol licensing alone cannot directly address issues such as child 
sexual exploitation, Licensing Boards may wish to consider supporting work in this 
regard through signposting licence holders to further information or through 
partnership working.  For example, the East Lothian Licensing Board statement of 
licensing policy 2018 signposts parties to “East Lothian & Midlothian Inter-Agency 
Guidance on Child Sexual Exploitation“.  
 
2.27 City of Glasgow Licensing Board’s statement of licensing policy 2018 outlines 
that as part of the consultation process on the draft statement of licensing policy, the 
Licensing Board met with representatives from Barnardo Scotland, to hear about 
their campaign to work with businesses in Glasgow, including licensed premises, to 
help them understand their role in preventing and tackling child sexual abuse.  In the 
finalised licensing statement, the Licensing Board encourages all licence holders and 
operators of licensed premises to carry out a risk assessment of their premises with 
regard to child sexual exploitation and use it to inform their written policies and 
procedures, as well as in staff training and refresher training and the Licensing Board 
states it will also consider making this a condition of a premises licence where it is 
considered necessary and appropriate to do so.  
 

Page 58



 

 

3. LICENSING BOARDS 
 
Introduction 
 
3.1 This Chapter provides information about a range of activities – including publication 
of reports, training and fee setting – Licensing Boards undertake under the 2005 Act. 
 
3.2 Licensing Boards were created by the Licensing (Scotland) Act 1976.  Section 
5 of the 2005 Act provides for the continuation of those Licensing Boards. This 
means that there is a Licensing Board for each local authority area or, where a local 
authority area has been divided into licensing divisions, a Licensing Board for each 
division.  

 
3.3 The 2005 Act also allows for a local authority area which was not previously 
divided into licensing divisions to subsequently make such a determination.  The 
existing Licensing Board is dissolved and a separate Licensing Board created for 
each of the divisions. In a similar vein any local authority can revoke a previous 
determination they have made to divide their area into licensing divisions.  However, 
if they decide to do so, there is to be a single Licensing Board for the whole of the 
local authority area. 

 
3.4 If a local authority decides to make any such determination or revocation they 
must notify the Scottish Ministers accordingly, no later than 7 days after doing so and 
must publicise it in a manner the local authority sees fit.  For example this may be 
achieved by making the information available on the local authority’s and Licensing 
Board’s websites. 

 
3.5 Licensing Boards are independent regulatory bodies governed by the 2005 
Act as amended and associated statutory instruments.  Local authorities elect 
members from amongst their councilors to form a Licensing Board.  However, a 
Licensing Board is a separate legal entity from the local authority within whose area 
it sits.  Licensing Boards are expected to operate in a transparent and fair way whilst 
being mindful of best practice when fulfilling their statutory duties and are 
accountable to their local communities. 

 
3.6 Schedule 1 of the 2005 Act sets out procedural matters relating to the 
membership and other administrative matters for Licensing Boards provided for by 
section 5 of the 2005 Act.  Whilst the Scottish Ministers have a number of powers 
under the 2005 Act to make subordinate legislation - to in effect put more flesh on 
the legislative framework set out in this piece of legislation – the 2005 Act is clear 
that the operation of the licensing system is the responsibility of the Licensing 
Boards.  Licensing Boards have wide discretion to determine appropriate licensing 
arrangements according to the needs and circumstances of their local communities 
and their own legal advice.  

 
 
Duties under the 2005 Act 

 
3.7 Licensing Boards are required by the 2005 Act to carry out a number of duties 
some of which are described below.  

Page 59



Statement of Licensing Policy 
3.8 The 2005 Act places a duty on Licensing Boards to publish what it refers to as 
a “statement of licensing policy” for their area for a three year period. This statement 
should, amongst other matters offer guidance and clarity on the policy on which a 
Licensing Board will base its decisions in implementing their functions under the 
2005 Act.  A Licensing Board may choose to publish a supplementary statement of 
licensing policy during the three year period that the statement of licensing policy 
applies. When preparing these documents a Licensing Board must consult with 
various people. Chapter 4 “Statement of Licensing Policy” covers this topic in more 
depth. 

Overprovision Assessment 
3.9 The 2005 Act placed a duty on Licensing Boards to make an assessment of 
overprovision and include a statement regarding this in their statement of licensing 
policy. This policy provides Licensing Boards with powers to consider the unique 
circumstances of their area and decide whether, based on local needs, it is 
appropriate to restrict access to alcohol through limits on new licences, licences of a 
particular type, or variations of existing licences. Where it is assessed that there is 
overprovision a rebuttable presumption is created against granting new licences 
although each case is judged on its own merits and there is always the possibility of 
exceptions.  The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended the 2005 
Act overprovision assessment provisions. Chapter 5 “The Overprovision 
Assessment” covers this in more depth.   

Public Register 
3.10 In addition to the Freedom of Information requirements (see paragraphs 3.21 
below) which Licensing Boards have to comply with, the 2005 Act places a duty on 
Licensing Boards to keep a licensing register containing the following information: 

• premises licences, personal licences and occasional licences issued by
the Licensing Board,

• the Licensing Board's decisions in relation to applications made to the
Licensing Board under the 2005 Act, and

• other decisions of the Licensing Board relating to the licences mentioned
in paragraph (a).

3.11 Licensing Boards are also required to make their licensing registers available 
for public inspection at all reasonable times. For example, the Dundee City Licensing 
website provides information on how to view public registers on-line and “in person”. 
Dundee City Licensing pages. 

Annual Reports 
3.12 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended the 2005 Act 
to require Licensing Boards to prepare and publish an annual functions report and an 
annual financial statement no later than three months after the end of the financial 
year (31 March). Provision is also made in the 2005 Act which allows a Licensing 
Board, if they consider it appropriate, to prepare and publish a combined function 
and financial report and such a report must be published not later than 3 months 
after the end of the financial year in question.   

Page 60

https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/licensing
https://www.dundeecity.gov.uk/licensing


 

 

Training of Licensing Board Members 
3.13 The 2005 Act provides that an ‘election of Licensing Board members’  must 
be carried out by the local authority at their first meeting after each ordinary election 
of the local authority.  All Licensing Board members must undertake the required 
training within 3 months of appointment. If the local authority area is divided into 
licensing divisions, each of the Licensing Boards for those divisions will have an 
‘election of members.’  Each time members are re-elected they must undergo the 
training again, within three months of their re-election.   
 
3.14 Members must provide evidence of having completed their training to the 
clerk to the Licensing Board within four months of the member’s election or re-
election.  Until this has been done, the member may not take part in Licensing Board 
proceedings.  If the member fails to undergo training within three months, or to 
submit evidence within four months, of election or re-election, the member ceases to 
hold office. 

 
3.15 Consideration should be given by the Licensing Board to co-ordinate 
accredited training for new and re-elected members along with other persons for 
which training is relevant, for example, members of the Local Licensing Forum and 
local Licensing Standards Officers.  This could assist with gaining an understanding 
of each of their respective roles and build good working relations.  Consideration 
could also be given to including information on relevant local issues alongside the 
training. 

 
3.16 As with Licensing Standards Officer training (see Chapter 7), Licensing Board 
members training has been reviewed and a revised training specification submitted 
to and accredited by Scottish Ministers.  As part of the training qualification project to 
refresh the Licensing Board Member training and the Licensing Standards Officer 
training both specifications were also considered by a steering group who consulted 
and agreed on the proposed content in particular, the Scottish Qualifications 
Authority who have had significant involvement in advising on and developing the 
training specification.  The following topics require to be covered under the 
accredited training: 

 
Introduction to alcohol licensing 

• what the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 covers  

• reason for the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 

• responsibility of Licensing Board members to regulate the sale of alcohol, 
and premises on which alcohol is sold 

 
The 5 licensing objectives 

• what the 5 licensing objectives are 

• how alcohol can impact on the 5 licensing objectives  
 
  

Page 61



 

 

The quasi-judicial process 

• role of the Licensing Board in upholding the 5 licensing objectives through 
policy and decision making 

• decision making 

• disqualification from the Licensing Board 
 
The creation, monitoring and review of appropriate licensing board policy 

• creation of a statement of licensing policy 

• relationship with other policies 

• duty of the Licensing Board to assess overprovision and make statements 
of licensing policy 

• monitoring of the statement of licensing policy 
 

Key role of others 

• role of the Clerk 

• role of the applicant and their agent 

• constitution and role of the Local Licensing Forum and the Licensing 
Board’s duty in relation to Local Licensing Forums 

• constitution and role of the Licensing Standards Officer in relation to the 
Licensing Board and local authority 

• role of the Health Board 

• role of the Police 

• overview of other statutory bodies involved in the licensing process 

• role of the public in licensing 
 
Premises and occasional licences 

• what is a premises licence 

• role of premises manager 

• objections 

• licence conditions 

• determination of a premises licence application 

• review/variation/transfer of a premises licence 

• provisional/temporary licence 

• occasional licences 
 
Personal licences 

• what a personal licence is 

• action against personal licence holders 
 
Licensed hours 

• what are Licensed hours 

• extensions to licensed hours 
 
Fees 
3.17 Fees to be charged by Licensing Boards in relation to various matters under 
the 2005 Act are set out in secondary legislation - The Licensing (Fees) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2007 as amended – by the Scottish Ministers.  These fees cover a 
range of activities including, amongst others, annual premises licence applications, 

Page 62



 

 

annual premises fees, occasional licence applications.  The regulations also enable 
Licensing Boards to set various fees in relation to more routine processes carried out 
under the 2005 Act.  
 
3.18 The fees regime is intended to reflect the Scottish Government‘s intention for 
the system to be self-funding i.e. to cover both direct and indirect costs incurred by 
Licensing Boards.  In other words, the money raised by fees should be broadly 
equivalent to the expenses incurred by the Licensing Board and the local authority 
for that area of the Licensing Board, in administering the licensing regime during that 
period.  

 
Engagement Strategies 
3.19 Licensing Boards should have effective engagement strategies in place to 
enable them to engage with and seek the views of their local community. In the case 
of Local Licensing Forums (see Chapter 6) who play a significant role in reviewing 
the operation of the licensing system in their locality, the 2005 Act requires each 
Licensing Board  to hold, at least once in each calendar year, a joint meeting with the 
Local Licensing Forum for its area. 
 
Complaints 
3.20 Any complaint about a Licensing Board should be made to the Licensing 
Board itself in the first instance. If this does not resolve the matter, then a complaint 
can be made to the relevant local authority.  Local authority websites provide 
information about their own complaints procedure. If after going through the local 
authority complaints procedure the matter remains unresolved then the final stage 
for complaints about public organisations is the Scottish Public Services 
Ombudsman. The Ombudsman’s website sets out its complaints procedure. 
 
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 
3.21 Licensing Boards are public authorities and as such are subject to the 
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 which requires them to publish 
information as well as respond to requests.  Information is published under the 
publication scheme duty. All Scottish public authorities have adopted the Scottish 
Information Commissioner’s Model Publication Scheme as the basis for deciding 
what information they proactively publish. The Model Publication Scheme 
(itspublicknowledge.info) for Scottish Public Authorities was updated in March 2021. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty – Equality Act 2010 
3.22 The public sector equality duty in section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010 
requires public authorities (including Licensing Boards) to have due regard, when 
exercising their functions, to the need to:   
 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act; 

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 

Page 63

https://www.spso.org.uk/
https://www.spso.org.uk/
https://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ScottishPublicAuthorities/PublicationSchemes/TheModelPublicationScheme.aspx
https://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ScottishPublicAuthorities/PublicationSchemes/TheModelPublicationScheme.aspx


 

 

3.23 It is supported by the specific duties contained in The Equality Act 2010 
(Specific Duties) Scotland Regulations 2012 (SSI 2012 No.162) as amended. The 
purpose of the Regulations is to place specific duties on some of these authorities 
(including Licensing Boards) to enable them to better perform their public sector 
equality duty.  
 
3.24 To support Scottish public authorities in meeting their equality duties, the 
Equality and Human rights Commission has produced technical and non-statutory 
guidance. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en


 

 

4. STATEMENTS OF LICENSING POLICY 
 
Introduction 
 
4.1 This Chapter provides information on the development and preparation of 
statements of licensing policy (referred to in the 2005 Act as a ‘statement of licensing 
policy’).  Each Licensing Board is required by section 6 of the 2005 Act to publish a 
statement of licensing policy before the beginning of each licensing policy period. 
Whilst the 2005 Act allows Licensing Boards to delegate certain functions, they 
cannot delegate responsibility for determining their licensing/supplementary 
statement of licensing policies. 
 
4.2 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended the 2005 Act 
in relation to licensing policy periods.  A statement of licensing policy will generally 
have effect from 18 months after a local authority election (which occur, at least, 
every five years) until 18 months after the next local authority election.  For example 
following local authority elections in May 2017, Licensing Boards had to have agreed 
and published a statement of licensing policy by November 2018 which will cover the 
period to November 2023 (assuming local authority elections in May 2022).  

 
4.3 Linking the statement of licensing policies to the local authority elections 
enables newly appointed Licensing Board members to use the statement of licensing 
policy inherited  from their predecessor Licensing Board during the interim period i.e. 
up to 18 months post the local authority election. This allows the Licensing Board to 
take stock following an election, take the views of others into consideration, gather 
evidence and set policy statements that reflect their views and aspirations whilst 
being mindful of the need to promote the five licensing objectives and to be 
consistent with the provisions of the 2005 Act.   

 
4.4 A Licensing Board may also issue supplementary statement of licensing 
policies which will be with respect to the exercise of their functions during the 
remainder of that licensing policy period or until it is superseded by another 
supplementary statement of licensing policy or new statement of licensing policy.  
For example North Lanarkshire Licensing Board’s statement of licensing policy in its 
preamble section states: “This policy will be applied during the period until 18 months 
after the next ordinary local government elections; it will be kept under review and 
revised, if appropriate, by the issue of supplementary statements, during this period”. 

 
4.5 The statement of licensing policy must be published before the beginning of 
the licensing policy period.  Once published, Licensing Boards must make copies of 
a licensing and any supplementary statement of licensing policy for public inspection 
free of charge and publicise this fact.  It is recommended that licensing and 
supplementary statement of licensing policies are made available on the Licensing 
Board website and/or the alcohol licensing section of the relevant local authority 
website.   

 
4.6 The statement of licensing policy is an important part of an assessment of the 
wider considerations at play within the Licensing Board area and should set out a 
general approach to the making of licensing decisions, but must not ignore, or be 
inconsistent with, provisions in the 2005 Act.  However, it must also not simply be a 

Page 65



 

 

repeat of what is set out in legislation or statutory guidance.   It should provide a 
clear indication to the local community as to the Licensing Board’s evidenced based 
policy and should seek to promote the licensing objectives (see Chapter 2 for more 
about the licensing objectives) set out in the 2005 Act.  It is important that statement 
of licensing policies should be written in terms that can be easily understood by the 
local community as consultation with the local community (including Local Licensing 
Forums), is a key part of providing feedback to Licensing Boards.   

 
What should, may and should not be included in a statement of licensing 
policy 

 
4.7 The statement of licensing policy should include: 
 

• A clear indication of the Licensing Board’s policy on the granting of 
licensed hours generally, and where different policies may apply in 
different localities according to local circumstances; 

 

• A statement of their policy on overprovision (see Chapter 5  for more about 
the overprovision assessment) of licensed premises or particular types of 
premises and which localities (if appropriate) have (1) been determined to 
be overprovided for by the Licensing Board, or (2) are approaching 
overprovision, including the evidence upon which the Licensing Board 
relied and the material considerations taken into account; 

 

• A note which states that where an application is made for the confirmation 
of a provisional premises licence (section 46 of the 2005 Act refers), that 
the Licensing Board may make a variation to the conditions for the 
purposes of “ensuring consistency with any statement of licensing policy 
since the licence was issued”.   

 

• A general statement on how many Licensing Standards Officers the local 
authority employs, their role and remit, and how they can be contacted; 
and 

 

• A statement of the agreed procedures the Licensing Board has developed 
for handling applications, objections, representations, delegation of 
functions and review hearings etc. for premises and personal licences. 

 
Licensed hours 
4.8 In relation to licensed hours, the statement of licensing policy should: 
 

• State that licensed hours will be those agreed following the Licensing 
Board’s consideration of the operating plan and any mandatory and local 
licence conditions applied.  Particular attention should be drawn to those 
premises wishing to open after 1 am since additional mandatory licence 
conditions will apply (see Chapter 8 for more about Premises Licences).  It 
is important that in developing its policy on licensed hours, the Licensing 
Board must take account of the views of the Local Licensing Forum so that 
any policy published has the backing and confidence of the local 

Page 66



 

 

community.  Further to this, following a review, reducing licensed hours 
can be one of the sanctions applicable against a licence holder.  

 

• Provide a clear indication of the Licensing Board’s policy in relation to 
licensed hours in general and outline any specific areas of the policy which 
may differ from that general policy e.g. where different policies may apply 
in different localities according to local circumstances, if appropriate.  
Evidence for the policy approach should be included within the statement 
of licensing policy (this may be in an annex to the statement of licensing 
policy) in the interests of transparency and openness. 

 

• State that each application will be considered on its individual merits.  
However, it is important that the Licensing Board is alert to, and the 
statement of licensing policy recognises, the aggregate effect that a 
number of licensed premises may have on a community.  For example, 
consideration should be given as to ways in which large numbers of 
customers leaving premises simultaneously can be appropriately 
managed.  This might be necessary to reduce friction outside 
establishments, at taxi ranks and other transport sources, which can lead 
to disorder and disturbance.   
 

• Observe the presumption in section 64 of the 2005 Act against 24 hour 
opening in Scotland for on and off sales.  Licensing Boards are entitled to 
agree exceptions to that presumption but only if satisfied that there are 
exceptional circumstances justifying it.  Ministers are of the view that 
Licensing Boards should consider “exceptional circumstances” to cover 
social events such as one-off local or national festivals. 

 
4.9 A Licensing Board may extend the licensed hours in respect of the premises 
by such period as is specified in the extended hours application or such other period 
as the Licensing Board considers appropriate.  Irrespective of the time period for the 
extended hours requested by the applicant or such other period as the Licensing 
Board considers suitable, the time period for the operation of the extended hours 
must be a maximum of one month.  
 
4.10 In considering applications relating to licensed hours, Licensing Boards may 
wish to consider applications for up to 14 hours continuous trading as being 
reasonable but local circumstances and views of those represented by Local 
Licensing Forums should always be considered.  Any application for licensed hours 
for more than 14 hours should require further consideration of the effect of granting 
extra operating hours.  It is unlikely that “exceptional circumstances” would be 
justified in the case of premises where there were routine requests to sell alcohol for 
24 hour periods.   

 
4.11 Other considerations that may be included in the statement of licensing policy 
are: 
 

• A clear indication of how the Licensing Board will take into account other 
strategies when developing their policy statement, for example, 

Page 67



 

 

Community Planning Partnerships, Local Health Improvement Plan, 
Alcohol & Drug Partnership, local crime prevention. 

 

• Being clear that no statement of policy overrides the right of any person to 
make representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence 
where such provision has been made in the 2005 Act. 

 
Relationship with other strategies and regimes 
4.12 The alcohol licensing regime in Scotland does not exist in a vacuum and 
Licensing Boards should clearly explain how they will take into account other 
pertinent strategies and regimes when developing their statement of licensing policy.  
For example, the Western Isles Licensing Board statement of licensing policy 
comments that  “The Board will work and appoint a Board Member to work with the 
Outer Hebrides Alcohol and Drug Partnership and the Outer Hebrides Community 
Safety Partnership in the Western Isles; the importance of such co-operation is 
recognised as part of the wider alcohol agenda”. 
 
Planning  
4.13 A statement of licensing policy should indicate that planning, building control 
and licensing regimes have separate processes and applications which have to be 
considered on their merits under the relevant regime.  A good practice example is 
the City of Edinburgh’s statement of licensing policy where at Chapter 2 “Wider 
Context” it is stated that “in particular, the board’s licensing functions will be 
discharged separately from the Council’s functions as the local planning authority. 
The Board recognises that planning and licensing regimes are separate and that the 
processing of licensing applications should be an exercise distinct from the 
processing of planning applications. Notwithstanding that, consultations with the 
Council’s Planning service are carried out on all licensing applications to underpin 
the common approach referred to below. The Board as the licensing authority will not 
be bound by decisions made by the Council as the local planning authority. 
Applicants for licences will be reminded that planning permission may be required for 
certain uses and that planning consents may carry conditions.” 
 
Transport 
4.14 A statement of licensing policy should describe any arrangements between 
the police and Licensing Standards Officers for reporting views or concerns to the 
local authority transport committee (or other bodies with responsibility for transport in 
their area).  The police are best placed to advise on the need to disperse people 
from town and city centres quickly and safely to avoid high concentrations of people 
in particular vicinities which may lead to disorder, disturbance and pressures on 
public transport facilities.  The use of taxi contracts, taxi marshals are examples of 
ways in which large numbers of people can be safely dispersed from pubs and clubs. 
 
Tourism 
4.15 Statement of licensing policies should indicate that arrangements have been 
put in place for Licensing Board to receive, when appropriate, reports on the local 
tourist economies for their area to ensure these are reflected in their considerations. 
A good practice example can be found within Fife’s Licensing Board’s statement of 
licensing policy which makes reference to and agrees with views expressed by the 
Fife Tourism Partnership regarding the importance of tourism to Fife and supports 

Page 68



 

 

the creation of high quality facilities for tourists and a vibrant night time economy in 
the larger settlements in Fife. Fife’s statement of licensing policy also states that “the 
Board will seek reports from the tourism agencies on the local tourist economy to 
ensure that they are reflected in the Board’s considerations”. 
 
4.16 The statement of licensing policy should not include:  
 

• An intention to introduce (by means of the imposition of licence conditions) 
a prohibition on the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises to 
those over 18 but under 21, whether in relation to some or all premises in 
the Licensing Board’s area. However, this does not prevent a Licensing 
Board from imposing licence conditions restricting off-sales of alcohol to 
people under 21 on a case by case basis.   

 
Licensing policy and the licensing objectives 

 
4.17 As discussed above, when preparing a statement of licensing policy or a 
supplementary statement of licensing policy, a Licensing Board is required by the 
2005 Act to ensure that the policy stated in these statements seeks to promote the 5 
licensing objectives.  The 5 licensing objectives are (covered in more detail in 
Chapter 2): 
 

• Preventing crime and disorder; 

• Securing public safety; 

• Preventing public nuisance; 

• Protecting and improving public health; and 

• Protecting children and young persons from harm. 
 
4.18 Licensing Boards are required to have regard to these 5 objectives when 
carrying out their functions under the 2005 Act.  The 5 objectives carry equal weight 
and importance.  Inconsistency with one or more of the objectives could provide a 
basis for refusal of an application. 
 
4.19 A policy must also be consistent with the principles of what constitutes a 
lawful policy in general administrative law terms. Licensing clerks will be familiar with 
Calderwood v Renfrewshire Council (2004) Inner House of the Court of Session.    

 
4.20 The licensing policy must not be inconsistent with the licensing objectives. If 
the licensing objectives pull in one direction and policy in the opposite, then the 
objectives rule. If both tend to the same view then policy simply reflects the licensing 
objectives.  

 
4.21 Where an application comes before a Licensing Board which is contrary to 
the licensing policy, this does not necessarily mean that the application should be 
refused. It would be appropriate to refuse the application if it was inconsistent with 
the licensing objectives. Policy is an expression of how those objectives can be met. 
Inconsistency with policy can therefore be an important factor in deciding whether 
there is an inconsistency with the licensing objectives.  

 

Page 69



 

 

4.22 As licensing policy has a substantial role to play in promoting how the 
licensing objectives might be met, inconsistency with policy may be an indicator that 
the refusal of the application should follow. Equally, consistency with policy maybe 
an indicator that an application is consistent with the licensing objectives. The 
licensing policy is entitled to be given considerable weight. It is not merely a 
guideline.  It is for the Licensing Board to determine whether what is proposed is 
inconsistent with the policy and whether the grant of the application would impact 
upon the rationale for the policy. 

 
4.23 To assist Licensing Boards in their consideration of whether an application is 
consistent with their policy and the licensing objectives, Licensing Boards may wish 
to consider asking applicants to set out in their operating plan how they will address 
the licensing objectives and also to supply a written statement detailing how they will 
promote the licensing objectives.  A good practice example is Falkirk Licensing 
Board’s statement of licensing policy which says:  

 

• “While not a requirement of the Act, the Board expects applicants for new 
and provisional Premises Licences and transfers of Premises Licences to 
accompany their applications with a written statement tailored to their 
particular premises setting out how they intend to conform to the 5 
licensing objectives, paying particular attention to the locality in which the 
premises are situated and the activities to be carried out. The Board is of 
the opinion that a written statement demonstrates an active and thoughtful 
engagement with the licensing objectives”.   

 
4.24 Falkirk’s statement of licensing policy goes on to say that: “The Board expects 
that an occasional licence will be operated in such a manner as to be consistent with 
the five licensing objectives. To that end, the Board requires applicants for 
occasional licences to submit with their application a written statement explaining 
how they will promote the five licensing objectives.” To help applicants, Falkirk 
Licensing Board has attached a pro forma to the application form (available on the 
occasional licence page of Falkirk Council’s website) to be completed and the 
website also indicates that “if applicants need assistance then contact one of the 
Licensing Standards Officers to make an appointment”. 
 
Matters to consider when preparing a statement of licensing policy  
 
4.25 It is good practice when considering a new statement of licensing policy or 
supplementary statement of licensing policy to evaluate the impact the previous 
statement of licensing policy or supplementary statement of licensing policy.  The 
output from this evaluation exercise can help inform the development of the new 
statement of licensing policy or supplementary statement of licensing policy. The 
development of a new statement of licensing policy also provides a Licensing Board 
with the opportunity to consider and reflect on any emerging issues and whether this 
might result in the need to consider a change in policy.  
 
4.26 In the interests of openness and transparency Licensing Boards will wish to 
consider including some narrative in their statement of licensing policy (perhaps as 
an annex) to explain the evaluation process and how this fed into the development of 
a new statement of licensing policy.  

Page 70



 

 

 
4.27 The 2005 Act provides that, at the request of a Licensing Board, the Chief 
constable, the relevant health board or the relevant local authority must provide to 
the Licensing Board statistical or other information that it may reasonably require for 
the purpose of preparing a supplementary/statement of licensing policy.  Relevant 
information from these parties will help develop a solid evidence base on which the 
Licensing Board can build its licensing policy.  Licensing Boards may find it helpful to 
discuss and agree with these parties, in advance of the information being required, 
what the most useful categories of information might be and in what format the 
information should be presented.  This should ensure any potential difficulties are 
highlighted and resolved at an early stage.  

 
4.28 It is important that Licensing Boards consider and evaluate any evidence 
gathered to ensure there is a reliable and credible basis on which to develop their 
policy. Local Licensing Forums may be well placed to assist Licensing Boards with 
this matter. Licensing Boards should give appropriate weight to the views and 
responses obtained. 

 
4.29 After the initial evidence gathering process, it is good practice for Licensing 
Boards to publish their draft statement of licensing policy for comment.  For example 
Argyll and Bute Licensing Board carried out a 7 week consultation on a draft 
statement of licensing policy in early 2020. Argyll and Bute Licensing Board helpfully 
also provided a list of policy changes between the existing statement of licensing 
policy and the proposed new draft statement of licensing policy.  

 
4.30 Argyll and Bute Licensing Board also published a “You said, We did” 
document on the relevant local authority website. This provided information on the 
number of responses received and an outline of what the responses covered, with 
issues of particular note being highlighted. The document also advised the 
consultation feedback was considered by the Licensing Board at its June 2020 
meeting and changes were made to the licensing document prior to its finalisation 
and subsequent publication.  In cases where there may be substantial differences 
between the draft statement of licensing policy consulted on and the final statement 
of licensing policy which is published, then in the interests of openness and 
transparency, Licensing Boards may wish to reflect on the need to fully explain the 
decision making process which resulted in their arriving at the final statement of 
licensing policy.   

 
4.31 When preparing a licensing or a supplementary statement of licensing policy, 
a Licensing Board is required by the 2005 Act to consult— 

 

• the Local Licensing Forum for the Board's area, 

• if the membership of the Forum is not representative of the interests of all 
of the persons specified in paragraph 2(6) of schedule 2, such person or 
persons as appear to the Board to be representative of those interests of 
which the membership is not representative,  

• the relevant health board, and 

• such other persons as the Board thinks appropriate. 
 

Page 71



 

 

4.32 In short, a Licensing Board should consult its local community in its widest 
sense. For example, Aberdeen City Licensing Board’s convenor commented in her 
introduction to her Board’s 2018 Statement of licensing policy that:  
 

• “In order to create a policy that stakeholders could feel they had helped 
shape, the Board recognised that they would have to rewrite the Policy 
and not simply amend what had gone before. To that end, the Board 
carried out extensive consultation which included holding a Licensing 
Conference. The collaborative approach generated some very interesting 
feedback from the community and public-sector partners, residents and 
the trade which helped the Board to understand their needs and wishes.”  

 
Review of the statement of licensing policy 
 
4.33 In exercising their functions under the 2005 Act, a Licensing Board must have 
regard to the current statement of licensing policy and any relevant supplementary 
statement of licensing policy, published by the Licensing Board.  Licensing Boards 
must keep the effectiveness and rationale of the statement of licensing policy under 
review and make revisions as and when appropriate.   
 
4.34 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended the 2005 Act 
to place a duty on Licensing Boards to prepare and publish an annual report on the 
exercise of their functions no later than three months after the end of the financial 
year (i.e. year ending 31 March). This report should contain a statement explaining 
how the Board has had regard to the licensing objectives, their statement of licensing 
policy, and any supplementary statement of licensing policy in the exercise of their 
functions under the 2005 Act during the financial year.  

 
4.35 Being able to review the statement of licensing policy means that where a 
decision made by the Licensing Board, inadvertently, has an unintended 
consequence on the local community, there is a mechanism for the Licensing Board 
to review this decision.  Local Licensing Forums can be of particular assistance to 
Licensing Boards in terms of providing feedback on how a specific policy is 
impacting on the local community.   

 
Other considerations 

 
4.36 There are of course many other matters that Licensing Boards can include in 
their statement, for example, their policy on outdoor seating areas and the suitability 
of take-away premises for the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises.  
 
 
 

Page 72



 

 

5. OVERPROVISION 
 
Introduction 
 
5.1 This chapter provides information to assist Licensing Boards to make a pro-active 
assessment of the overprovision of licenced premises in their licensing authority 
area.  
 
5.2 Licensing Boards have two separate but directly linked responsibilities in 
relation to overprovision. Each Licensing Board is required to include a statement as 
to overprovision in its authority area within the Board’s statement of licensing policy 
(section 7 of the 2005 Act refers) and each Board also needs to consider 
overprovision when determining a premises licence or premises licence variation 
application (see chapter 8 Premises Licences).  

 
5.3 There have been a number of amendments made to section 7 since its 
commencement.  The Alcohol etc. (Scotland) Act 2010 and the Police and Fire 
Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 made changes to the to the list of persons a Licensing 
Board must consult when considering whether there is overprovision (as set out at 
section 7(1)) in any locality). The “relevant Health Board” was added to the list of 
consultees and a textual amendment was made to the reference to Chief constable. 

 
5.4 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 made a number of 
amendments to section 7.  Some were technical whilst others were more 
substantive. To assist Boards in considering the wider scope of the protecting and 
improving health licensing objective, section 7 was amended to enable Boards to 
consider the availability of alcohol across their whole geographic area.   Further 
amendments clarified that increased capacity can be considered separately from an 
increase in the number of licensed premises in terms of overprovision and that 
opening hours should also be considered.  

 
5.5 Currently, section 7 of the 2005 Act requires a Licensing Board to include in 
its statement of licensing policy, a statement as to the extent to which the Board 
considers there to be an overprovision of (a) licensed premises, or (b) licensed 
premises of a particular description, in any locality within the Board’s area, and in 
doing so, the Board may determine that the whole of the Board’s area is a locality. 

 
5.6 An overprovision assessment must be evidenced base.  It is a matter for each 
Licensing Board to determine what their overprovision policy will be and how the 
evidence it has ingathered will be interpreted and weighted. When undertaking this 
work Licensing Boards should be mindful of the five licensing objectives: preventing 
crime and disorder; securing public safety; preventing public nuisance; protecting 
and improving public health; and protecting children and young persons from harm.  
Licensing Boards Licensing Board should ensure the approach to ingathering, 
weighing and interpreting evidence, and consultation responses is robust, all of the 
relevant evidence before them is taken into account, and the rationale for 
regarding/disregarding that evidence in developing Licensing Policy Statements 
(LPS) is clearly set out.  

Page 73



 

 

5.7      It is also important that Licensing Boards consult widely on a draft 
overprovision assessment and carefully consider the views expressed by consultees 
prior to finalising an overprovision assessment for the Licensing Board area. 
 
Purpose of overprovision  

 
5.8 The requirement to produce an overprovision assessment, and note this in the 
statement of licensing policy, is designed to: 
 

• enable Licensing Boards to take account of changes since the publication 
of their previous statement of licensing policy and any subsequent 
supplementary statement of licensing policies which may have been 
issued. 
 

• improve public and trade confidence in the licensing system by setting out 
clearly the grounds on which overprovision should be determined.  
 

• recognise that halting the growth of licensed premises in localities is not 
intended to restrict trade but may be required to preserve public order, 
protect the amenity of local communities and mitigate the adverse health 
effects of increased alcohol consumption.  
 

• provide potential entrants to the market with a clear signal that they may 
incur abortive costs if they intend to apply for a licence in a locality which a 
Licensing Board has declared to have reached overprovision.  

 
Which licensed premises are to be included? 
 
5.9 Section 7 provides that premises which have only an occasional licence are to 
be left out of the assessment of overprovision. Additionally, section 125 of the 2005 
Act provides that section 7 does not apply “in relation to premises which are used 
wholly or mainly for the purposes of any club of such description as may be 
prescribed”.  Members clubs are a category of club which falls within Regulation 2 of 
the Licensing (Clubs) Scotland Regulations 2007 (2007/76). All other licensed 
premises should be included when considering whether there is overprovision of 
licenced premises generally or licensed premises of a particular description. 
 
5.10 Licensed premises of a particular description may be determined in terms of 
their style of operation.  For example Scottish Borders Licensing Board states in the 
overprovision section of its statement of licensing policy that: 
 

• “The number of late night hour entertainment premises (after 1am) within 
Scottish Boarders is currently four.  The Board is of the view that any 
increase beyond that number could be overprovision”  

 
Determining Localities 
 
5.11 It is for each Licensing Board to determine the localities within the Licensing 
Board’s area for the purposes of the 2005 Act.  This flexibility allows Licensing 
Boards to reflect the different circumstances in different geographical areas 

Page 74



 

 

throughout the country, for example, a locality in a rural area might be larger than a 
locality in an urban area.  As mentioned above, Licensing Boards can determine that 
the whole of the Licensing Board’s area is a single locality. 
 
5.12 The choice of locality must, however it is done, be rational, capable of 
justification and be consistent across the Licensing Board area.  It is expected that, 
in the interests of openness and transparency, Licensing Boards set out the reasons 
for their decision making in arriving at their locality choices (e.g. as part of the 
consultation on a Licensing Board’s draft overprovision assessment) . For example, 

 

• North Ayrshire Licensing Board’s statement of licensing policy states: 
“The Board's Overprovision Policy covers its whole area, although the 
Board has determined that there are 6 'Localities' in its area (coinciding 
with the 6 'Localities' used by the North Ayrshire Community Planning 
Partnership (CPP). 
 
“These areas contain a total of 38 Intermediate Zones (“IZs”).  IZs are the 
areas commonly used to gather a wide range of government statistics.” 
 

• West Dunbartonshire’s statement of licensing policy states: 
“In its assessment of overprovision, the West Dunbartonshire Licensing 
Board  
has continued its established approach of utilising the Scottish  
Neighbourhood Statistics intermediate data zone (IDZ) geographies as the 
localities for this purpose. “The West Dunbartonshire area can be broken 
up in to 18 distinct IDZ localities.” 

 
5.13 City of Glasgow Licensing Board demonstrated best practice in relation to 
gathering local views when consulting on proposed localities in relation to its 
overprovision assessment. The Licensing Board indicated, through its website, that it 
intended to undertake visits to the proposed overprovision localities to speak directly 
to local residents and owners and staff of licensed premises in these areas to hear 
views on the impact of higher concentrations of licensed premises and to gauge 
whether there is support at a local level for including the area as an overprovision 
locality in the finalised LPS. 
 
Matters to be considered in determining if there is overprovision 
 
5.14 In determining whether or not overprovision exists, section 7 provides for the 
matters a Licensing Board needs to consider: 
 

• must have regard to the number and capacity of licensed premises in the 
locality 

• must consult 
- the chief constable 
- the relevant health board 
- such persons as appear to the Board to be representative of the interests 
of (i) holders of premises licences in respect of premises within the locality,  
(ii) persons resident in the locality, and 
- such other persons as the Board thinks fit. 

Page 75



 

 

• may have regard to such other matters as the Board thinks fit including, in 
particular, the licensed hours of licensed premises in the locality. 

 
Number and capacity of licensed premises  
 
Number of licensed premises 
 
5.15 The number of licensed premises impacts on the availability of alcohol  and 
as many Licensing Boards recognise, the type of licensed premises is also of 
relevance.  For example, a large supermarket and a small corner shop will each 
count as one licensed premises. The amount of alcohol sold by each premise will be 
different and the potential harms associated with the amount of alcohol sold will also 
be substantially different.  A locality with only licensed restaurants is likely to sell less 
alcohol than a locality with only vertical drinking establishments.  The harms 
associated with licensed restaurants will be less than the harms associated with 
vertical drinking establishments. 
 
5.16 As discussed at Chapter 3 the 2005 Act places a duty on Licensing Boards to 
keep a licensing register and this can be used by Licensing Boards to determine the 
number of premises licensed for: 
 

• the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises;  

• the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises; and 

• the sale of alcohol both on and off the premises. 
 
Capacity of licensed premises 

 
5.17 In the context of the 2005 Act and as set out at section 147, capacity –  
 

• in relation to licensed premises (or any part of such premises) on which 
alcohol is sold for consumption on the premises (or, as the case may be, 
that part), the maximum number of customers which can be 
accommodated in the premises (or, as the case may be, that part) at any 
one time, and 
 

• in relation to licensed premises (or any part of such premises) on which 
alcohol is sold for consumption off the premises (or, as the case may be, 
that part), the amount of space in the premises (or, as the case may be, 
that part) given over to the display of alcohol for sale. 

 
On-sales 
5.18 Many Licensing Boards comment in their overprovision assessments that 
they seek input from their local authority Building Standards Officers regarding 
capacity matters. For calculating the capacity for on-sales, Licensing Boards may 
wish to have regard to the parts of the Technical Handbook  issued in support of the 
Buildings (Scotland) Regulations 2004 which relate to occupancy capacity and the 
number of licensed hours  the premises is open.  The Building Standards pages on 
the Scottish Government website Building standards - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) 
provides information on buildings regulations and the associated technical guidance.  
 

Page 76

https://www.gov.scot/policies/building-standards/


 

 

Off-sales 
5.19 For calculating the capacity for off-sales, Licensing Boards should have 
regard to the Premises License (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007 No. 252) and 
regulation 5 which makes provision as to the layout plan.  
 
5.20 In its statement of licensing policy, Stirling Licensing Board states: 
 

• “Assessing the capacity of licensed premises is important under the Act. 
This is, in part, due to the fact that capacity of premises will be taken into 
account in assessing overprovision.  
 

• “On sales 
The Board considers that it is very important for licence holders to have a 
sound knowledge of the safe capacity of their premises. Capacity for on 
sales premises should be presented to the Board in patron numbers. The 
capacity should be worked out using the formula used by Building 
Standards, this formula does not take into account the fixtures and fitting 
of the premises.  
 
“This is particularly so where the premises are large, or where they include 
entertainment such as live music, dances and discos. The Board expects, 
in respect of these types of premises, that there should be suitable 
capacity control measures in place. These may include stewarding, door 
number clickers or issuing of tickets.  
 

• “Off sales  
Again, the Board considers that it is very important for licence holders to 
have a sound knowledge of the capacity of their premises. Capacity for off 
sales premises should be presented to the Board in meters squared”. 

 
Consultation 
5.21 As set out at Chapter 4 statements of licensing policy, Licensing Boards are 
encouraged to consult widely within their respective areas on both their statement of 
licensing policy and it is equally import ant for Licensing Boards to consult widely on 
their overprovision assessment. Licensing Boards may wish to consider carrying out 
these two consultations simultaneously. For example, Edinburgh Licensing Board 
published 2 consultations and commented on their web page: 
 

• “The Edinburgh Licensing Board is consulting on the terms of its draft 
statement of licensing policy, having carried out an informal consultation 
earlier in the year. As part of this process, the Board is also consulting on 
its assessment of localities in the Board’s area which show characteristics 
of overprovision of licensed premises. These two consultations are being 
carried out in tandem. 

 

• “Details of the individual localities, and the basis upon which they’ve been 
considered, is set out in the supporting documentation provided with this 
consultation”.   

 

Page 77



 

 

5.22 Chapter 6 Local Licensing Forums (LLFs) sets out the important role a LLF 
has to play in the alcohol licensing regime.  In terms of other persons a Licensing 
Board may wish to consult, it is encouraging to note that LLFs and third sector 
organisations providing treatment services for alcohol harm within their locality, are 
as a matter of course being invited by many Licensing Boards to offer their views.  
This is an approach the Scottish Government strongly supports. 
 
5.23 For example in its statement of licensing policy under the heading of 
“Development of the Pro-Active Assessment of Overprovision”, Glasgow City 
Licensing Board comment: 
 

• “In particular, the Licensing Board had regard to a report from the Local 
Licensing Forum with evidence and recommendations as to localities 
where the Forum considered there to be overprovision of licensed 
premises or licensed premises of a particular description. A copy of the 
report approved by the Local Licensing Forum, together with the 
supporting  evidence gathered, is available at: 
https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/councillorsandcommittees/viewDoc.asp?c=P6
2AFQDN2U2UDNZ3DN 

 
5.24 As regards consultation on localities in relation to its overprovision 
assessment, Inverclyde Licensing Board commented in its statement of licensing 
policy:  
 

• “As the determination of “localities” is largely a matter for the Board, local 
knowledge plays a significant part in such determinations. The Board has 
had extensive consultations with Inverclyde Licensing Forum, who have in 
turn consulted with Community Councils, premises licence holders, the  
Inverclyde Alcohol and Drug Partnership, the NHS, Police Scotland, 
Inverclyde Community Health and Care Partnership and local residents”. 

 
5.25 In preparing their statement of licensing policy and overprovision assessment,  
Dumfries and Galloway Licensing Boards had 2 periods of consultation which 
included 2 public meetings and a Working Group was also set up  to discuss 
Overprovision. This Group met several times and comprised of the following 
members: Scottish Fire and Rescue Service; Police Scotland; Alcohol and Drug 
Partnership (NHS) and Dumfries and Galloway Council. 
 
Other matters 
5.26 A Licensing Board’s consideration of overprovision need not be confined to 
only considering numbers and capacity but could take account of other factors too. 
Licensing Boards have considerable discretion in this area. 
 
5.27 In considering the statutory definition of ‘capacity’, it is accepted that there are 
other ways of considering in a wider sense what the capacity of a premises is.  While 
the 2005 Act does not permit any alternative definition of capacity to be used, 
Licensing Boards are encouraged to consider under other matters whether, for 
example, a relevant factor to be considered alongside capacity of premises would be 
the ability for stock to be resupplied quickly.  In other words, a premises which was 
able to maintain large stock levels but only had a relatively small area for displaying 

Page 78

https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/councillorsandcommittees/viewDoc.asp?c=P62AFQDN2U2UDNZ3DN
https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/councillorsandcommittees/viewDoc.asp?c=P62AFQDN2U2UDNZ3DN


 

 

stock may then suggest a small capacity while actually they are capable of 
significant sales volumes.   

 
5.28 Other matters could be such things as inequalities; the proximity of specific 
types of premises such as facilities for vulnerable adults with problematic alcohol 
use; mental health services; hospitals; schools/nurseries; sports facilities; gambling 
facilities.  Other considerations could also include concerns regarding people visiting 
the locality from other areas. 

 
5.29 In particular, inequalities is an important consideration for Licensing Boards in 
relation to overprovision.  There is a stark inequalities gradient to alcohol harm and a 
growing awareness that the impact of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence is 
much greater for those experiencing high levels of deprivation.  For example, people 
living in our most deprived communities are over seven times more likely to die or 
are more than eight times more likely to be admitted to hospital due to alcohol use 
than those in our least deprived communities (Monitoring and Evaluating Scotland’s 
Alcohol Strategy: Monitoring Report 2019: NHS Health Scotland; 2019). Similarly, 
areas of high deprivation can have extremely high rates of alcohol-related fires and 
crime rates, and it can often be individuals other than the drinker who feel the effects 
of alcohol use, including children, family, friends, colleagues and those working in 
frontline services such as the Police and Health Service. 

 
5.30 Research examining the association between the density of alcohol outlets 
and neighbourhood-level income deprivation in Scotland has also found that there 
are 40% more licensed premises in the most deprived areas of Scotland than in the 
least deprived (BMC Public Health 2015 Research article “A cross-sectional analysis 
of the relationship between tobacco and alcohol outlet density and neighbourhood 
deprivation” N.K. Shortt et al).  By taking account of evidence on inequalities, 
Licensing Boards can meaningfully consider how different communities are impacted 
differently by alcohol, and use this to formulate their policy.   

 
Assessing overprovision 

 
5.31 There are a number of underlying principles that the Licensing Board should 
take into account as they approach the development of their statement of 
overprovision: 
 

• Licensing Boards should use alcohol-harm information (or potential 
alcohol-harm information) to identify localities and then proceed to 
consider the number, type and capacity of premises in those areas. 

 

• It is the potential for undesirable consequences which is intended to be 
addressed through overprovision assessments as a requirement within the 
2005 Act.  This can be thought of as the cumulative effect of more and 
more licences being granted in a locality and what this means in respect of 
the effect on life in that area.  It is the cumulative effect rather than the 
actions of any single operator that is key. 

 

• If a Licensing Board considers there is at least potential for, or a 
reasonable basis for, concluding that there will be a risk of adverse impact 

Page 79



 

 

on the objectives (should more premises licences be granted), it is entitled 
to come to the view that there is a state of overprovision. 

 

• Consideration should be given as to whether aggregate information and 
evidence from a number of sources demonstrates a link between the 
availability of alcohol in an area and alcohol-related harm. 

 

• To demonstrate a “dependable causal link”, the proof of the link must be 
on a balance of probabilities.  What this means in practice is that based on 
the evidence of harm in a locality, it is more likely than not that alcohol 
availability is a cause, or that increasing the availability of alcohol in that 
area will increase that harm. 

 

• There is no simple numerical formula for pinpointing the threshold between 
provision and overprovision.  Determining overprovision involves the 
application of reason and judgement in the interests of the community.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

 

6. LOCAL LICENSING FORUMS 
 
Introduction 
 
6.1 Local Licensing Forums (“Forums”) have a crucial role at the heart of the licensing 
system.  When operating effectively, Forums can provide Licensing Boards with 
helpful and community-based feedback which will enhance the local Licensing 
Board’s awareness of both the beneficial and detrimental impact of their policies in 
particular on the local community and on local trade. 
 
6.2 Section 10 of the 2005 Act requires every local authority to establish a Forum 
for their area (or, alternatively, a local authority may establish a Forum for each 
division if a local authority area is divided into licensing divisions). Schedule 2 of the 
2005 Act sets out the membership, administration and other procedural matters 
relating to Forums established under section 10.  Sections 11 and 12 of the 2005 
Act, set out the general functions of Forums and certain duties placed on Licensing 
Boards in respect of Forums respectively. 

 
6.3 Licensing Boards may find it helpful to be aware that local authorities must 
provide administrative support (including staff, property and services) to Forums to 
enable Forums to effectively carry out their role.  

 
6.4 Information in this Chapter will be useful to local authorities to help them 
establish, support and sustain Forums, and as background information for members 
of the Licensing Board to be aware of.  It is not exhaustive and local authorities will 
wish to adopt their own individual working practices and explore innovative ways in 
which Forums can carry out their work, so long as they are consistent with the 
provisions of the 2005 Act.   

 
6.5 The role of Forums is to keep under review the operation of the licensing 
system in their area along with the functions exercised by the Licensing Board and to 
give advice and recommendations to the relevant Licensing Board.   

 
6.6 As the Forum for a Licensing Board’s area is a statutory consultee in respect 
of the formulation of the statement of licensing policy and any supplementary 
statement of licensing policy, the Licensing Board is encouraged to consider 
involving their Forum in aspects of the work Licensing Boards have to undertake.  
This could be in the preparation of their statement of licensing policy, any 
supplementary policy statement of their policy with respect to the exercise of their 
functions.  The Forum may choose to make suggestions as to the review of policy or 
procedural matters.   

 
6.7 The Forum may also make a formal written request to the Licensing Board for 
a review of the statement of licensing policy where there is a material change in 
circumstances in the Licensing Board area, for example the Forum could identify key 
licensing issues affecting their local authority area and develop constructive advice 
on how to address them – this could lead to a review of the statement of licensing 
policy. 

 

Page 81



 

 

6.8 The Forum could also assist with the Licensing Board’s overprovision 
assessment through gathering evidence, analysis and consultation.  Whilst not listed 
as a statutory consultee for the overprovision assessment, Forums come under the 
category of “such persons as appear to the Licensing Board to be representative of 
the interests of persons resident in the locality” and/or “such other persons as the 
Licensing Board thinks fit” and, as such, would be expected to be consulted on the 
overprovision assessment. 

 
6.9 Some Forums have reviewed their Licensing Board’s Annual Functions 
Report and Finance Report and this has been welcomed by their Licensing Board. 

 
6.10 The role of the Forum does not include reviewing or offering advice or 
recommendations in relation to any particular application or case before the 
Licensing Board. 

 
6.11 In the exercise of its functions, a Licensing Board has a duty to have regard to 
the Forum's advice or recommendations and must offer reasons to the Forum where 
it decides not to follow its advice or recommendations.  This duty requires ongoing 
and regular communication between the Licensing Board and the Forum.  

 
6.12 In general, establishing a good and close working relationship between a 
Licensing Board and a Forum is an important factor that can benefit the operation of 
a Licensing Board.  Practical arrangements in support of this should be agreed 
between the Licensing Board and the Forum at the earliest opportunity following the 
Licensing Board’s appointment.  Such arrangements may differ in different areas, but 
regular meetings and communications between Licensing Boards and Forums are 
essential in ensuring effective channels of communication are in place.   

 
6.13 Such arrangements should be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they 
are meeting the needs of both the Licensing Board and the Forum.  There is a 
mandatory requirement for a minimum of one formal meeting between the Licensing 
Board and the Forum annually, though it would be good practice to meet more often 
than that to ensure the views of the Forum are fully able to be communicated to the 
Licensing Board. 

 
Management of business 

 
6.14 Some Forums have found it useful to develop a work plan at the start of each 
year in which they set out the areas that they want to look at in the year ahead.  
Developing a work plan like this can give a focus to the discussions at meetings with 
the local Licensing Board, and provides opportunities to keep members up to date 
with important areas of interest. 
 
6.15 To facilitate work that the Forum could undertake and to assist in developing 
a work plan, they should be provided by the Licensing Board with copies of any 
relevant statistics, information and reports which they may request.  Information on 
the Licensing Board’s public register would be helpful as would information available 
through the Licensing Board’s publication scheme as required under FOI legislation. 

 

Page 82



 

 

6.16 Forums can request regular reports from the police, health and Licensing 
Standards Officers.  Also, the chief constable must send a copy of a report annually 
to the Forum setting out their views on matters relating to policing in connection with 
the operation of the 2005 Act in the area, which should include any steps taken 
during the year, and the intentions for the following year, to prevent the sale and 
supply of alcohol to children and young people in the area.  The Forum may also 
request a police officer to attend a meeting to discuss the report. 

 
The effective Local Licensing Forum: independent, expert, trusted 

 
6.17 An effective Forum should be widely recognised as being both independent 
and expert.  To ensure independence, the Forum must develop an identity that is 
clearly separate from the Licensing Board or any other interest or group of interests.  
It must have the capacity to be impartial. 
 
6.18 The 2005 Act requires that a local Licensing Standards Officer (see Chapter 7 
of this Guidance) must be a member of the Forum, providing an important link to the 
operation of the licensing system.  The 2005 Act also requires that at least one of the 
members must be a member nominated by the relevant Health Board1 for the 
Licensing Board’s area.  Licensing Board members may also be invited to attend or 
to speak to the Forum. 

 
6.19 Forums should ideally comprise a balanced representation of relevant 
interests and collectively will have knowledge of licensing matters. For example, 
Falkirk Local Licensing Forum’s membership list Committees & council bodies - 
Committee ID: 229 | Falkirk Council  shows members with a range of relevant 
interests. A Forum that is dominated in terms of numbers by those who represent a 
specific viewpoint is unlikely to be impartial.  The Forum should be able to identify 
key licensing issues affecting their area and be able to develop constructive advice 
on how to address them. 

 
6.20 Forums may wish to consider gaining expertise, opportunities for learning and 
development in licensing for their members.  Such opportunities may include training 
in licensing law (for example, Personal Licence Holder training, Licensing Board 
Member training), attendance at Licensing Board meetings, presentations from 
licensing stakeholders (such as Police Scotland, Licensing Standards Officers, the 
Health Board), and relevant reading materials.   

 
6.21 As Licensing Board members are required to undergo training, consideration 
should be given to Licensing Board members and Forum members attending the 
same training together as this may assist in a shared understanding of the local 
position, and could assist with discussion of issues relating to the local Licensing 
Board area. 

 
6.22 Forums may wish to establish links with relevant bodies responsible for 
developing the local alcohol action plans and strategies to reduce alcohol-related 
harm as well as organisations representing and supporting the responsible retail of 

                                            
1 If there is more than one Health Board in the area, the one whose area contains the larger, or largest 
part of the Local Licensing Forum’s area will nominate the Health Board representative. 

Page 83

https://www.falkirk.gov.uk/services/council-democracy/councillors-decision-making/committees/committee.aspx?committee=229
https://www.falkirk.gov.uk/services/council-democracy/councillors-decision-making/committees/committee.aspx?committee=229


 

 

alcohol (for example, Alcohol & Drug Partnerships , Community Planning 
Partnerships, Health & Social Care Partnerships, Pubwatch/ Shopwatch).  Members 
of relevant bodies might be invited to sit on the Forum. Local Licensing Forum | 
Angus Council is an example of a Forum which has a development officer from an 
alcohol and drugs partnership as a member.   

 
6.23 In producing impartial and effective advice, the Forum will gain the trust of the 
Licensing Board and others in the local community such as licence holders, relevant 
agencies and bodies, young people and local residents.  In this way, the Forum will 
be able to fairly reflect the views of the local community and present them to the 
Licensing Board.  The Forum is in a position to be able to support an informed 
conversation with the local community as to the role licensing and alcohol 
consumption plays in everyday life which will help to reach solutions through 
collaboration. 

 
An inclusive and diverse approach to involvement 

 
6.24 The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 is relevant to the effective 
functioning of Local Licensing Forums as it has a specific focus on promoting 
effective engagement and participation to help communities achieve greater control 
and influence in the decisions and circumstances that affect their lives.  The seven 
National Standards for Community Engagement are good-practice principles 
designed to improve and guide the process of community engagement.  They can be 
used to shape the participation processes of public bodies as well as shape how 
community organisations can involve wider community interests.  The National 
Standards provide helpful information for councils, Licensing Boards and Local 
Licensing Forums to follow.  The seven standards are: 
 

• Inclusion – identify and involve the people and organisations that are 
affected by the focus of the engagement; 

 

• Support – identify and overcome any barriers to participation; 
 

• Planning – there is a clear purpose for the engagement which is based on 
a shared understanding of community needs and ambitions; 

 

• Working together – work effectively together to achieve the aims of the 
engagement; 

 

• Methods – use methods of engagement that are fit for purpose; 
 

• Communication – communicate clearly and regularly with the people, 
organisations and communities affected by the engagement; 

 

• Impact – assess the impact of the engagement and use what has been 
learned to improve future community engagement. 

 
  

Page 84

https://www.angus.gov.uk/law_and_licensing/licensing_board_forum_and_officers/local_licensing_forum
https://www.angus.gov.uk/law_and_licensing/licensing_board_forum_and_officers/local_licensing_forum
https://www.scdc.org.uk/what/national-standards


 

 

Membership 
 
6.25 Members are appointed to the Forum by the local authority.  This means that 
the local authority needs to approve both the structure and the individuals proposed 
to fill that structure.  There should be an inclusive, open and transparent recruitment 
and appointment process.  Membership should be subject to regular review and 
refresh.   
 
6.26 As discussed above, Schedule 2 of the 2005 Act makes provision for the 
membership of a Forum. A broad aim is for there to be, so far as possible, a 
balanced representation of all stakeholders.  Forums are to consist of between 5 and 
21 members, as may be determined by the relevant council.2  As already mentioned 
above, at least one of those members must be a Licensing Standards Officer for the 
local authority area and at least one of the members must be a person nominated by 
the relevant Health Board.  In appointing the “other” members, the relevant local 
authority has a duty to seek to ensure that the membership of the Forum is 
representative of the interests of persons or descriptions of persons who have an 
interest which is relevant to the Forum’s general functions.  Where the membership 
is not representative, the Licensing Board should make efforts to identify and engage 
with the persons or bodies concerned. The 2005 Act provides that those persons 
include – 

 

• holders of premises licences and personal licences (preferably both on-

trade and off-trade); 

 

• the chief constable; 

 

• persons having functions relating to health, education or social work; 

 

• young people; 

 

• persons resident within the Local Licensing Forum's area. 

 
6.27 This last category is purposefully very broad, and includes other groups who 
have an interest, such as persons in the recovery community, and families affected 
by alcohol use.  Other persons will depend on the local community, for example, a 
Forum has included a representative from the National Union of Students Scotland 
as there is a significant local population of students.  This same Forum met 
secondary school Modern Studies pupils to hear their views on licensing policy 
directly.  With the licensing objective encompassing young persons, this Forum 
considered it is important for the development of the policy that the views of young 
persons are taken into account.  This is a good example of considering how the 
licensing objectives might work for the local area. 
 
6.28 The local authority should strive to keep membership of the Forum under 
regular review to ensure balance and to optimise engagement.  A range of methods 

                                            
2 The relevant council here is the council for whose area the Local Licensing Forum is established, or if 
the Local Licensing Forum is established for a licensing division, for the area of which the division forms 
part 

Page 85



 

 

to encourage/enhance membership will be needed to suit the different needs of 
participants: 
 

• many licence holders and representatives of youth organisations and 

persons having functions relating to health, education or social work can 

be reached through representative organisations; 

 

• in public agencies care should be taken to target the most appropriate 

officer, who might not necessarily be the chairperson or chief executive; 

and 

 

• an innovative approach should be taken to engaging with local 

communities, for example, via publicity, community councils, housing 

associations, and other local organisations that are likely to have an 

interest.  Other publicity tools that can be considered include: 

 

o the local press and any associated public meetings; 

 

o leaflets to explain the role of the Forum and to  give notice of 

 public meetings; 

 

o leaflets and posters can be placed in shops, gyms, libraries and 

 public buildings to reach the general public; 

 

o leaflets can be included with letters sent to licence holders, the 

 police and other organisations, individuals and community 

 organisations; 

 

o a dedicated page on the council's web site, with a prominent link 

 from the home page, and/or the Local Licensing Forum's own 

 web page to give details of the Local Licensing Forum; 

 

o Relevant social media such as Facebook groups covering a 

local area and/ or Twitter pages covering a local area. 

 
6.29 It is important to ensure that Forum members share the same core knowledge 
about licensing in general and the functions of a Forum in particular.  The basic 
information which needs to be covered includes: 
 

• the 2005 Act, in particular the functions laid down in the 2005 Act for 

Forums;  

 

• secondary legislation made under the  2005 Act; and 

 

• this Guidance. 

 
 

Page 86



 

 

6.30 Making sure members and potential members understand their role is crucial 
to the effective operation of the Forum. As previously mentioned, Schedule 2 of the 
2005 Act sets out the legislative framework in terms of membership, convener, 
administrative support, meetings and proceedings.  
 
6.31 For example, the convener must be mindful of time and regulate discussion 
so as to make sure that meetings get through their agendas.  Care needs to be 
taken that discussions reach clear conclusions and/or stipulate clear actions to be 
taken, specifying who is responsible for taking matters forward.  There should be 
regular reporting back about steps taken as a result of previous discussions and 
what the outcome was. 

 
6.32 Forums may choose to prepare a document (constitution or remit) containing 
relevant information in one place which would assist in this regard.  Information may 
include the above categories covered in schedule 2 of the Act and other matters not 
specified in the legislation, as deemed appropriate to the circumstances by the 
members of the Forum, and could include: 
 

• name 

• membership eligibility 

• membership recruitment 

• quorum 

• maximum number of years of membership  

• office bearers 

• convener’s duties  

• vice convener 

• administrative support 

• meetings 

• conduct of meetings/business 

• motions and amendments 

• voting; committees/sub-committees 

• agendas; minutes 

• reversal of previous resolutions 

• adjournment of meetings 

• Annual General Meeting 

• special meetings 

• appointment and removal of office bearers 

• resignation and dismissal 

• non-attendance at meetings 

• alterations to the constitution and powers to make or amend rules 

• geographical boundary 

• contact details 

• action/work plans 

• annual report 

• terms of reference 
 
Click on the following web link to see an example of a constitution drawn up by Perth 
and Kinross Local Licensing Forum. 

Page 87

https://www.pkc.gov.uk/media/41604/Licensing-Forum-Constitution/pdf/Licensing_Forum_Constitution.pdf?m=636559312535200000
https://www.pkc.gov.uk/media/41604/Licensing-Forum-Constitution/pdf/Licensing_Forum_Constitution.pdf?m=636559312535200000


 

 

 
6.33 Members should endeavour to take active steps to stay in touch with the 
constituency of interest that they represent so that they can convey its views to the 
Forum. 
 
6.34 Establishing, supporting and maintaining an effective Forum is the 
responsibility of the local authority.  Some actions which may assist in this activity 
include: 
 

• ensuring consistency of representation, including making suitable 

arrangements if a member is unable to attend; 

 

• encouraging regular attendance and taking appropriate steps when 

attendance falters (for example, agreeing and implementing a policy for 

the number of meetings a member can miss before their place on the 

Forum is made available to others); 

 

• publicising agendas and minutes, perhaps on the website or through social 

media, and taking steps to encourage people to feed their views to their 

representatives; 

 

• providing opportunities for members to meet people or groups from the 

constituencies they represent to discuss matters of interest. 

 

Achieving a culture of participation 
 
6.35 As mentioned above, the National Standards for Community Engagement set 
out good practice principles for community engagement and are important in 
supporting organisations in putting the 2005 Act into practice, and provide helpful 
information for local authorities, Licensing Boards and Forums to follow. 
 
6.36 Encouraging people to become involved in a Forum can be a challenge.  It is 
noted that many Licensing Board functions reports describe issues such as Forums 
not achieving quorum and difficulties attracting new members.  It is also noted that 
the membership of Forums can also sometimes become dominated towards a 
particular type of stakeholder, and are not always representative of the local 
community.  For example, a recent Licensing Board functions report explains that 
despite attempts to encourage applications to join the Forum, there is a heavy 
imbalance toward local authority and health officials, with little engagement from the 
trade or general public.  

 
6.37 Possible ways to address such challenges could include amending a Forum’s 
constitution and making pro-active efforts to encourage applications.  Carefully 
considering the time when meetings are held is important as a different time for 
meetings e.g. evening rather than daytime may increase participation. Surveys of 
members of Forums should be considered to assess whether members feel satisfied 
that they have had opportunities to participate and, if not, whether they have any 
suggestions of what could be improved.  

 

Page 88



 

 

6.38 It is accepted that differences of opinion/conflicts may arise and it is helpful 
for a Forum to consider how such situations might best be managed, particularly 
where a Forum experiences ongoing difficulties reaching consensus to the extent 
that it impacts on its ability to function effectively.  It may be helpful to develop a 
procedure for how such situations would be handled if they arose which is agreed in 
advance by all members. For example the Aberdeen Local Licensing Forum has a 
section within its constitution entitled “Conduct of Meetings” which includes amongst 
other matters “Convenor’s Duties” and “Conduct of Forum members”. 

 
Communication 
 
6.39 Effective communication is essential for the successful operation of the 
Forum, both in relation to its own internal business and its place in the opinions of 
the public.  The seven standards for effective community engagement set out 
previously in relation to the National Standards for Community Engagement are 
relevant for Forums.  There is a need to systematically identify what communication 
needs exist, and then draw up an action plan which may include: 
 

• how those communication needs are going to be met; 

 

• who has responsibility for the various actions required; 

 

• what resources are needed and who will supply them. 

 
6.40 It is important that the Forum members debate these matters and come to an 
agreement, especially as some aspects affect personal privacy. 
 
6.41 Forums may wish to consider the use of video conferencing or teleconference 
facilities, where available, which may be particularly useful to more rural and remote 
communities.  Account should be taken of any such needs as meetings are arranged 
and business is managed. 

 
Summary   

 
6.42 An effective Forum has a vital role to play in local licensing arrangements, 
representing different communities of interest and ensuring that a breadth of views 
are considered, debated and inputted to Licensing Boards.  Those involved in 
Forums should strive to ensure that a diversity of interests can participate, and be 
heard in a welcoming and supportive environment.  
 
 
 

Page 89

https://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/services/council-and-democracy/get-involved-council/local-licensing-forum


 

 

7. Licensing Standards Officers 
 
Introduction 
 
7.1 This Chapter covers the general functions of Licensing Standards Officers, their 
roles and responsibilities and the training they are required to undertake. 
 
7.2 The 2005 Act requires local authorities to appoint at least one Licensing 
Standards Officer in their area.  An individual can be a Licensing Standards Officer 
for more than one local authority area. 

 
7.3 A Licensing Standards Officer is neither an agent nor an employee of the 
Licensing Boards, however a Licensing Board should be able to rely on Licensing 
Standards Officers having a good understanding of the needs and aspirations of the 
local licensed trade.  The Licensing Standards Officer should work with the trade and 
other stakeholders to build respect for the role by the judicious application of their 
powers.  Licensing Standards Officers require to be able to work with persons from 
every background.  Licensing Standards Officers do not need to be legally qualified 
and must not provide legal advice when offering guidance, information and 
assistance to interested parties. 

 
7.4 For example a Licensing Standards Officer may be able to explain what the 
law actually says in relation to a particular matter but should never offer an opinion or 
interpretation of how the law should be applied. 

 
7.5 The general functions of Licensing Standards Officers for a local authority 
area are: 
 

• providing information and guidance concerning the operation of the 2005 
Act in the area; 
 

• supervising the compliance of the holders of premises licences or 
occasional licences in respect of premises in the area with the conditions 
of their licences and other requirements of the 2005 Act (Includes powers 
to issue notices to licence holders; and in relation to premises licences to 
make licence review applications); 
 

• providing information to Licensing Boards about any conduct of holders of, 
or persons applying for, personal licences in the area, which is 
inconsistent with the licensing objectives; and 
 

• providing mediation services for the purpose of avoiding or resolving 
disputes or disagreements between 

 
(i) the holders of premises licences or occasional licences; and 
 
(ii) any other persons, 

 
concerning any matter relating to compliance with the 2005 Act as 
referred to in this paragraph. 

Page 90



 

 

 
 

7.6 Licensing Standards Officers are accountable for their actions to their local 
authority (as employers), and are there to serve the interests of every stakeholder 
interested in the operation of licensing in the Licensing Standards Officer’s area.  
Licensing Standards Officers can be contacted by email. Contact details can be 
found on the licensing pages of the relevant local authority website. 
 
Information and guidance 
 
7.7 Licensing Standards Officers often tend to be the first point of contact for most 
matters relating to alcohol licensing.  Licensees will make requests about 
applications and the general working of the legislation and local policies.  The public 
will require information to enable them to make representations, to object or 
complain within the terms of the legislation.  Local Licensing Forums and other 
interested parties may also require information and guidance from Licensing 
Standards Officers. 
 
7.8 Licensing Standards Officers must not give legal advice or make applications, 
objections or representations on behalf of any party.  However, Licensing Standards 
Officers are usually willing to engage with anyone who wishes to object to an 
application in order to discuss the type of material that can be presented to the 
Licensing Board. 

 
7.9 At least one Licensing Standards Officer for an area must also be  a member 
of the Local Licensing Forum.  Licensing Boards will be aware that Licensing 
Standards Officers may consider forming links with other groups such as Alcohol & 
Drug Partnerships and trade/regulatory partnerships.   

 
Compliance 
 
7.10 Licensing Standards Officers will require to ensure that licensees carry out 
their business in a manner which complies with the conditions of their licences and 
other requirements of the 2005 Act, such as the five licensing objectives.  The 
legislation contains wide ranging powers to enable Licensing Standards Officers to 
supervise compliance. 
 
7.11 Where a Licensing Standards Officer believes a premises licence or an 
occasional licence is not being operated in an appropriate manner, the Licensing 
Standards Officer should discuss any concerns with the licence holder directly and 
give them an opportunity to address these concerns, working with them as 
necessary, to achieve the required improvements.  

 
7.12 Should the required improvements not be made then the 2005 Act provides 
that the Licensing Standards Officer can issue a written warning to the licence holder 
setting out the improvements which require to be made.  In the case of a premises 
licence holder, should these improvements still not be made then the Licensing 
Standards Officer can make a referral to the Licensing Board for a review of the 
premises licence. 

 

Page 91



 

 

7.13 Licensing Standards Officers have the power to enter licensed premises at 
any time to carry out an inspection of the premises and of any substances, articles or 
documents found there as the Officer thinks necessary, to determine whether the 
activities being carried on there are in accordance with the licence and any other 
requirements of the 2005 Act.  They also have the power to take copies of, or of an 
entry in, any document found on the premises and seize and remove any 
substances, articles or documents found on the premises.  If a document is stored in 
electronic form and is accessible from the premises, the Licensing Standards Officer 
has the power to require such a document to be produced in a form which is legible 
and in which it can be removed from the premises.  

 
7.14 If any substance, article or document is seized, the Licensing Standards 
Officer must leave a notice on the premises stating what has been seized and why.  
They do not have the power to force entry to premises.  Licensing Standards Officers 
have the power to require production of certain documentation, as the Officer thinks 
necessary, relating to the legislation, regulations and policies, for example, training 
registers, the operating plan etc.  However, they do not have the power to require a 
person to produce any document if the person would be entitled to refuse to produce 
that document in any court proceedings on the grounds of confidentiality of 
communications.  In addition, Licensing Standards Officers cannot require a person 
to produce any document if to do so would result in self-incrimination or incrimination 
of that person’s spouse or civil partner.  

 
7.15 A  Licensing Standards Officer’s role in no way impinges on the role of the 
police who are the responsible enforcing authority for criminal matters.  However, 
Licensing Standard Officers do work with the police (and other relevant officials such 
as Environmental Health Officers) in ensuring the licensing objectives are adhered to 
and solutions are found to problems involving licensed premises.  

 
Information to Licensing Boards: Personal Licences 

 
7.16 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended the  2005 Act  
with regard to the role of a Licensing Standards Officer in relation to a personal 
licence application and a current personal licence. Where a Licensing Board  
receives a personal licence application, the Licensing Board must give notification 
(including sending a copy of the application)  to a Licensing Standards Officer  for 
the Licensing Board’s area. Within 21 days of the date of receiving this notification, a 
Licensing Standards Officer may provide any information to the Licensing Board in 
relation to the applicant that the Licensing Standards Officer considers may be 
relevant to the consideration of the application by the Licensing Board.  
 
7.17 As regards existing personal licences, the 2005 Act as amended provides  
Licensing Standards Officers with a specific power to report conduct of a personal 
licence holder, who is or was working in licensed premises in their area, which is 
inconsistent with the licensing objectives, to the relevant Licensing Board. Where a 
Licensing Board receives such a report it may hold a hearing, but is under no 
obligation to do so.  

 
  

Page 92



 

 

Mediation 
 

7.18 Licensing Boards should be aware that Licensing Standards Officers utilise 
mediation and problem solving skills.  They may be required to address issues or 
complaints such as a neighbour complaining regarding noise problems caused by a 
licensee, or a representative of the licensee, undertaking the late night deposit of 
bottles in bottle banks.  In this example, a Licensing Standards Officer may be able 
to persuade the licensee to carry out this task at a more reasonable hour to resolve 
the issue. 
 
Reporting to Licensing Boards 
 
7.19 In relation to particular cases, Licensing Standards Officers may be required 
to submit reports, objections or representations on various matters to Licensing 
Boards.   Where appropriate, they may also be required to submit applications for 
review of premises licences. 
 
7.20 Where a Licensing Standards Officer believes that one or more of the 
conditions relating to a premises licence or occasional licence has been breached, 
then  the Licensing Standards Officer can take the steps outlined at  paragraphs 7.11 
and 7.12 above. Licensing Standards Officers also have the power to make an 
application for review of a premises licence on any other competent ground for 
review. 

 
7.21 Licensing Boards must notify the appropriate Licensing Standards Officers of 
their intention to hold a review hearing in respect of a premises licence and provide 
the Licensing Standards Officer with a copy of the premises licence review proposal 
or application (unless it was s/he that submitted that particular review application).  
The Licensing Standards Officer receiving any such notification and information must 
prepare and submit a report on the proposal or application to the Licensing Board 
before the review hearing.  The Licensing Board must take the report into account at 
the hearing. 

 
7.22 Licensing Boards should be able to expect that Licensing Standards Officers 
will endeavour to ensure that sufficient information is placed before the Licensing 
Board to allow them to make a finding.  Sources of information could include 
documentary evidence or witnesses to the matter requiring enforcement action. 

 
Training 

 
7.23 Licensing Boards should be aware that each Licensing Standards Officer 
must undertake a course of training accredited by the Scottish Ministers within 18 
months of being appointed to their role.  It is essential that Licensing Standards 
Officers also receive ongoing training and are permitted to take part in relevant 
Continuous Personal Development opportunities (e.g. development of basic 
mediation skills - see below). 
 
7.24 As with Licensing Board members training (see Chapter 3), Licensing 
Standards Officers (LSO) training has been reviewed and a revised training 
specification submitted to and accredited by Scottish Ministers.  

Page 93



 

 

 
7.25 The following topics require to be covered under the accredited LSO training 
albeit Section 1 introduction will not be assessed: 

 

• Section 1 Introduction  
The reason for  and the importance of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 
Background to the LSO role creation and its aims 

 

• Section 2  Legislation 
Overview of the licensing function 
Role and remit of the LSO 
Key role of others 
Licensing and operating conditions 
Protecting children and young persons from harm 
Control of order 
Miscellaneous and General 
Training 

 

• Section 3 Associated Law 
 

• Section 4 Responsible operation of licensed premises 
Environment 
Responsibility to staff and customers 
Community links 
 

• Section 5 People skills and conflict management 
Basic mediation 

 
National Licensing Standards Officers’ Group 

 
7.26 Licensing Boards should be aware of the existence of the National Licensing 
Standards Officers Group which engages with Licensing Standards Officers across 
the country to share issues and best practice, and liaises with other agencies to 
encourage partnership working. The Group can be contacted through Paul Fair who 
is the current Chair of the National Licensing Standards Officers Group. Paul is an 
LSO with Clackmannanshire Council.  
 

Page 94

mailto:pfair@clacks.gov.uk


 

 

8. Premises Licence 
 
Introduction 
 
8.1 This chapter provides information on premises (including provisional and temporary) 
licences. Part 3 of and schedule 3 to the 2005 Act sets out the legislative framework 
which underpins premises licences. A number of amendments have been made to 
Part 3 and Schedule 3 of the 2005 Act and these are covered throughout this 
chapter.  
 
8.2 The locality within which a premises is (mainly) situated will determine which 
Licensing Board (“the Board”) will be considered to be the “appropriate Board” – i.e. 
the Board which will carry out licensing functions in relation to the premises licence.  
Should the situation arise whereby the premises is located equally between two or 
more Board areas then the applicant may choose to which Board an application is 
made.  In these, likely rare, circumstances it will be important for the relevant Boards 
and Licensing Standards Officer to maintain close contact with regard to the 
licensing of these premises.  

 
Meaning of premises licence 

 
8.3 In the context of the 2005 Act, “premises licence”, in relation to any premises, 
means a licence issued by a Board under section 26(1) (issue of licence and 
summary) or 47(2) (temporary licence) authorising the sale of alcohol on the 
premises. 
 
Premises Manager 
 
8.4 The 2005 Act provides that anyone wishing to sell alcohol on any premises, 
subject to the exceptions set out in the legislation, must hold a premises licence 
which requires to contain the name of the premises manager.  The premises 
manager is the person responsible for running that premises. A person can only be 
the designated premises manager for one licensed premises. 
 
8.5 In terms of the mandatory premises licence conditions set out at Schedule 3 
to the 2005 Act, a premises manager is also required to hold a personal licence (see 
chapter 10 for more information on personal licences).  A personal licence also 
requires the persons to hold a licensing qualification accredited by the Scottish 
Ministers. It is important that a premises manager has undertaken the appropriate 
training in terms of the applicable law and how to deal with customers. 

 
8.6 In recognition of the important role carried out by a premises manager in the 
operation of a licenced premise, section 54 of the 2005 Act deals with circumstances 
where the premises manager ceases to work at the premises, becomes incapable of 
acting or dies or where the personal licence held by the premises manager is 
revoked or suspended.  

 
8.7 The legislation provides for a “period of grace” to allow the premises to 
continue operating despite not having a premises manager and pending the 
appointment of a new premises manager. In the situations described above the 2005 

Page 95



 

 

Act requires the premises licence holder to inform the Licensing Board of the 
circumstances within 7 days. Should the notification be made within the 7 day period 
and an application to substitute a new premises manager is made within 6 weeks of 
the loss of the premises manager, then the fact that the premises are, in the 
meantime, operating without a premises manager will be overlooked. If no such 
application is received by a Board within the required timeframe, it must vary the 
premises licence to reflect that there is no longer any premises manager named on 
it.  The effect of this would require the premises to stop operating as it has no 
premises manager.  

 
Variation to substitute new premises manager 
8.8 As discussed above, licensed premises cannot operate without a premises 
manager being in post.  Where there is a change of premises manager, before the 
new premises manager can act as such, his or her name needs to be added to the 
licence. The 2005 Act allows for the proposed new premises manager to take up 
post pending the granting of an application to vary the premises licence so as add 
the new premises manager’s name to it. This helps to ensure that changes of 
premises manager can take effect quickly so as to enable businesses to continue to 
operate with the minimum disruption. 
 
Premises licence applications 
 
Application and notification of application 
8.9 Under the 2005 Act, any person, which includes corporate (e.g. public limited 
companies) unincorporated bodies (e.g. a partnership) and statutory bodies 
(organisations created by an Act of Parliament) as well as individuals, can apply for a 
premises licence. However, any individual who wants to submit an application must 
be 18 or over. 
 
8.10 Each premises licence application should be tailored to the type of premises 
in question by reference to a compulsory draft operating plan and layout plan. The 
Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 amended the 2005 Act such that 
after 30 March 2018 an individual applying for a premises/provisional premises 
licence, for the sale of alcohol for consumption either on or off the premises, also 
requires to provide a Disabled Access and Facilities Statement (DAFS), along with 
their application.  

 
8.11 The DAFS must contain information about disabled access to the premises 
and the facilities and any other provision available to aid the use of the premises by 
disabled people. The form of the statement is set out in regulations (The Premises 
Licence (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2018 SSI 2018 No. 49).  Whilst the 
DAFS does not form part of the licence granted, a Board is unable to progress a 
licence application until this document is received.  

 
8.12 The purpose of submitting an operating plan and a lay-out plan is to provide a 
Board and the local community with a clear indication, at the time of the application, 
of what activities will be undertaken on the premises. The 2005 Act also makes 
provision for applications to be accompanied by certain certificates evidencing 
compliance with planning, building control and food hygiene legislation in relation to 
the premises for which a licence application is being made.  

Page 96



 

 

 
8.13 Licensing Boards publish Statements of Licensing Policy (see Chapter 4) and 
licence applicants may find it beneficial to review their Board’s statement as the 
statement should, amongst other matters offer guidance and clarity on the policy on 
which a Licensing Board will base its decisions in implementing their functions – in 
this instance considering a premises licence application - under the 2005 Act.   

 
8.14 For example, under the promotion of the licensing objections section of its 
statement of licensing policy, Falkirk Licensing Board comments: 
 

• “While not a requirement of the Act, the Board expects applicants for new 

and provisional Premises Licences and transfers of Premises Licences to 

accompany their applications with a written statement tailored to their 

particular premises setting out how they intend to conform to the 5 

licensing objectives, paying particular attention to the locality in which the 

premises are situated and the activities to be carried out. The Board is of 

the opinion that a written statement demonstrates an active and thoughtful 

engagement with the licensing objectives.  

 
8.15 The 2005 Act sets out a number of specific requirements as to the content of 
the operating plans, including, amongst other matters, the proposed opening hours, 
a statement as to whether alcohol is being sold for consumption on the premises or 
off the premises or both. Additionally, the legislation also provides for the form and 
(further detail on the) content of the operating plans to be set out in regulations - The 
Premises Licence (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007 No. 452).  This instrument 
prescribes the form and content of the premises licence, the summary premises 
licence, the application form for a premises and provisional premises licence, the 
layout plan and operating plan.  
 
8.16 Prior to considering a premises licence application, a Board is required by the  
2005 Act to notify certain parties of all applications it receives. The Criminal Justice 
and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 made a number of amendments to the 2005 Act 
notification provisions. Health Boards within a Licensing Board’s area are now 
amongst the list of parties to be notified of all premises licence applications. Boards 
are only required to send a copy of the premises licence application along with the 
notification to the Chief constable.  

 
8.17 Notifying the Chief constable is an important information gathering process for 
a Board as this procedure is intended to ensure that checks are made for the 
existence or otherwise of any convictions for relevant or foreign offences that any 
applicant or those connected with the applicant may have. The legislation sets out 
timescales by which the Chief constable is required to respond. 

 
Relevant  and Foreign Offences 
8.18 Section 129 (relevant and foreign offences) of the 2005 Act provides the 
Scottish Ministers with a power to prescribe by regulations what offences are to 
count as a “relevant offence”. The Licensing (Relevant Offences) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/513) specify those offences which are to be relevant 
offences for the purposes of the 2005 Act (regulation 2 and the Schedule).  

Page 97



 

 

8.19 The Schedule specifies a range of offences which cover violent and sexual 
offences, other statutory offences (e.g. relating to the misuse of drugs, betting and 
gambling offences, driving offences amongst others) and other common law 
offences (e.g. conspiracy to defraud, breach of the peace  amongst others).  
Convictions for a “relevant offence” may result in refusal by a Board to grant a 
licence or the review of a licence.  
 
8.20 This section also allows the persistent commission of a lower level offence - 
which would not by itself be sufficiently serious - to amount to a “relevant offence”. 
The Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 amended section 129 by 
inserting two new sub-sections.  The purpose of these insertions being that where a 
person has been found guilty of an offence and a probation order or order for 
absolute discharge has been imposed, the person is treated as having been 
convicted for the purposes of these provisions of the 2005 Act. 

 
8.21 “Foreign offences” are offences under the laws of countries other than 
Scotland which correspond to relevant offences. Section 147(2) sets out who is a 
“connected person” in relation to a company, partnership or club. This ensures that 
checks are carried out on the persons in control of these bodies as well as the 
bodies themselves. 

 
8.22 Section 130 (Effect of appeal against conviction for relevant or foreign 
offence) of the 2005 Act provides that the duties placed on Boards under the 2005 
Act relating to relevant and foreign offences may still be carried out if the conviction 
is subject to appeal but the Board has discretion to postpone any action it has 
decided to take.  It also provides that the Board’s actions will have no effect if the 
conviction is overturned on appeal. 

 
Objections and representations 
8.23 The 2005 Act provides that any person (whether an individual or a corporate 
body or unincorporated body) may object or make representations in relation to a 
premises licence application provided the Board does not consider that the 
objections or representations are frivolous or vexatious in nature. Argyll and Bute 
Licensing Board provide an example of what they consider would be a vexatious 
objection or representation on the Council’s alcohol licensing pages: 
 

• “A theatre has established in an area close to residential housing. Certain 
performances at the theatre are considered to be particularly noisy by the 
neighbouring residents. The neighbours consider this to be a nuisance. 
They may, or may not have complained previously to the theatre owner. 
They may or may not have complained previously to the Council 
Environmental Health Department. 

 

• “The owner of the theatre then applies for a licence to establish a theatre 
bar and sell alcohol. The neighbours notice that there happens to be an 
ongoing “licence application and decide to make 
objections/representations relating to the licensing objective of preventing 
public nuisance. This is designed to place pressure on the theatre owner 
to reduce noise. In this scenario where the noise constitutes a statutory 

Page 98



 

 

nuisance then the appropriate enforcement agency would be the Argyll 
and Bute Council’s Environmental Health Department.  
 

• “The licensing system should not be used as a convenient means of 
placing pressure on the applicant. The neighbours would no doubt find it 
difficult to establish a link between the noise and the proposed sale of 
alcohol. The Argyll and Bute Licensing Board would be entitled to consider 
the premises suitable for the sale of alcohol and leave enforcement in 
respect of noise problems to environmental health”. 

 
8.24 The Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 made a number of 
amendments to the objections and representation provisions within the 2005 Act.  A 
new  provision was inserted which means that an objection or representation 
concerning a premises licence application may include any information that the 
person submitting the objection or representation considers relevant to consideration 
of any of the grounds for refusal (set out at section 23(5) of the 2005 Act), including 
information in relation to the applicant, a connected person in relation to the 
applicant, or any person who would be an interested party in relation to the premises 
if the application were to be granted. 
 
Connected persons and interested parties 
8.25 As discussed above the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 
inserted a new section (section 40A) relating to connected persons and interested 
parties into the 2005 Act.   The policy rationale for inserting this new provision, as 
outlined during the parliamentary passage of what was then the Criminal Justice and 
Licensing (Scotland) Bill, was to tackle a concern that was highlighted to the Scottish 
Government by the police.  Namely that there was a tier of people and organisations 
responsible for the operation of licensed premises who cannot be held to account for 
the operation of licensed premises. 
 
8.26 The premises licence might be held by the property owner, but a tenant might 
be in control of operating the business on the premises. Alternatively, a management 
company with no property rights over the premises might be employed by the 
property owner to exercise management control over the business that is carried on 
in the premises. Prior to the insertion of section 40A, the police were unable to make 
representations to licensing boards on the conduct of those groups or to take action 
against them if offences take place on the premises. There was also no requirement 
on the part of the licence holder to notify the licensing board of the existence of those 
groups. 

 
8.27 The new section 40A ensured that: 

 

• the licence holder must notify the existence of those “interested parties” to 
the licensing board, thus enabling the board to consider the conduct of 
those parties in determining licence applications or considering whether to 
review an existing licence.  

• that any changes in the details of “connected persons” are notified to 
licensing boards who will forward the information to the chief constable.  

 

Page 99



 

 

8.28 As a result, the licensing board and the police are kept informed of the details 
of, for example, the partners of firms and the directors of companies that hold 
premises licences, which will enable a premises licence to be reviewed if the police 
or the board have concerns about the conduct of the partners or directors of licence-
holding partnerships or companies. 
 
8.29 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 subsequently amended 
section 40A to remove the references to interested parties and the requirement to 
notify changes of interested parties. This was done in response to concerns that had 
been raised by stakeholders about the practicality of the term interested parties. The 
licence holder now only requires to provide notification in respect of connected 
persons.  

 
Anti-social behaviour reports 
8.30 It is no longer necessary for the chief constable to provide an anti-social 
behaviour report in respect of every application. Instead, a report will only be 
required if the Licensing Board requests one (which they may do following public 
objections or representations concerning a premises) or if the Chief constable 
chooses to provide one.  
 
8.31 It became clear during the implementation of the 2005 Act, that the 2005 Act 
procedure  was unnecessarily  onerous and bureaucratic. Using regulatory powers, 
Scottish Ministers made transitional modifications that reduced the requirement for 
the Chief constable to provide a report on antisocial behaviour and the Criminal 
Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 amended the 2005 Act to established a 
similar situation after transition. This ensured unnecessary costs are not entailed for 
the production of reports which are not required.  

 
8.32 The anti-social behaviour report should detail all cases of anti-social 
behaviour identified, by the police, as having taken place on, or in the vicinity of the 
premises within one year of the date of the request as well as all complaints or other 
representations made to the police concerning anti-social behaviour on, or in the 
vicinity of the premises within one year of the date of the request.  The Chief 
constable is required to provide the report within 21 days of receipt of the request. 

 
8.33 If a Licensing Board requests an anti-social behaviour report from the Chief 
constable then it must suspend consideration of the licence application until it 
receives the report.  On receipt of the report, the Licensing Board must provide the 
applicant with a copy of the report and then resume consideration of the application 
and determine it in accordance with section 23 of the 2005 Act.  

 
8.34 On receipt of a notice of objection or representations in relation to a premises 
licence application, unless the Board considers them to be frivolous or vexatious, it is 
required to send a copy to the applicant and to consider the information contained 
therein when determining the licence application.  

 
8.35 It is pleasing to see that many Licensing Boards provide helpful information 
(on the licensing pages of their respective local authority websites) for those who 
wish to object to a premises licence application or make representations in favour or 
against the license application.  For example City of Glasgow Council has a page 

Page 100



 

 

(Alcohol Licences) on its website which signposts people to a range of information 
about the alcohol licensing system. One such link is to a page entitled “I’d like 
guidance on making an objection or representations” where information on the 
following can be found: 

 

• when can I make an objection? 

• what information should an objection or representation against an 
application contain? 

• what information should a representation in support of an application 
contain? 

• what is the deadline for submitting an objection or representation? 

• how do I submit my objection or a representation? 

• what happens if I submit an objection or representation? 
 

Determination of premises licence application 
8.36 Section 23 of the 2005 Act sets out the procedures a Licensing Board must 
follow when determining a premises licence application. The Criminal Justice and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010, the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 and 
the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 (“the 2015 Act”) have all 
amended this section.  
 
8.37 Section 23(5) lists the grounds for refusal of a premises licence application. 
The key amendment (and majority of changes) to this provision since the 2005 Act 
was implemented, relate to the insertion of a new ground for refusal for a premises 
licence application by the 2015 Act. When a Licensing Board is determining an 
application and the Board considers that having regard to the licensing objectives, 
the applicant is not a fit and proper person to be a holder of a premises licence, then 
this is a ground for refusal.  Where the Board refuses a licence on the fit and proper 
person ground, or where granting a licence would be inconsistent with one or more 
of the licensing objectives, the Board must state the licensing objective that the 
ground relates to.  

 
8.38 In relation to the determination of a premises licence applications, the 2015 
Act amends section 23 to clarify that any conviction notice supplied by the chief 
constable and any antisocial behaviour report by the chief constable supplied to the 
Board, is relevant to the specific consideration of the new fit and proper test as well 
as to consideration of the existing ground for refusal that the granting of the 
application would be inconsistent with one or more of the licensing objectives. 

 
Fit and proper person test 
8.39 The 2005 Act as implemented did not contain a “fit and proper person test”  
but rather focussed on the use of relevant offences and foreign offences to assess 
the suitability of new applicants and existing licence holders, as well as providing the 
ability for people to object based on matters connected to the licensing objectives.  
 
8.40 Subsequent to the implementation of the 2005 Act, a range of stakeholders 
expressed the view that limiting consideration to relevant offences was unduly 
constraining to Licensing Boards who may have no choice but to grant licences to 
applicants that they consider to be a risk to the public.  

 

Page 101



 

 

8.41 This 2015 Act amendment provides greater scope to present information to 
Boards, and also provides Boards with greater powers to tackle crime, particularly 
serious organised crime, by allowing the consideration of a wider range of 
information including police intelligence and any associations with those deemed to 
be unsuitable.  

 
Applicant’s duty to notify Licensing Board of convictions 
8.42 The 2005 Act places a duty on anyone applying for a premises licences to 
notify, no later than one month after the date of the conviction, the Licensing Board 
of any convictions obtained whilst their application is pending.  A person who, 
without reasonable excuse, fails to do so commits an offence. A person found guilty 
of such an offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 
(£500) on the standard scale. 
 
8.43 The Licensing Board is required to suspend consideration of the application 
and give notice of the conviction to the Chief constable. 

 
8.44 Within 21 days of the receipt of a notice from a Licensing Board the Chief 
constable must respond to the Licensing Board either with: 

 

• (a) a notice stating that the Chief constable is unable to confirm the 
existence of the conviction or that the conviction does not relate to a 
relevant or foreign offence, or 

• (b) a notice confirming the existence of the conviction and that it relates to  
a relevant or foreign offence. 

If the Chief constable proposes to give a notice under subsection (b) above and 
considers that having regard to the conviction specified in the notice it is necessary 
for any of the licensing objectives that the application be refused then the Chief 
constable may include a recommendation to that effect. 
 
8.45 On receipt of this notice from the Chief constable, the Licensing Board must 
resume their consideration of the licence application and determine it in line with 
section 23 of the 2005 Act. 
 
Further application after refusal of premises licence application 
8.46 Under the 2005 Act, where a Licensing Board has refused an application for a 
premises licence, a subsequent licence in respect of the same premises cannot be 
made within a year of that refusal.  However the 2005 Act permits Licensing Boards, 
at the time of the initial refusal, to dispense with the one year limit, or where the limit 
has not been dispensed with, nonetheless to consider granting a re-application 
within the one year period where there has been a material change of 
circumstances. 
 
Issue of licence and summary 
8.47 Section 26(1) of the 2005 Act requires Licensing Boards, where they grant an 
application for a premises licence, to issue the applicant with a licence and a 
summary of the licence. Section 26(2) sets out the minimum information which must 
be contained in the licence (including: the name and address of (i) the holder of the 
licence, and (ii) the premises manager in respect of the premises to which the 
licence relates, and the date on which the licence takes effect). The Premises 

Page 102



 

 

Licence (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007 No. 452) as amended prescribe the 
form and content of the premises licence, the summary premises licence and the 
Disabled Access and Facilities Statement.  
 
Notification of change of name or address 
8.48 Section 48 of the 2005 Act makes provision for the notification  of certain 
changes to be made to the Licensing Board by the premises licence holder.  The 
Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010, the Police and Fire Reform 
(Scotland Act 2012 and the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland ) Act 2015 have 
made some textual changes to section 48 as enacted. 
 
8.49 Section 48 places a duty on the holder of a premises licence to notify the 
relevant Licensing Board of any change in: 

 

• the licence holders name and address, 

• the name and address of the premises manager specified in the licence, or 

• the name or address of any person who is a connected person in relation to 
the licence holder. 

The premises license holder must notify any such changes no later than one month 
after the change has happened.  A notification of change must be accompanied by 
the premises licence unless that is impracticable, in which case a statement of 
reasons for non-production of the premises licence must be provided.   

 
8.50 This notification process is meant to cover only actual name changes i.e. for 
example, where the licence holder is a company and changes its name, or the 
premises manager is a woman who changes her name on marriage. A change in the 
identity of the premises licence holder is provided for in the provisions on transfer of 
premises licences. If there is a new premises manager, this must be provided for by 
seeking a variation of the licence so as to add the new premises manager’s name.  
 
8.51 A premises licence holder who fails, without reasonable excuse to notify a 
Licensing Board commits an offence. A person guilty of such an offence is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale (£500). 

 
8.52 On receipt of a notification of change of name or address, a Licensing Board 
must give a copy of the notice to the chief constable.   

 
Licensing Board’s duty to update premises licence 
8.53 The aim of section 49 of the 2005 Act is to ensure that the information 
contained in a premises licence is kept up to date.  A Licensing Board is required to 
make appropriate changes to the information in a premises licence when it receives 
the notices of change of name or address and when it varies, transfers, confirms or 
reviews a premises licence. If necessary a Licensing Board is required to issue a 
new summary of the licence.  
 
8.54 Following amendments made by the Criminal Justice and Licensing 
(Scotland) Act 2010 and the Police and Fire Reform Act 2012, where a Licensing 
Board issues a new summary of the licence then it must send a copy to the chief 
constable. Where the Licensing Board is not in possession of a premises licence  
and: 

Page 103



 

 

 

• the licence has ceased to have effect under any provision in the 2005 Act, 
or 

• the Board requires the licence for the purposes of making the changes 
described above.  

• the Licensing Board may require the licence holder to produce the licence 
to it within 14 days from the date on which the requirement is notified. 

 
8.55 A  licence holder who fails, without reasonable excuse, to produce the licence 
to the Licensing Board within the required timeframe commits an offence.  A person 
found guilty of such an offence is liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not 
exceeding level 2 on the standard scale (£500). 
 
Conditions of premises licences 
 
Mandatory conditions 
8.56 All premises licences are subject to mandatory conditions set out in schedule 
3 of the 2005 Act, unless schedule 3 provides otherwise. The application of these 
mandatory conditions is intended to ensure national consistency on those matters 
specified in schedule 3.  The national mandatory licence conditions for premises 
licences issued under the 2005 Act on enactment related to the following areas: 
 

• compliance with the operating plan; 

• the premises manager; 

• authorisation of sales of alcohol 

• training of staff 

• pricing of alcohol 

• irresponsible drinks promotions 

• provision of non-alcoholic drinks 

• payment of annual or recurring fees 
 
8.57 A number of amendments have been made to schedule 3 as it was enacted 
by subordinate and primary legislation.  These are briefly set out below. 
 
Licensing (Mandatory Conditions) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI. 2007/457) 

• added two new mandatory conditions to schedule 3 relating to notices on 
the admission of under-18s and the provision of baby changing facilities.  

 
Licensing (Mandatory Conditions No. 2) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI. 
2007/546) 

• amended schedule 3 in two instances: imposed a training requirement ( in 
relation to the keeping of training records); and imposed restrictions on the 
areas within premises in which alcohol for consumption off the premises 
may be displayed. 

 
Licensing (Mandatory Conditions) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI. 2009/270)  

• amended the mandatory condition which restricts the display of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises by exempting from these restrictions visitor 

Page 104



 

 

attractions that mainly provided information about and promoted the 
history  and attributes of a particular alcoholic drink,  

 
Alcohol etc (Scotland) Act 2010 

• made a number of amendments to the mandatory condition which restricts 
the display of alcohol for consumption off the premises; and in relation to 
the display of branded non-alcoholic products (products that bear a name 
or image of an alcoholic product such as football tops, slippers, tea towels 
etc.) 

   

• inserted a new mandatory condition (section 6B) relating to the minimum 
price of a packages containing more than one alcoholic product.  

 

• amended the pricing of alcohol mandatory condition to provide that that in 
respect of sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises, the 72 hour 
restriction on varying prices is only maintained in relation to the price of 
individual products.  

 

• amended the irresponsible drinks promotion mandatory condition in two 
ways which resulted in “quantity discount” and similar promotions not 
being permitted for off-sales; and drinks promotions encouraging persons 
to buy or consume larger measures only applying to on-sales of alcohol. 

 

• Inserted a new mandatory condition that there must be an age verification 
policy in relation to the sale of alcohol on the premises. This section 
requires that all premises have an age verification policy with the age set 
at a minimum of 25.  

 
Alcohol Minimum Pricing (Scotland) Act 2012 

• Inserted a new paragraph 6A into schedule 3 and this mandatory condition 
is that alcohol must not be sold on the premises at a price below its 
minimum price. 

 
8.58 The current national mandatory licence conditions for premises licences 
issued under the 2005 Act as amended relate to the following areas: 
 

• compliance with the operating plan; 

• the premises manager; 

• authorisation of sales of alcohol 

• training of staff 

• pricing of alcohol 

• irresponsible drinks promotions 

• provision of non-alcoholic drinks 

• age verification policy 

• payment of annual or recurring fees 

• notices – admission of person under age of 18 

• baby changing facilities 

• display, or promotion of the sale of alcohol for consumption off the 
premises 

Page 105



 

 

Local conditions 
8.59 The 2005 Act provides a power for Boards to impose additional licence 
conditions to the mandatory conditions discussed above. This power could be used 
in circumstances where additional conditions were needed for the purposes of any of 
the five licensing objectives established by the 2005 Act and where some other form 
of activity not covered by schedule 3 was being undertaken on the premises. 
However, the legislation also provides that a Board may only impose additional 
licence conditions which do not run counter to the effect of national conditions, and 
which do not attempt to alter or add to those conditions to make them more onerous 
or restrictive.  
 
8.60 For example, Fife Licensing Board comment in its statement of licensing 
policy that: 

 

• “On any day when licensed hours extend beyond 2.00 a.m., whether by 
virtue of the Operating Plan, general extension or extended hours 
application, in premises used as nightclubs or to which the mandatory late 
night conditions apply, the Board will consider whether or not to impose 
the local conditions set out in Appendix 4(a). If applicants consider that 
any of the conditions should not apply to their premises they should be in a 
position to demonstrate to the Board why the condition is unnecessary.” 

 
8.61 Examples of the local conditions set out at Appendix 4(a) include: 
 

• “There shall be a 01:15 a.m. curfew with no admittance or re admittance to 
the premises by the public, patrons or prospective patrons after 01:15 a.m. 

 

• The licence holder shall arrange for litter patrols in the vicinity of the 
premises at the terminal hour. 

 

• Random searches will be used to check patrons for knives and other 
potential weapons, particularly when entering the premises”. 

 
8.62 For example in its statement of licensing policy, North Lanarkshire Council 
states: 
 

• “The Board generally imposes the “local conditions” detailed in Appendix D 
when it is indicated in an operating plan that children (as defined in the 
legislation) are to be admitted to licensed premises. The Board, however, 
consider individual representations and may after considering those 
representations decide either to delete some of the conditions or indeed 
add further conditions. 

 
Examples of the local conditions to be found at Appendix D include: 
 

• Children must not be permitted to operate any amusement with prizes or 
video machines which are in the licensed premises.  

• Non-glass drinking vessels must be available for children.  

• A minimum of two baby’s high chairs must be provided for very young 
children. 

Page 106



 

 

 
Variation of conditions 
8.63 Prior to the Alcohol etc (Scotland) Act 2010, a Board could only impose 
conditions in a premises licence when it granted a licence under section 27(6) of the 
2005 Act or if it reviewed a premises licence under sections 36-40 of the 2005 Act. In 
those circumstances it could only do so on a case by case basis.  
 
8.64 The Alcohol etc (Scotland) Act 2010 inserted a new section 27A into the 2005 
Act which enables Boards to vary the conditions of premises licences in respect of all 
the premises in its area or vary a category or group of licences in respect of matters 
prescribed by the Scottish Ministers. Examples of the matters that could be 
prescribed include a requirement for shatter proof glasses in all premises of a 
particular description, CCTV in all premises in a particular town that sell alcohol for 
consumption off the premises, or a requirement for a specific number of door staff in 
city centre establishments.  

 
8.65 A Board is only be able to exercise the power in section 27A if the Board 
considers it necessary or expedient for the purposes of any of the licensing 
objectives. Prior to making any such variation, a Board must do a number of things, 
namely:  

 

• publish a notice of any proposed variation in the manner prescribed in 
regulations made by the Scottish Ministers.  

• give notice of the proposed variation to premises licence-holders whose 
licences the proposed variation would apply to and to certain other 
persons including the local authority, relevant health board and the chief 
constable.  

• ensure the notice states that any persons may make representations to 
the Board about the proposed variation and set out the date by which such 
representations must be made.  

• requires that if a Board receives any representations, then it must hold a 
hearing in relation to the proposed variation. 

 
Duration of a premises licence 

 
8.66 Premises licences issued under the 2005 Act remain in effect indefinitely as 
long as the premises in question continue to be used for the purpose or purposes for 
which the licence was granted. However, the licence can be revoked if conditions are 
breached and the licence also ceases to have effect if the holder dies, becomes 
incapable, or insolvent unless a transfer is made under section 34. A licence holder 
may also choose to surrender a licence. 
 
Variation of a premises licence 
 
8.67 Provision is made within the 2005 Act, for a premises licence holder to apply, 
to the Board which originally granted the licence, for variations to the terms and 
conditions of the premises licence. The legislation also explains what is meant by a 
variation in relation to a premises licence for the purposes of the 2005 Act; namely a 
variation of: 
 

Page 107



 

 

• any of the conditions to which the licence is subject (other than those to 
which the licence is subject by schedule 3 (mandatory conditions)), 

• any of the information contained in the operating plan contained in the 
licence, 

• the layout plan contained in the licence, or 

• any other information contained or referred to in the licence, and includes 
an addition, deletion or other modification. 

 
8.68 For the purposes of the 2005 Act, a “minor variation” means— 
 

• any variation of the layout plan, if the variation does not result in any 
inconsistency with the operating plan, 

• where, under the operating plan contained in the licence, children or young 
persons are allowed entry to the premises, any variation reflecting any 
restriction or proposed restriction of the terms on which they are allowed 
entry to the premises, 

• any variation of the information contained in the licence relating to the 
premises manager (including a variation so as to substitute a new 
premises manager), and 

• any other variation of such description as may be prescribed for the 
purposes of this subsection (29(6)). 

 
8.69 The Licensing (Minor Variations) (Scotland) Regulations 2011 (SSI 2011/151) 
specify a number of variations which are to be treated as minor variations for the 
purposes of 29(6), namely: 
 

• where the name of the premises is disclosed in the premises licence, any 
change in that name; 

• a temporary or permanent reduction in the licensed hours which does not 
result in the premises opening any earlier or closing any later than stated 
in the premises licence and operating plan; 

• in relation to the access of children or young persons onto the premises 
any variation to the operating plan so as to — 
increase the minimum age at which children or young persons may be 
allowed onto the premises; 
reduce the times at which children or young persons are allowed onto 
the premises; 
restrict the access of children or young persons to certain parts of the 
premises; 

• any reduction in the capacity of the premises whether resulting from a 
variation to the layout plan or otherwise; 

• any variation resulting in the cessation of the provision of live or recorded 
music at a decibel level exceeding 85 decibels; 

• any variation to provide that, when the premises are fully occupied, more 
customers are likely to be seated than standing. 

 
Determination of a variation of a premises licence application 
8.70 If the application is for a minor variation then in line with section 30(2) of the 
2005 Act, a Board must grant the application.  If the application relates to a major 

Page 108



 

 

variation of the premises licence then section 30(3) places a duty on Boards to hold 
a hearing to consider the application. The legislation also requires that a Board’s 
decision must be based on the statutory grounds for refusal which are set out in 
subsection 30(5). These are similar to the grounds for refusal of an application for a 
premises licence discussed above. Boards can also make their own additional 
variations to the licence conditions where the Boards grants the variation applied for. 
 
Further application after refusal of application for variation 
8.71 The position here is the same as that outlined above in relation to a premise 
licence application.  In essence, a premises licence holder who has had an 
application for a variation refused is prevented from re-applying for the same 
variation within a year of the initial refusal. Section 32(3), however, permits Boards to 
dispense with the one year limit or, where the limit has not been dispensed with, 
nonetheless to consider granting a re-application within the one year period where 
there has been a material change of circumstances.  
 
Transfer of a premises licence 
 
8.72 The 2005 Act provides that an application to transfer a premises licence can 
be submitted to a Licensing Board by either the premises licence holder or the 
proposed transferee.   
 
Premises licence holder application 
8.73 Section 33 of the 2005 Act as enacted has been amended by the Criminal 
Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010, the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) 
Act 2012 and the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015. The key 
amendments are similar to those discussed above under a premises licence 
application.  These relate to a chief constable being able to recommend that an 
application be refused if this is necessary for the purpose of any of the licensing 
objectives and the introduction of the “fit and proper” person test as a ground for 
refusal of an application. 
 
8.74 A premises licence holder may apply to the appropriate Board for the transfer 
of the licence to the person named in the application - i.e. “the transferee”.  The 
transferee cannot be an individual under 18 years of age. On receipt of the 
application the Board must give notice of it and a copy of the application to the chief 
constable.  

 
8.75 The steps the chief constable is required to undertake on receipt of this notice 
are not dissimilar to those undertaken in relation to a premises licence application. In 
essence, within 21 days the chief constable needs to respond to the Board by way of 
a notice.  The notice either states that the transferee (or where the transferee is 
neither an individual or council) any connected person has been convicted of any 
relevant offence or foreign offence or it specifies any convictions for the 
aforementioned offences.  

 
8.76 If for  the purposes of any of the licensing objectives, the chief constable 
considers that the transfer of the premises application licence should be refused the 
chief constable may include such a recommendation.  As a result of the Air Weapons 
and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amendments, the chief constable can also 

Page 109



 

 

provide any information they consider relevant to the Board’s consideration of the  
application in relation to a transferee, a connected person in relation to the licence 
holder or an interested party in relation to the licensed premises, if the application for 
the transfer were to be granted. 

 
8.77 The procedure to be adopted by a Board on receipt of a chief constable’s 
notice depends on the content of that notice. Where: 
 

• the transferee has not been convicted of any relevant or foreign offence; 

• the chief constable has not recommended, for the purposes of any of the 
licensing objectives, that the application be refused; and  

• the chief constable has not provided any information in relation to the 
transferee, where the transferee is neither an individual nor a council, a 
connected person, or any person who would be an interested party in 
relation to the licenced premises if the transfer of the licence to the 
transferee were to be granted 

then the Board must grant the application.  In all other cases the Board must hold a 
hearing to consider and determine the application. 

 
8.78 Where a Board is required to hold a hearing then the Board must have regard 
to the information contained in the chief constable’s notice discussed above and if 
satisfied that a ground for refusal of the application applies, the Board should refuse 
the application. The grounds for refusal in this instance are: 
 

• that having regard to the licensing objectives, the transferee is not a fit and 
proper person to be the holder of a premises licence, 

• that it is otherwise necessary to refuse the application for the purposes of 
any of the licensing objectives. 

 
Transfer on application of person other than licence holder 
8.79 In terms of section 34 of the 2005 Act, an application for the transfer of a 
premises licence can be made by the proposed transferee (who cannot be a person 
under 18 years of age) rather than the premises licence holder. Such applications 
can only be made following certain events and by certain persons.   
 
8.80 Section 34(3) describes the events as: 

 

• the premises licence holder, being an individual who: 
(i) dies, or 
(ii) becomes incapable within the meaning of section 1(6) of the Adults 
with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000; 

• the premises licence holder, being an individual, a partnership or a 
company, becomes insolvent, 

• the premises licence holder, being a person other than an individual, a 
partnership or a company, is dissolved, and 

• the business carried on in the licensed premises to which the licence 
relates is transferred (whether by sale or otherwise) to another person. 

 
8.81 The License Transfer (Prescribed Persons) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 
2007 No.34) makes provision as to who may apply to a Board for a transfer of a 

Page 110



 

 

premises licence following the occurrence of each of the events listed at paragraph 
91. Namely: 
 

• Death: any executor or personal representative of the licence holder; 

• Incapacity: (a) any person who has been granted a power of attorney by 
the licence holder; or 
(b) any person authorised to act on behalf of the licence holder  by virtue 
of the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000; 

• Insolvency: any person acting as an insolvency practitioner within the 
meaning of section 388 of the Insolvency Act 1986 in relation to the 
licence holder; 

• Dissolution: any person responsible for administering the dissolution of the 
licence holder. 

• Transfer of business: any person to whom the business is transferred. 
 
8.82 An application for a transfer of a premises licence under section 34 must be 
made to the appropriate Board within 28 days of the occurrence of one of the events 
discussed at paragraph 91. The procedures for dealing with an application made 
under section are the same as those discussed above for section 33 applications. 
 
8.83 Section 35 makes provision for the scenario where a person applying for the 
transfer of a premises licence can apply at the same time for a variation to the terms 
and conditions of the premises licence to transfer of a premises licence also to apply 
at the same time for a variation to the terms and conditions of the premises licence. 
The text above in relation to the application to vary a premises licence and the 
determination of an application for a variation of a premises licence will apply to 
applications for variations under this section. 

 
8.84 If the proposed transfer of the premises licence depends on a variation being 
obtained to the licence then the person seeking the transfer is required to make this 
clear.  In such cases a Board must determine the application for variation prior to 
determining the application for transfer. If the variation is refused there is no need to 
proceed with the transfer application. 

 
Review of a premises licence 

 
8.85 Sections 36 to 40 of the 2005 Act make provision for the review of a premises 
licence.  A number of amendments have been made to the 2005 Act as enacted by 
the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 and (the majority) by the Air 
Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015. 
 
Application for a review 
8.86 Any person can submit a “premises licence review application” to the relevant 
Board regarding a licensed premises on any of the ground for review. The Air 
Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended section 36 of the 2005 Act  
by adding a third ground for review.  The grounds of review are:  
 

• (1) are that one or more of the conditions to which the premises licence is 
subject has been breached, or 

• (2) any other ground relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives or 

Page 111



 

 

• (3) not a “fit and proper person”  
 
8.87 Depending on which ground for review is noted on the application, certain 
information must also be provided: 

 

• (1) the condition or conditions alleged to have been breached. 

• (2) the licensing objective or objectives to which the alleged ground of 
review relates. 

• (3) a summary of the information on which the applicant's view that the 
alleged ground applies is based. 

 
8.88 A Licensing Standards Officer (LSO) is only able to apply for a review on the 
ground that there has been a breach of licence conditions if the LSO has issued a 
written warning about the breach and the LSO is not satisfied with the action taken 
by the licensed premises holder in response to the written warning. 
 
8.89 The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 further amended section 
36 to clarify that any person who makes a premises licence review application may 
include any information in that application that the person considers relevant to the 
Licensing Board’s consideration of the alleged ground of review.  This could include 
information relating to the licence holder, connected persons in relation to the licence 
holder or an interested party in relation to the licensed premises.  

 
8.90 A Licensing Board may reject a premises licence review application if the 
Board considers the application: 

 

• is vexatious or frivolous, or 

• does not disclose any matter relevant to any ground for review. 
If a Licensing Board rejects an application on one of the grounds mentioned above 
then it must give notice of the decision, and the reason for it to the applicant.  
Provision is also made for a Board to recover, from the applicant, any expenses  
incurred by the Board  in considering a vexatious or frivolous application.  
 
Review of premises licence on Licensing Board’s initiative 
8.91 Section 37 allows for Licensing Boards to initiate reviews of premises licences 
themselves. The grounds for review are the same as those for applications under 
section 36 (discussed above). Where a Licensing Board proposes to initiate a review 
of a premises licence, the Board must provide a written report - known as a review 
proposal -  setting out the grounds that it considers merit such a review of the 
premises licence. An Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act  2015 amendment 
provides that  a Board’s proposal may include information that the Board considers 
relevant to its consideration of the alleged ground of review, in relation to the licence 
holder, connected persons in relation to the licence holder or interested parties in 
relation to the licenced premises. 
 
Review Hearing 
8.92 Section 38 of the 2005 Act requires a Licensing Board to hold a review 
hearing and determine an application for a review of a premises licence made under 
section 36 (or a review proposal under section 37.  As discussed above, the Board 

Page 112



 

 

does not need to hold a review hearing if it considers the application is frivolous or 
vexatious or if it is not relevant to the grounds for review.  
 
8.93 In terms of notification of a review, the Licensing Board is required: 
 

• in the case of a premises licence review application to give notice of the 
hearing to the applicant, and  

• give notice of the hearing and a copy of the premises licence review 
proposal or application to the licence holder and any LSO for the area in 
which the licenced premises are located (unless in the case of a premises 
licence review the LSO is the applicant)  

 
8.94 As discussed earlier in the guidance, where an LSO receives a copy of a 
premises licence review proposal or application, the LSO must prepare and submit a 
report on the proposal or application to the Board before any hearing takes place.  
The Licensing Board must take account of this report at the hearing.  Additionally a 
Licensing Board is empowered to request information, the attendance at a hearing of 
any person and the production of documents. 
 
8.95 A Licensing Board has a range of sanctions that it may elect to impose on 
reviewing a premise licence. These are set out at section 39 of the 2005 Act as 
amended by the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015.  These steps are 
to: 

 

• issue a written warning to the licence holder, 

• make a variation of the licence; may only apply for a period decided by the 
Board, 

• suspend the licence for whatever period the Board may decide, 

• revoke the licence. 
Section 39 also provides that where a Licensing Board is satisfied at a hearing that 
the licence holder fails the “fit and proper” test then the Licensing Board must revoke 
the premises licence. Subject to the revocation of a licence being recalled, a 
revocation takes effect at the end of the period of 28 days beginning with the day the 
Board made the decision to revoke the premises licence. 

 
8.96 The 2005 Act as enacted has been amended by the Criminal Justice and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 and the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 
2015 in relation to a Licensing Board giving notice of a decision made at a premises 
licence review hearing. The 2010 Act inserted a new provision (section 39A 
Notification of determinations) into the 2005 Act and this provision was subsequently 
amended by the 2015 Act. 
 
8.97 The rationale for the 2010 Act amendment was to seek to improve the 
transparency of the premises licence review process provided for in the 2005 Act. It 
ensures that 

 

• adequate notification of a licensing board’s decision following a review 
hearing is given to the licence holder and to the person who applied for a 
review.   

Page 113



 

 

• when a licensing board takes action against a licence holder following a 
review hearing, the licence holder is able to request a statement of 
reasons from the board –as already happened in the case of a premises 
licence application.   

• a statement of reasons can be requested by a person who applies for a 
review of the licence, whether or not any action is taken by the board 
following the review hearing. 

The 2015 Act textual amendments were a result of the introduction of the fit and 
proper person test as a ground for refusal. 
 
8.98 The 2005 Act provides (section 40) a mechanism by which a licence holder 
can apply to the Licensing Board to have any variation of their premises licence or 
the suspension of their premises licence removed. If the Board feels that the 
sanction in question is no longer necessary then, in the case of these two sanctions 
only, it may remove the relevant sanction.  
 
Recall of revocation of licence  
 
8.99 The 2015 Act inserted section 39B which provide for the recall of a revocation 
of a licence under section 39(2A). This amendment and the amendment which 
inserted 28 days are linked to the “fit and proper person”, also introduced by the 
2015 Act.  As noted during the parliamentary passage of the then Air Weapons and 
Licensing (Scotland) Bill, the bill on introduction had provided for the immediate 
revocation of a premises licence on the grounds that, having regard to the licensing 
objectives, the licence holder is not a fit-and-proper person to be the  holder of a 
premises licence.  
 
8.100 Concerns had been raised been raised that without alternative disposals 
available to it, the board might be reluctant to find that a person is not fit and proper 
to hold a premises licence. To address these concerns, two amendments were 
brought forward at Stage 2 of the parliamentary process.  One amendment provided 
that a revocation under the licensing board’s powers of review would take effect at 
the end of a period of 28 days beginning on the day on which the board makes the 
decision. The rationale being that this provided a short period of grace in which the 
licence holder may take action to address the problems that led to the board making 
the findings. 

 
8.101 The second and related amendment inserted a new section (section 39B) 
into the 2005 act.  This section provides that when a licensing board has taken steps 
to revoke a premises licence on the ground that the licence holder is not a fit-and-
proper person, the board must recall the  revocation if the relevant application is 
made  within that 28-day period and the board ultimately  grants the relevant 
application. These provisions enable Boards to take robust action when a licence 
holder is found not to be a fit-and-proper person and they offer reasonable traders 
the opportunity to take prompt action to address the board’s concerns and retain 
their licence.  

 
  

Page 114



 

 

Conviction of licence holders etc. for relevant or foreign offences 
 

8.102 Relevant and foreign offences are discussed above.  A premises licence 
holder who is charged with relevant offences is required to notify the court of the fact 
that they hold a premises licence. Failure to do so, within the timescales set out in 
section 41, and without reasonable excuse means the person is committing  an 
offence. A person found guilty of such an offence is liable on summary conviction to 
a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale (£500).   
 
8.103 The notification required under section 41 enables the clerk of the court to  
comply with the duty imposed on them by section 42 of the 2005 Act – namely to 
give notice of the conviction to the Licensing Board. The duty only applies if the clerk 
is aware that the person convicted holds a premises licence.  

 
Provisional and temporary premises licences 
 
Provisional premises licence 
8.104 A premises licence application  can be made in relation to premises which 
are being constructed or converted for use as licensed premises. A premises licence 
granted for such premises is referred to as a “provisional premises licence”. Section 
45 of the 2005 Act modifies certain provisions of the 2005 Act as they apply to 
applications for provisional premises licences. For example, the name of the 
premises manager need not be provided on the provisional premises licence 
application. 
 
8.105 A provisional premises licence has no effect until it is confirmed. The 
Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 amended the 2005 Act as 
enacted to increase the 2 year period  in which a premises licence must be 
confirmed to 4 years. If the licence is  not confirmed within this period it will be 
automatically  revoked  The 4 year period can be extended if the construction or 
conversion work is delayed for reasons outwith the licence holder’s control. 

 
8.106 Section 46 of the 2005 Act sets out the procedure for the confirmation of 
provisional premises licences. The licence holder has to apply for confirmation to the 
Licensing Board before the end of the 4 year period beginning when the licence was 
issued. Confirmation would, in practice, be sought when the construction or 
conversion work is completed and the premises are ready for use.  

 
8.107 Applications for confirmation of provisional premises licence must be 
accompanied by:   

 

• the provisional premises licence, 

• the operating plan for the premises to which the licence relates (which 
must confirm the name of the premises manager), 

• the layout plan for the premises, and 

• the certificates required by section 50(3) [i.e. planning, building and food 
hygiene]. 

 
8.108 On receipt of an application, a Licensing Board must confirm the premises 
licence where, during the period of the provisional licence, there has been no 

Page 115



 

 

variation  to the operating plan or layout plan (other than a variation approved by the 
Board already or classed as a minor variation) for the premises to which the licence 
relates.  When confirming a premises licence, the Board may, to ensure consistency 
with any statement of licensing policy or any supplementary statement of licensing 
policy published since the licence was issued, vary any licence condition.    
 
Temporary premises licence 
8.109 Section 47 of the 2005 Act covers the scenario where premises which 
already have a premises licence are undergoing reconstruction or conversion work.  
It may be that the licence holder wishes to move into temporary premises.  The 2005 
Act enables the licence holder to apply to the Licensing Board for a premises licence 
covering the temporary premises, i.e.  a temporary premises licence.  
 
8.110 Section 47 as enacted was amended by the Criminal Justice and Licensing 
(Scotland) Act  2010 and the  Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012.  These 
amendments require a Licensing Board to send a copy of the temporary premises 
licence to the Chief constable. The policy rationale here being it is important for the 
police to be made aware of the licensing conditions attached to each licence in order 
for the conditions of that licence to be properly enforced. 

 
8.111 A temporary licence has effect for a period, not longer than 2 years 
beginning with the date of its issue, as a Licensing Board may determine. The  
temporary premises licence is subject to the same conditions to which the premises 
licence is subject to at the time the temporary licence is issued, subject to any 
exceptions or modification which the Licensing Board may provide for. 

 
Premises licences – miscellaneous matters 
 
Duty to keep, display and produce premises licence 
8.112 The 2005 Act provides that a premises licence holder is under a duty to 
ensure that the premises licence or a certified copy is held on the premises to which 
it relates either by the licence holder or by the premises manager. A summary of the 
licence must be displayed prominently on the premises.  
 
8.113 It is an offence to fail to comply with these requirements or to fail to produce 
the licence or a certified copy to a police constable or a Licensing Standards Officer 
on request. A person who fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with  a 
requirement made under section 52 commits an offence.  A person guilty of an 
offence under this section is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding 
level 3 (£1,000) on the standard scale. 

 
Theft, loss etc. of premises licence or summary 
8.114 Provision is made within the 2005 Act for a premises licence holder to apply 
to the Licensing Board for a copy of a premises licence or a summary if the licence 
or summary has been lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed. If lost or stolen, the theft 
or loss must have been reported to the police by the premises licence holder.  
 
8.115 If the relevant Licensing Board is satisfied that the premises licence or 
summary licence has been lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed, and the licence 
holder has made the necessary report to the Police then the Licensing Board must 

Page 116



 

 

issue to the licence holder a replacement licence or, as the case may be, a 
replacement summary. The “replacement” document should be in the form in which 
the document existed immediately before it was lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed, 
and should be “certified”. by the Licensing Board as a true copy. 

 
Notifications of determinations  
 
8.116 The 2005 Act places a duty on the Licensing Board to notify its decisions on 
applications for premises licences, applications for variations of a premises licence, 
transfer applications, reviews, applications for a temporary licence, and applications 
for provisional premises to the applicant and other specified persons (i.e. the Chief 
constable and in the case of the grant or refusal of a premises licence application 
any person who gave a notice of objections or representations under section 22 (10) 
of the 2005 Act.  
 
8.117 It is open to any of the aforementioned parties, within 14 days of receiving 
notice of the Board’s decision,  to ask the clerk of the Licensing Board for a 
statement of reasons for the grant or refusal of the application. The Licensing 
(Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI  2007/453) sets out the format (at 
Schedule 4) of the statement of reasons which the clerk of the Board requires to 
issue within 14 days of the receipt of the request for a statement of reasons.  Any 
statement of reasons issued must be sent to the person who asked for it  and any 
other person to whom the Board gave notice under subsection (1). 
 
 
 

Page 117



 

 

9. OCCASIONAL LICENCES  
 
Introduction 
 
9.1 This Chapter provides guidance on occasional licences which are licences which 
authorise the sale of alcohol. Occasional licences can be granted by Licensing 
Boards on application from a premises licence holder, a personal licence holder and 
a representative of any voluntary organisation. For example, for a premises licence 
holder this would be to authorise the sale of alcohol in the course of catering for an 
event taking place out with their licensed premises. Voluntary organisations may also 
apply for an occasional licence authorising the sale of alcohol at an event connected 
with the organisation’s activities.  
 
9.2 An occasional licence may not exceed a period of 14 days. The Licensing 
(Fees) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/553) provides that the fee payable in 
respect of an occasional licence application is £10.  Occasional licences are distinct 
from premises licences (see Chapter 8, for more information on a premises licence) 
and where an occasional licence has effect in relation to a premises, a premises 
licence is not necessary.  Licensing Boards will wish to note that the Air Weapons 
and Licensing (Scotland) Act (section 75) amended the 2005 Act such that those in 
possession of an occasional licence issued under section 56 of the 2005 Act will no 
longer be exempt from public entertainment licensing requirements (set out in the 
Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982). 

 
Procedure 
 
Notification of application  
9.3 Licensing Boards are required to consider applications for occasional licences 
in line with the provisions set out at Part 4 of the 2005 Act and the Licensing 
(Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/453). The regulations cover, 
amongst other matters, procedures and timescales in connection with the processing 
of applications for occasional licences.   
 
9.4 The legislation requires that prior to determining an occasional licence 
application a Licensing Board must within 7 days of receiving it give notice of it, 
together with a copy of the application to the chief constable and the Licensing 
Standards Officer. On the day of notification, or as soon as reasonably practical 
thereafter, to these parties, a Licensing Board must publish details of the application 
on its website for a continuous period of 7 days. Inverclyde Licensing Board is an 
example of one Licensing Board which has a dedicated page on its website where 
interested parties can find information about occasional licence applications and 
objection forms can also be downloaded.   

 
9.5 The Licensing Standards Officer may, within 21 days of receipt of notice of an 
application, prepare and submit a report setting out their comments on the 
application, which may include recommendations for additional conditions to be 
attached by the Licensing Board. 

 
9.6 The Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 amended the 2005 
Act to enable the fast tracking of some occasional licences where there is very 

Page 118



 

 

limited notice of the need for such a licence e.g. a funeral.  This amendment reduces 
the length of time a Licensing Board is required to wait for comments on an 
occasional licence application from the Licensing Standards Officer from 21 days to 
a period of not less than 24 hours. This applies where the Licensing Board is 
satisfied that the application requires to be dealt with quickly and the shortened time 
period is not being requested in order to pressurise the Licensing Board into granting 
a licence. 

 
Objections and representations  
9.7 Section 58 of the 2005 Act allows any person (including Police Scotland) to 
make objections and representations to Licensing Boards in connection with any 
application made to the Licensing Board for an occasional licence under section 56 
of the 2005 Act. For example, Police Scotland may wish to raise objections due to 
concerns about the scale, location or timing of the event. Any notice of objection or 
representation must be made to the Licensing Board within the 7 day period the 
occasional licence application has been published on the Licensing Board website. 
 
9.8 Any person, by giving notice to the Licensing Board, may object to an 
occasional licence application  on any ground relevant to one of the grounds for 
refusal  or make representations to the Licensing Board in support of the occasional 
licence application, or as to conditions which the persons considers should be 
imposed.  

 
9.9 Licensing Boards are also required by section 58 to give the occasional 
licence applicant notice of any objections or representations and to take account of 
them in determining the application. Section 58 also permits Licensing Boards to 
reject any frivolous or vexatious objection or representation and sets out how a 
Licensing Board may recover from the person who gave the notice any expenses 
incurred by it in considering the notice.  

 
9.10 Licensing Boards may wish to highlight to event organisers – perhaps through 
information on their websites - that due to the possibility of police intervention and/or 
public representations, that event organisers should not rely on giving the minimum 
amount of notice.  Event organisers will wish to be aware of the importance of early 
engagement with for example local police licensing officers to discuss proposals for 
their event.   

 
Determination of occasional licence application 
9.11 The Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 amended the 2005 
Act in relation to the delegation of the functions of Licensing Boards to extend the 
ability to delegate approval of occasional licences applications to the Clerk of the 
Licensing Board or a member of support staff where no objections or representations 
are lodged. 
 
9.12 Where no report from a Licensing Standards Officer, or notification of 
objection or representation under the relevant provisions of the 2005 Act have been 
received by a Licensing Board, then section 59 of the 2005 Act provides that an 
occasional licence application must be granted unless the application requires to be 
refused under: 

Page 119



 

 

• section 56(6A) of the 2005 Act – where the occasional licence application 
would result in the occasional licence limit being exceeded then the 
Licensing Board must refuse the application. For example, the occasional 
licence limit for voluntary organisations is set out at section 56(6) of the 
2005 Act. 
  

• section 64(2) of the 2005 Act -  a Licensing Board must refuse any 
occasional licence application seeking a “24 hour licence” unless it is 
satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances which justify allowing 
the sale of alcohol on the premises during such a period. 
 

• Section 65(3) of the 2005 Act – a Licensing Board must refuse an 
occasional licence application  where the off sale hours proposed in the 
application are such that alcohol would be sold for consumption outside 
before 10am and/or after 10pm. 

 
9.13 In any other case, for example where a representation has been received, 
section 59(3) of the 2005 Act provides that the Licensing Board must consider 
whether any of the grounds for refusal applies and: 
 

• if none of them applies then the application must be granted; or 
 

• if any of them applies, the application must be refused. 
 
The Licensing Board may hold a hearing for the purposes of determining any 
application under section 59(3) of the 2005 Act.  Where the Licensing Board does not 
hold a hearing for that purpose, it must ensure that, before determining the application, 
the applicant is given an opportunity to comment on any notice of objection, 
representation or the Licensing Standards Officer’s report. 
 
9.14 The grounds for refusal are: 
 

• that the premises to which the application relates are excluded premises  
 

• that the application must be refused under section 56(6A), 64(2) or 65(3) 
of the Act;  
 

• that the Licensing Board considers the granting of the application would be 
inconsistent with one or more of the licensing objectives; 

 

• that, having regard to: 
o the nature of the activities proposed to be carried on in the premises to 

which the application relates; 
o the location, character and condition of the premises; and 
o the persons likely to frequent the premises; 

 
the Licensing Board considers that the premises are unsuitable for use for the 
sale of alcohol.  

 
 

Page 120



 

 

9.15 In determining any application the Licensing Board must take into account 
any report from a Licensing Standards Officer under section 57(3) of the Act. 
 
9.16 Whether the Licensing Board grants or refuses an occasional licence, they 
must give notice of the grant or refusal to the applicant, chief constable, any 
Licensing Standards Officer for the area and any person who may have given any 
notice of objection or representation in respect of the application.  Any person who 
receives such notice may request, from the Clerk of the Licensing Board, a 
statement of reasons to be given to them by the Licensing Board. 

 
Conditions and occasional licences 
 
9.17 Schedule 4 to the 2005 Act establishes the national mandatory licence 
conditions for occasional licences issued under this statute, ensuring national 
consistency on those issues provided for. Licensing Boards may also impose other 
conditions – in addition to the mandatory conditions - as they consider necessary or 
expedient for the purposes of any of the licensing objectives.  In particular, those are 
conditions requiring anything to be done, or prohibiting or restricting the doing of 
anything, in connection with either: 
 

• the sale of alcohol on the premises in respect of which  an occasional 
licence has effect; or 

 

• any other activity carried on in such premises 
 
9.18 For example, Clackmannanshire Licensing Board’s statement of licensing 
policy 2018 comments that: 
 

• “In the event that an applicant seeks a licence for an eighteenth birthday 
party, the Board if minded to grant the application will impose additional 
conditions regulating entry and the sale of alcohol to reduce the risk of 
harm caused to young persons in attendance through consumption of 
excess alcohol. It will generally be recommended that the Board impose a 
condition requiring the employment of SIA licensed stewards for these 
types of events. Applicants should have regard to these considerations 
when applying for occasional licences for such events and should ensure 
that the organisers are aware of the Board's likely requirements.” 

 
9.19 South Ayrshire Licensing Board is one example of a Licensing Board’s 
statement of licensing policy which sets out, at Appendix 4, thirteen conditions which 
may be attached to an occasional licence.  For example, condition 2 is that no under 
eighteens to be allowed in the main Bar area.  The licensing objectives being 
promoted here are “preventing crime and disorder” and “protecting children from 
harm”.   
 
9.20 A Licensing Board may not impose a condition which: 
 

• is inconsistent with any mandatory or prescribed condition; 
 

Page 121



 

 

• would have the effect of making any such condition more onerous or more 
restrictive; or  

 

• relates to a matter (such as planning, building control or food hygiene) which 
is regulated under another enactment. 

 
Repeated occasional licence applications 
 
9.21 The occasional licensing system is intended to provide flexibility in the system 
regulating the sale of alcohol that otherwise would result in more onerous 
requirements falling on those wishing to, on a temporary basis, sell alcohol. 
Occasional licences are not intended as a substitute for premises licences. 
 
9.22 With this in mind, Licensing Boards will wish to consider utilising appropriate 
processes which are capable of identifying instances where it appears there is an 
attempt to operate premises under a series of consecutive occasional licences, 
rather than obtaining an appropriate premises licence.  If such circumstances are 
identified, Licensing Boards may wish to consider it good practice to ask the 
applicant to explain why an application for a premises licence is not being made. 

 
9.23 It is for the Licensing Board to determine what the process for this would be. 
For example one Licensing Board – South Lanarkshire Licensing Division Number 1 
(Clydesdale area) – has set out in its statement of licensing policy 2018 the 
approach it will take: 

 

• “Repeated applications for an Occasional Licences for the same unlicensed 
premises and which are:-  

o Not for detailed specific events; and/or 
o For activities that have been occurring (either in identical or largely 

similar terms) on the premises regularly for period of at least three 
months;  

 will not generally be considered to be suitable for the grant of an Occasional 
 Licence and will not be granted by the Board under delegated authority but will 
 require a hearing before the Board.  The Board expects such premises to be 
 operating under a premises licence.”   

 
9.24 A Licensing Board may also look to the duration of occasional licences for a 
single premises over a 12 month period and suggest a policy whereby the Licensing 
Board becomes directly involved in the consideration of further occasional licences 
at that premises.  For example, one Licensing Board – Perth & Kinross – has 
commented in its statement of licensing policy 2018 that:  
 

• “The Board considers it reasonable for occasional licences covering up to 
30 days (including into the following mornings) to be granted in any one 
calendar year for a single premise. Where more than 30 days are sought, 
the Board expects a premises licence application to be submitted. Failure 
to do so may result in all further occasional licence applications being 
submitted to the Board for consideration rather than being dealt with under 
delegated powers. This does not apply to places such as village halls 
where different organisations use the same premise”. 

Page 122



 

 

Extension of licensed hours 
 
9.25 The licensed hours for occasional licences require to be set out in the 
application for the licence and incorporated into the licence if granted. Section 67 of 
the 2005 Act provides Licensing Boards with a power to grant general extensions to 
licensed hours in connection with special events of local or national significance.  
However, licensed premises are not obliged to remain open for the period of any 
such extension. Section 68 of the 2005 Act which makes provision for extended 
hours applications does not apply to occasional licences. 
 
Members’ clubs  
 
9.26 By virtue of section 56(1) of the 2005 Act, the usual position is that an 
occasional licence may not be issued in respect of a premises which is already 
licenced. However, there is an exception to this in respect of a club falling within the 
description of regulation 2 of the Licensing (Clubs) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 
2007/76). The fact a premises licence is in effect in respect of such a club does not 
prevent an occasional licence being issued in respect of the club.  This means, for 
example, that a members club which under its premises licence is normally only 
allowed to supply alcohol to its members and their guests, may during the period 
covered by the occasional licence admit members of the public and sell alcohol to 
them.  
 
9.27 When an occasional licence has effect in terms of the premises, the 
conditions of the premises licence temporarily do not apply (see regulation 3(3) of 
SSI 2007/76) and the conditions of the occasional licence apply instead. This means 
that sales of alcohol are permitted on the club premises to persons who are not 
members or accompanied by a member.  Such occasional licences could for 
example be used for community events. When the occasional licence ceases to 
have effect then the conditions attached to the premises licence once more come 
into effect. 

 
9.28 Licensing Boards are restricted in the number of occasional licences they can 
issue in respect of a members’ club. Regulation 3(2) of SSI 2007/76 provides that: 
 

• a Licensing Board may issue in respect of those premises in any period of 
12 months– 

• (a) not more than 4 occasional licenses each having effect for a 
period of 4 days or more, and 

• (b) not more than 12 occasional licences each having effect for a 
period of less than 4 days, 

provided that, in any period of 12 months, the total number of days on 
which occasional licences issued in respect of the premises have effect 
does not exceed 56. 

 
Voluntary organisations 
 
9.29 An application for an occasional licence can also be made by a 
representative of a voluntary organisation.  Paragraph 5 of schedule 4 (occasional 
licences: mandatory conditions) to the 2005 Act applies only to occasional licences 

Page 123



 

 

issued to voluntary organisations and ensures that alcohol may only be sold at 
events run in connection with the organisations’ activities. 
 
9.30 Licensing Boards are restricted in the number of occasional licences they can 
issue in respect of voluntary organisations. Section 56(6) of the 2005 Act provides 
that: 
 

• a Licensing Board may issue in respect of that organisation in any period 
of 12 months– 

• (a) not more than 4 occasional licenses each having effect for a period 
of 4 days or more, and 

• (b) not more than 12 occasional licences each having effect for a 
period of less than 4 days, 

provided that, in any period of 12 months, the total number of days on which 
occasional licences issued in respect of the organisation have effect does not 
exceed 56. 

 
9.31 Many voluntary organisations will not have commercial backgrounds or ready 
access to legal advice.  They will include, for example, individuals acting on behalf 
of charities, community and voluntary groups, schools, churches and hospitals all of 
which may stage public events at which the sale of alcohol may take place.  It is 
critical that Licensing Boards ensure that local publicity about the system of 
occasional licences is clear and Licensing Boards should strive to keep the 
arrangements as manageable and user-friendly as possible for these groups. 
 
 

Page 124



 

 

10. Personal Licenses 
 
Introduction 
 
10.1 This Chapter provides information on personal licences.  Part 6 of the 2005 Act sets 
out the legislative framework which applies to personal licences.  
 
10.2 Any person aged 18 years or over may apply for a personal licence provided 
they possess a relevant training qualification and have not been convicted of any 
relevant offence or forfeited a licence in the past 5 years. The Air Weapons and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 amended the 2005 Act to provide for an exception to 
the aforementioned 5 year period. If a personal licence is revoked for failure to 
comply with the training requirement (see below), the licence holder will not have to 
wait 5 years to reapply for a personal licence.  

 
10.3 Application forms and associated guidance notes can be downloaded from 
Licensing Boards’ website pages. A personal licence allows the individual to train 
staff, apply for occasional licences and to authorise or supervise the sale of alcohol. 
Once granted a personal licence will have effect for a period of 10 years unless it is 
surrendered or revoked by the Licensing Board.  

 
10.4 Section 9 of the 2005 Act requires a Licensing Board to keep a public register 
containing information relating to licences issued by the Licensing Board and 
decisions taken by it. The Licensing Register (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 
2007/33) make specific provision as to the personal licence information that should 
be entered in the public register.   

 
10.5 An individual may hold only one personal licence at a time. Licensing Boards 
may not issue a personal licence to any person who already holds such a licence 
and any subsequent personal licence issued would be void. The 2005 Act does 
however allow for an existing personal licence holder to apply for the renewal of their 
licence and so no person should apply for a new personal licence on the basis that 
their current licence is reaching the ten year point. 

 
10.6 The Licensing (Fees) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/553) as 
amended provide that the fee payable in respect of a personal licence application 
and a personal licence renewal application is £50. Licensing Boards can determine 
the fee charged for a replacement personal licence subject to the general rule that 
fees should be set at a level which allows the Licensing Board to recover their costs. 

 
10.7 Personal licences granted in England and Wales are not transferrable to 
Scotland and vice versa as the licensing and legal systems are different. Within 
Scotland, a personal licence granted by one Licensing Board may be used within 
another Licensing Board’s local authority area.  

 
Premises Manager 
10.8 Each premises must have a “premises manager” who is named on the 
premises licence as the person responsible for running that premises. In terms of the 
mandatory premises licence condition set out at Schedule 3 of the 2005 Act, a 

Page 125



 

 

premises manager is required to hold a personal licence (see Chapter 8 for more 
information on premises licences).    
 
Grant and Renewal 
 
Notification 
10.9 Prior to considering a personal licence application, Licensing Boards are 
required by the 2005 Act to notify and provide a copy of the application to the chief 
constable and (following an amendment to the 2005 Act by the Air Weapons and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015) to the Licensing Standards Officer for their locality. 
 
10.10 This is an important information gathering process for Licensing Boards as 
the chief constable is required to confirm to the Licensing Board, within 21 days of 
the date of receipt of the notification, whether or not the applicant has been  
convicted of a relevant offence or foreign offence.   

 
10.11 Section 129 of the 2005 Act states that for the purposes of the Act, a 
“foreign offence”  means any offence: under the law of any place other than 
Scotland; and which is similar in nature to any relevant offence. Section 129 also 
provides the Scottish Ministers with a power to prescribe by regulations what 
offences are to count as a “relevant offence” in the 2005 Act. The Licensing 
(Relevant Offences) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/513) specify those 
offences which are to be relevant offences for the purposes of the 2005 Act 
(regulation 2 and the Schedule). 

 
10.12 Additionally the chief constable has the opportunity to recommend to the 
Licensing Board that the personal licence application should be refused on grounds 
relating to the 5 licensing objectives (inserted by the Criminal Justice and Licensing 
(Scotland) Act 2010) and/or to provide any further information to the Licensing Board 
that the chief constable considers relevant to their consideration of the application 
(inserted by the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015).  

 
10.13 The notification process also provides the Licensing Standards Officer, with 
an opportunity to pass within 21 days any information in relation to the applicant that 
s/he considers would be relevant to the Licensing Board’s consideration of the 
application. For example, this could include reference to previous conduct by the 
applicant that was inconsistent with the 5 licensing objectives.   

 
Determination of personal licence application  
10.14 Section 74 sets out the procedure that Licensing Boards must undertake 
when considering personal licence applications. Licensing Boards can delegate the 
determination of a personal licence application to: any member of the Board; any 
committee established by the Board; the clerk of the Board or a member of support 
staff unless the applicant has been convicted of a relevant or foreign offence. 
 
10.15 A number of amendments have been made to section 74 since the 2005 Act 
was implemented. The key changes have been made by the Air Weapons and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015.  The changes made - along with the changes 
mentioned above – are linked to the re-introduction of a “fit and proper” test into the 
alcohol licensing regime.  

Page 126



 

 

 
10.16 The introduction of this test allows greater scope to present information to 
Licensing Boards which in turn will aid them when making decisions about 
applicants, licence holders and connected persons. It also provides Licensing 
Boards with greater powers to tackle crime, particularly serious organised crime, by 
allowing the consideration of a wider range of information including police 
intelligence and any associations with those deemed to be unsuitable. 

 
10.17 In essence if the conditions set out at section 74(2) and section 74(3) are all 
met, in relation to the applicant, then a Licensing Board must grant the application.  If 
any of these conditions are not met, in relation to the applicant, then the Licensing 
Board must refuse the application.  

 
10.18 Provision is also made within section 74 for a Licensing Board to hold a 
hearing to determine whether or not a licence application will be granted. Whether or 
not a hearing will be held is generally dependent on the conditions at sections 74(2) 
and (3) being met and the content of the notice(s) above) submitted to the Licensing 
Board by the chief constable and/or the Licensing Standards Officer. 

 
10.19 A Licensing Board must hold a hearing to determine a personal licence 
application where the conditions in 74(2) and (3) have all been met but the chief 
constable’s notice contains a recommendation that s/he considers that it is 
necessary for the purposes of any of the licensing objectives that the personal 
licence application be refused.  

 
10.20 There are two situations set out in section 74 where a Licensing Board may 
hold a hearing to determine a personal licence application provided all the conditions 
set out in sections 74(2) and (3) are met.  These are: 

 

• a notice from the chief constable specifying any convictions of the 
applicant for a relevant or foreign offence but the notice does not contain a 
recommendation that for the purposes of the licensing objectives the 
application should be refused; or 
 

• a notice from the chief constable does not contain a recommendation that 
for the purposes of the licensing objectives the application should be 
refused but either the chief constable and/or the Licensing Standards 
Officer provides information that they consider may be relevant to 
consideration by the Licensing Board of the application.   

 
10.21 Where a hearing is held, then the Licensing Board must have regard to the 
notices and information submitted by the chief constable and/or the Licencing 
Standards Officer when considering and determining a personal licence application. 
If the Licensing Board is satisfied that a ground for refusal applies, it should refuse 
the application, or if not so satisfied, grant the application. 
 
The grounds for refusal are - 

 

• that having regard to the licensing objectives, the applicant is not a fit and 
proper person to be the holder of a personal licence, 

Page 127



 

 

 

• that it is otherwise necessary to refuse the application for any of the 
purposes of the licensing objectives. 

 
10.22 There is a further occasion provided by section 74 when a Licensing Board 
may hold a hearing to consider and determine a personal licence application. This 
relates to an amendment to the 2005 Act made by the Criminal Justice and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010. The amendment enables a Licensing Board to refuse 
the application or hold a hearing to decide whether or not to grant the application, if 
the applicant already holds a personal licence or if a previous personal licence held 
by the applicant had been surrendered or expired in the previous three years before 
a new application was made.  
 
10.23 If a hearing is held, the Licensing Board can grant or refuse the personal 
licence application.  In reaching a view, the Licensing Board are required to have 
regard to the  circumstances in which the personal licence previously held expired, 
or was surrendered.  

 
10.24 An applicant whose application for a personal licence has been refused has 
a right of appeal to the Sheriff. 

 
Issue of a personal licence and changes made to a personal licence 
10.25 Where a Licensing Board grants a personal licence application, it must issue 
a personal licence to the applicant in the prescribed form. The Personal Licence 
(Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI/2007/77) sets out the form and content of the 
personal licence.   
 
10.26 When issuing personal licences, Licensing Boards may use the unique local 
authority identifiers as a prefix to the Licence number they issue for each personal 
licence.  In cases where a local authority area covers a number of licensing divisions 
(each with its own Licensing Board), it would be good practice to adopt unique  
referencing numbering for each licensing division  to identify the Licensing Board 
area for which licences are issued.  

 
10.27 Where certain changes have been made to the terms or effect of a personal 
licence, (for example, where it has been renewed, suspended or a change of details 
has been notified), the Licensing Board must make the necessary amendments to 
the licence.  The Licensing Board may require the personal licence holder to present 
the licence for amendment within 14 days.  Failure by the licence holder to comply 
with this obligation, without reasonable excuse, is an offence. A person guilty of such 
an offence) is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the 
standard scale (£500). 

 
Renewal of personal licence 
10.28 Personal licences are generally valid for ten years with the possibility of 
renewals for further ten year periods.  Licensing Boards must notify personal licence 
holders, of licences granted by them, not later than 9 months before the licence 
expiry date that the licence will cease to have effect unless renewed. 
 

Page 128



 

 

10.29 Section 78 sets out the steps an individual must take to apply for the 
renewal of a personal licence.  Applications for renewal require to be made to the 
Licensing Board which originally granted the licence.  Applications for renewal can 
only be lodged with the relevant Licensing Board within a two-month period 
beginning three months before the personal licence’s expiry. 

 
10.30 A Licensing Board requires to process a personal licence renewal 
application in broadly the same manner as it is requires to process a personal 
licence – i.e. akin to the process outlined in the Determination of personal licence 
application section above.  

 
Notification of Licensing Board determinations 
 
10.31 Once a Licensing Board has granted or refused a personal licence or 
personal licence renewal application then it is required to notify both the applicant 
and the chief constable.  Either of these parties can contact the Clerk to the 
Licensing Board and ask the Board to give a statement of reasons for the grant or 
refusal of the application. The Licensing Board must issue such a statement to both 
parties.  
 
Replacement of a personal licence 
 
10.32 Section 92 provides for the situation where a Licensing Board receives an 
application for a replacement personal licence from an individual they issued a 
personal licence to.  If the Licensing Board is satisfied that the original personal 
licence has been lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed and the applicant has reported 
the loss or theft to the Police then the Licensing Board must issue a replacement 
personal licence. A replacement personal licence is a copy of the personal licence 
held by the applicant in the form it existed immediately prior to the loss and is has 
been certified by the Licensing Board to be a true copy. 
 
Duties placed on personal licence applicants/holders 
 
10.33 Part 6 places a number of duties on personal licence applicants/holders. 
 
Licensing Qualification 

• Section 74 lists certain conditions that must be met before a Licensing 
Board can consider a personal licence application.  One of these 
conditions is that an applicant must have a licensing qualification.  

 
Notification of offences 

• Section 75 places a duty on a personal licence applicant to notify the 
Licensing Board, of any relevant or foreign offence that the applicant has 
been convicted of in the period between making their application and it 
being determined by the Licensing Board. The notification must take place 
no later than one month after the date of the conviction.  

  

Page 129



 

 

 

• An individual who:  
o without reasonable excuse, fails to notify the Licensing Board commits an 

offence. An individual guilty of such an offence is liable on summary   
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£2,000). 

 
Surrender of void personal licence 

• Section 76 makes provision for the issuing of a personal licence to an 
applicant by the Licensing Board.  This section provides that a person who 
holds a void personal licence must surrender it to the Licensing Board. A 
personal licence is void if, at the time it is issued by the Licensing Board to an 
individual, that individual already holds a personal licence.  
 

• An individual who:  
○ without reasonable excuse, fails to surrender a void licence to the Licensing 
Board; or 
○ passes off a void personal licence as a valid personal licence knowing that 
the licence is void  
commits an offence. An individual guilty of such an offence is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale 
(£2,000). 

 
Duty to notify court of personal licence 

• Section 80 provides that if a personal licence holder is charged with a 
relevant offence the person must notify the court of the existence of the 
licence and produce the licence to the court.  
 

• An individual who:  
○ without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with these requirements 
commits an offence. An individual guilty of such an offence is liable on 
summary   conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale 
(£500). 

 
Duty to notify Licensing Board of convictions 

• Section 82 provides that if a personal licence holder is convicted of a 
relevant offence or foreign offence, s/he must, within one month, notify the 
Licensing Board which issued the licence and, if different, the Board for 
the area in which the licence holder is working, of the conviction.  Details 
are given of the form the notice should take and what actions a Licensing 
Board should take if they are aware that the personal licence holder is 
working in licenced premises in another Board area.  

 

• A licence holder who:  
○ without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with these requirements 
commits an offence. An individual guilty of such an offence is liable on 
summary   conviction to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale 
(£2,500). 

 
  

Page 130



 

 

Licence holder’s duty to undertake training 

• Section 87 makes it mandatory for all personal licence holders to 
undertake prescribed training every five years and to provide the relevant 
Licensing Board with evidence that they have undertaken this training (see 
paragraph 10.31 below). Failure to undertake the necessary training will 
result in a personal licence being revoked.  

 
Updating of personal licence 

• Section 88 requires a licence holder to notify the relevant Licensing Board 
of any change of name or address within one month and s/he must 
enclose the personal licence (or a statement of reasons for failure to 
produce the licence) with such notice.  

 

• A licence holder who:  
○ without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with these requirements 
commits an offence. An individual guilty of such an offence is liable on 
summary   conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale 
(£500). 

 
Surrender of void replacement personal licence 

• Section 92 requires that a person who holds a void replacement licence 
must surrender it to the Licensing Board. A replacement licence is void, if 
when issued, the personal licence it in respect of which it was issued is not 
lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed.  

 

• A person who 
o without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with these requirements; or 
o passes off a void replacement personal licence as a valid licence, knowing 

that the licence is void 
commits an offence. A person guilty of such an offence is liable on summary   
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£2,000). 

 
Duty to produce licence 

• Section 93 applies where the personal licence holder is working on 
licensed premises.  A constable or Licensing Standards Officer may 
require the holder to produce his or her personal licence.  

 

• A licence holder who:  
o without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with these requirements  

commits an offence. An individual guilty of such an offence is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale 
(£500). 

 
Training qualifications – personal licence holder 
 
10.34 Alcohol licensing qualifications support those working in the licensed trade in 
Scotland. They allow individuals to show that they can work responsibly and that 
they understand how the licensing process applies to their jobs.  
 

Page 131



 

 

10.35 As discussed above, certain conditions must be met before a Licensing 
Board can determine a personal licence application. One of these conditions is that 
the applicant hold a licensing qualification, that is accredited by the Scottish 
Ministers. Further information can be found in the updated ‘Licensing (Scotland) Act 
2005: liquor personal licence holder training accreditation’ document, published by 
the Scottish Government in December 2022. 
 
10.36 Under the 2005 Act, all personal licence holders must complete “refresher” 
training within five years of the date that their licence was issued (and each 
subsequent five years thereafter) and provide evidence of having done so to the 
Licensing Board which issued the personal licence no later than 3 months after the 
expiry of the five year period. Should a personal licence holder fail to undertake the 
necessary training they will have their personal licence revoked. 
 
10.37 A duty is also placed on Licensing Boards to notify, within the required 
timescale, holders of personal licences granted by them of the refresher training 
requirements. Please see the updated ‘Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005: liquor 
personal licence holder training accreditation’ document, published by the Scottish 
Government in December 2022. 
 
Court’s duty to notify Licensing Board of Convictions 
 
10.38 Section 81 provides that where an individual is convicted of a relevant 
offence, the clerk to the Court must notify the relevant Licensing Board of the 
conviction as soon as is reasonably practical after the conviction. This is subject to 
the clerk being aware the individual concerned holds a personal licence.  
 
Licensing Board receives conviction notification 
 
10.39 Section 83 sets out the procedure to be followed by a Licensing Board when 
a personal licence holder has been convicted of a relevant of foreign offence. The 
procedure involves notifying the chief constable who is required to respond within 21 
days. Depending on the content of the notice sent by the chief constable, a Licensing 
Board may: 
 

• take no further action in relation to the conviction; 
 

• hold a hearing where the chief constable and licence holder are given an 
opportunity to be heard;  

 

• if satisfied it is necessary for the purposes of any of the licensing 
objectives the Licensing Board can make an order to revoke, suspend, 
endorse the a personal licence;  

 

• where at the hearing  the Licensing Board is satisfied  that having regard 
to the licensing objectives, the licence holder is not a fit and proper person 
to be a holder of a personal licence then the Licensing Board must revoke 
the personal licence. 

 

Page 132

https://www.gov.scot/publications/liquor-personal-licence-holder-training-accreditation/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/liquor-personal-licence-holder-training-accreditation/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/liquor-personal-licence-holder-training-accreditation/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/liquor-personal-licence-holder-training-accreditation/


 

 

• When an order is made, the Licensing Board must notify the licence holder 
concerned, the chief constable; and if different, the Licensing Board which 
issued the personal licence. The licence holder has a right of appeal to a 
Sheriff against orders made under section 83(9) or (9A). 

 
Conduct inconsistent with licensing objectives 
Power of chief constable to report such conduct to the Licensing Board 
Power of Licensing Standards Officer to report such conduct to the licensing 
Board 
 
10.40 Section 84 sets out the procedure that a Licensing Board must follow in the 
course of reviewing a premises licence under section 33 of the 2005 Act. If the 
Licensing Board finds a personal licence holder was acting on the premises in 
question in a manner that was not consistent with the licensing objectives then: 
 

• a hearing must be heard by the relevant Licensing Board; 
 

• the licence holder and any other persons the Licensing Board  consider 
are appropriate are given an opportunity to be heard; 

 

• if satisfied it is necessary for the purposes of any of the licensing 
objectives the Licensing Board can make an order to revoke, suspend, 
endorse the a personal licence; 

 

• where at the hearing  the Licensing Board is satisfied  that having regard 
to the licensing objectives, the licence holder is not a fit and proper person 
to be a holder of a personal licence then the Licensing Board must revoke 
the personal licence; 

 

• When an order is made, the Licensing Board must notify the parties listed 
at section 84(8). The licence holder has a right of appeal to a Sheriff 
against orders made under section 84(7) or (7A). 

 
10.41 Section 84A enables the chief constable to report a personal licence holder 
to the Licensing Board for actions which are inconsistent with any of the licensing 
objectives. Where this is done the Licensing Board must then hold a hearing to 
consider what action if any should be taken against the personal licence holder. 
 
10.42 Section 84B provides Licensing Standards Officers with a specific power to 
report conduct of a personal licence holder, who is or was working in licensed 
premises in their area, which is inconsistent with the licensing objectives, to the 
relevant Licensing Board. Where the Licensing Board receives such a report it may 
hold a hearing but is under no obligation to do so. If a Licensing Board elects to hold 
a hearing, to consider what action if any should be taken against the personal 
licence holder, the process followed will be similar to that set out at paragraph 10.40. 
 
  

Page 133



 

 

Endorsements  
 
10.43 Section 85 provides for the expiry of endorsements of a personal licence 
after 5 years. An endorsement for the purposes of this section is an endorsement of 
a personal licence by a Licensing Board as a result of  
 

• an order made by the Licensing Board receiving a notice of conviction; 

• the Licensing Board finding in the course of a review hearing that the licence 
holder whilst working in a licenced premises acted in a manner which was 
inconsistent with any of the licensing objectives. 

 
10.44 A personal licence holder may apply to the relevant Licensing Board, once 
the endorsement has expired, to have it removed. When a Licensing Board receives 
such an application it must remove the endorsement if it has expired.  An expired 
endorsement is to be disregarded whether or not it has been removed from the 
licence. 
 
10.45 Section 86 provides that when a personal licence holder receives 3 
endorsements to their licence under sections 83 and 84 then the Licensing Board 
which issued the personal licence must hold a hearing to consider what action is 
taken against the licence holder.  
 

• at any hearing a Licensing Board may give the licence holder and any other 
person(s) as the Licensing Board considers appropriate an opportunity to 
be heard; and 

• if the Licensing Board considers it necessary to do so for the purposes of 
any of the licensing objectives make an order; 

• an order can be made: suspending the licence for any period not exceeding 
six months or revoking the licence. 

• the  Licensing Board must give the licence holder notice of the order and of 
the reasons for making it; 

 
The licence holder has a right of appeal to the Sheriff against any order made. 
 
 

Page 134



 

 

11.  Control of Order 
 
Introduction 
 
General 
 
11.1 Part 7 of the Act concerns the control of order in connection with licensed premises. 
Part 7 introduces two mechanisms for the purposes of the control of order: exclusion 
orders and closure orders (including emergency closure orders). Licensing Boards 
have functions as regard closure orders, but no direct role as regards exclusion 
orders. However, in so far as it may be useful for Licensing Boards to have an 
understanding of exclusion orders, this Chapter of the Guidance provides an 
overview of the operation of exclusion orders. 
 
Closure Orders and Emergency Closure Orders 
 
11.2 Section 97 to 101 of the Act concern ‘closure orders’ and ‘emergency closure 
orders’. These are orders which require a licensed premises to be closed for such 
period as may be specified in the order (section 97(3) of the Act). 
 
Closure Orders 
 
11.3 Licensing Boards may make a closure order under section 97(1) of the Act. 
Licensing Boards can only do so on the application of a senior police officer3.  The 
form of such an application is set out in Parts A and B of schedule 1 of the Licensing 
(Closure Orders) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007 No. 35) (the ‘Closure Order 
Regulations’). 
 
11.4 Before it can grant an application, the Licensing Board must be satisfied that 
closure of the premises is necessary in the interests of public safety by reason of the 
likelihood of disorder on, or in the vicinity of, the premises. That request would 
normally result in a hearing at which the licence holder can make submissions 
concerning the proposed “Closure Order” and it is a matter for the Licensing Board to 
decide whether to grant the Order or not.  

 
11.5 A closure order made by a Licensing Board is to be in the form set out in Part 
C of schedule 1 of the Closure Order Regulations. A closure order comes into force 
in relation to a licensed premises when a constable gives notice of the order to a 
‘responsible person’ (section 97(6) of the Act). The period for which the closure order 
has effect will be specified in the order. For these purposes a ‘responsible person’ is 
defined in section 101 of the Act as: 
 

• in the case of a premises in respect of which a premises licence has effect: 
o the premises licence holder, or 
o the premises manager, 

• in the case of premises in respect of which an occasional licence has effect, 
the person who holds the occasional licence, and 

                                            
3 A senior police officer for these purposes means a constable of, or above, the rank of superintendent 
(section 147(1) of the Act). 

Page 135



 

 

• in either case, any person working at the premises in a capacity (whether paid 
or unpaid) which authorises the person to close the premises. 
 

11.6 Additionally, a constable of, or above, the rank of inspector must terminate a 
closure order if the constable is satisfied that it is no longer necessary in the interests 
of public safety for the premises to be closed (section 98(1) of the Act). The 
constable, must ensure that notice of the termination is given to the Licensing Board 
which made the closure order (section 98(2)(b) of the Act)4. 
 
11.7 In respect of control of order, it is clear that good practice is essential to 
ensure the mechanisms within the 2005 Act can be used appropriately.  Good 
practice should involve an effective working liaison and system of communication 
between the police, Licensing Standards Officers and managers of licensed 
premises.  Many Licensing Boards’ Statements of Licensing Policy emphasise the 
importance of good working relationships with partner agencies such as Police 
Scotland and in a similar vein many Licensing Boards encourage licensees to 
proactively engage with Police Scotland.   
 
11.8 For example in relation to “Preventing Crime and Disorder”, West Lothian 
Licensing Board comments in its statement of licensing policy that: 

 

• “The Board expects premises licence holders to co-operate and liaise with 
Police Scotland where required to ensure that consistency with this 
licensing objective is upheld in the operation of the premises at all times. 
Applicants are encouraged to discuss crime prevention procedures in their 
premises with Police Scotland”. 

 
11.9 It is recognised that a great deal will depend on the willingness of licensees, 
premises managers and premise users to engage in a partnership approach.  Those 
licensees who fail to take a socially responsible attitude are more likely to place 
themselves at a greater risk of police action under these powers than those who 
actively cooperate.  
 

 
11.10 Section 12A of the 2005 Act imposes a duty on every chief constable to 
send a report to the Licensing Boards in the chief constable’s police area. The report 
should, amongst other matters, set out the chief constable’s views on the policing 
issues relating to the 2005 Act during that year and the following year. For example, 
the Annual Licensing Report 2020-21 submitted by Chief constable Iain Livingstone 
QPM to the Clackmannanshire Licensing Board stated that: 

 

• “During 2020/2021 there has been no necessity to apply for a closure 
order nor implement an emergency closure order in the Clackmannanshire 
area”. 

 
 
 
  

                                            
4   Notice must also be given to a responsible person (section 98(2)(a) of the Act). 

Page 136



 

 

Emergency closure orders 
 
11.11 Where time is of the essence it is possible for emergency closure orders to be 
made under section 97(2) of the Act. An emergency closure order can be made by a 
constable of, or above, the rank of inspector. In such cases, the constable makes the 
closure order rather than the Licensing Board (and therefore the constable does not 
need to have applied to the Licensing Board under section 97(1) of the Act for an order 
to be made by the Licensing Board). The constable can make the order if they 
reasonably believe that: 
(a) there is, or is likely imminently to be, disorder on, or in the vicinity of, any licensed 
premises, 
(b) closure of the premises is necessary in the interest of public safety, and 
(c) the risk to public safety is such that it is necessary to do so immediately and without 
making an application under section 97(1) of the Act (i.e. an application to the 
Licensing Board for a closure order).  
 
Under regulation 5 of the Closure Order Regulations, when an emergency closure 
order is made under section 97(2) of the Act, the officer who has made the order must 
give notice of the order to the Licensing Board in the area of which the premises in 
question are situated. This notice must be given as soon as practicable after the order 
has been made. An emergency closure order is to be in the form set out in Part 1 of 
schedule 2 of the Closure Order Regulations. The period of closure specified in an 
emergency closure order cannot exceed 24 hours, however that period can be 
extended under section 99 of the Act.  
 
Section 99(1) of the Act, contains a power for a constable of or above the rank of 
Inspector to extend the original emergency closure order period by a further period not 
exceeding 24 hours. The constable must reasonably believe that the following 
conditions are met in relation to the premises:  

• that there continues to be, or is likely to continue to be, disorder on, or in 
the vicinity of, the premises, 

• that extending the original closure period is necessary in the interests of 
public safety, and 

• the risk to public safety continues to be such that it is necessary to extend 
the closure period immediately and without making an application under 
section 97(1) of the Act (i.e. an application to the Licensing Board for a 
closure order).  
 

11.12 An extension of an emergency closure order has no effect unless a constable 
has given notice of the extension to a responsible person before the expiry of the 
period during which the original emergency closure order has effect. Such notice is to 
be in the form set out in Part 2 of schedule 2 of the Closure Order Regulations. As 
mentioned above in respect of closure orders, who is a responsible person is set out 
in section 101 of the Act. 
 
11.13 Regulation 5 of the Closure Order Regulations requires that the Licensing 
Board in the area of which the premises in question is located must be notified when 
the period of an emergency closure order is extended under section 99(1) of the Act. 
A constable of, or above, the rank of inspector must terminate an emergency closure 
order if the constable is satisfied that it is no longer necessary in the interests of 

Page 137



 

 

public safety for the premises to be closed (section 98(1) of the Act). The constable 
must give notice to a responsible person (section 98(2)(a) of the Act) and the 
Licensing Board in the area of which the premises is situated (regulation 5 of the 
Closure Order Regulations). 
 
11.14 Emergency closure orders may only be made where it is necessary in the 
interests of public safety. These powers should not be used where it has been 
possible to anticipate the disorder arising, for example, in connection with 
intelligence about likely future disorder at a football fixture or in connection with a 
demonstration. In those circumstances the appropriate course then is for the police 
to apply to the Licensing Board for a closure order in respect of the premises under 
section 97(1) of the Act. 

 
11.15 Licensing Boards may wish to be aware that emergency closure orders are 
likely to be used as a last resort. Decisions to close licensed premises may have an 
impact on the business involved, and possibly on the livelihoods of licence holders, 
managers, and members of staff or may disrupt an event that has been planned for a 
considerable period of time. 

 
11.16 Any decision to deploy the powers available to make an emergency closure 
order under the Act in respect of premises to which a premises licence relates will in 
most cases lead to a review of the licence by the Licensing Board. This will involve a 
hearing to determine whether or not it is necessary for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives to exercise its powers to take any steps in relation to the licence including 
its revocation. 

 
11.17 A decision by the Licensing Board to proceed on that basis will therefore 
involve police attendance at the hearing and the preparation of material relating to 
the review. 

 
Voluntary co-operation 

 
11.18 On many occasions, other options will be available to the police, some of 
which are discussed below. 
 
11.19 Licensing Boards may wish to be aware that the police, whenever possible, 
may seek the voluntary co-operation of licensees, premises users, and named 
premises managers in resolving incidents of disorder or potential disorder rather than 
move directly to a closure order. 

 
11.20 If police officers are aware that any premises are showing signs of 
problematic behaviour relating to disorder, excessive drunkenness or noise which is 
disturbing local residents, they may decide to provide early warnings and reminders 
to premises licence holders, and named premises managers of their responsibilities 
and duties under licensing law; and of the police powers of closure. 

 
11.21 Where, despite warnings, licensed premises exhibit problems over a period 
of time, but no single instance is sufficient in itself to justify closure action, the police 
may seek a review of the premises licence under Part 3 of the Act. 

 

Page 138



 

 

11.22 Where the police attend an incident, following complaints about disorder, or 
attend at the request of the licensee or Licensing Standards Officer, and a constable 
of or above the rank of Inspector reasonably believes that closure is necessary 
under the terms of the Act, police officers may choose to advise the licence holder, 
and named premises manager, and premises user immediately. Police officers may 
then give the licence holder, manager, or premises user an opportunity to close the 
premises voluntarily, on police advice, until the following day. If police advice is 
disputed or rejected, it may become necessary for action to be taken to make a 
closure order. When giving advice to close voluntarily, police officers may wish to 
make clear that they are not engaging in a negotiation. The view of the constable of 
or above the rank of Inspector will be final. 

 
11.23 However, even if the licensee, or named premises manager is willing to 
close voluntarily, it will remain open to the constable of or above the rank of 
Inspector to decide to serve a closure order, if he or she judges that to be the right 
course of action in all the circumstances. It is recognised that circumstances could 
arise which necessitate such action. 

 
11.24 Against this background, Licensing Boards and police officers may wish to 
be aware that a decision not to make a closure order or to agree to voluntary closure 
will not prevent a later decision by the police to seek a review of the premises licence 
by a Licensing Board, if that course of action is judged appropriate. Section 36 of the 
Act allows any person to apply to the appropriate Licensing Board for a review of the 
licence on any of the grounds specified in that section. Police officers may wish to be 
aware of this mechanism as this may be the appropriate avenue for them in the first 
instance where they are aware of problems that may arise with a licensed premises 
which are not imminent. This may reduce the need for a closure order. 

 
In the vicinity of licensed premises 

 
11.25 A closure order made by the Licensing Board or an emergency closure order 
made by a constable of or above the rank of Inspector may be made on grounds of 
disorder on or in the vicinity of the premises. A question therefore arises as to how 
far from the premises incidents can take place which can be considered to be "in the 
vicinity" of a particular premises. Whether or not an incident was "in the vicinity" of 
the licensed premises is ultimately a matter of fact to be decided by the courts. 
However, there should be a causal connection between any disorder or likely 
disorder and the closure of the licensed premises. Premises cannot be closed under 
these provisions unless "closure is necessary in the interests of public safety". 
Accordingly, closure of those particular premises must directly impact on the danger 
to the public safety being caused by the disorder, or likely disorder, taking place or 
expected imminently to take place on, or in the vicinity of, the premises. The disorder 
and the necessity for closure of the premises must therefore be connected. This 
issue also arises in the context of any extension of a closure order. 
 
11.26 Some licensees, premises users, and named premises managers of 
licensed premises may consider it unfair that they should be held accountable for 
incidents taking place outside their immediate control. However, as explained in 
paragraph 11.2 of this Guidance, closure orders are not designed as penalties but as 
a means of ensuring public safety. 

Page 139



 

 

Likely disorder 
 

11.27 A further question arises when any future disorder is likely to take place and 
would justify a closure order being made. Section 97 of the Act requires that the 
disorder should be likely (or in the case of emergency closure orders, likely 
imminent). As noted in the geographical context, there also has to be a causal 
connection between the likely disorder and the need to close the particular licensed 
premises involved. As regards emergency closure orders, any expected incident 
must be imminent, in which case closure of the licensed premises should diminish 
the probability that disorder will take place. 
 
Length of emergency closure order 
 
11.28 An emergency closure order cannot have effect for more than 24 hours 
(section 97(5) of the Act). This does not mean that the length of the closure should 
automatically be set for 24 hours on every occasion. The criteria for making an 
emergency closure order places an obligation on the constable of or above the rank 
of inspector to close the premises for the period they estimate it would take to end 
the threat to public safety, or as the case may be, the nuisance to the public. In 
practice, therefore, closure orders could last between 30 minutes and 24 hours 
depending upon the circumstances of each case. 
 
11.29 If, for example, a closure is made at 9 pm on a Monday evening because of 
disorder caused by gangs fighting in a public house, closure might only be 
appropriate for up to the time when the premises licence requires the premises to 
close, perhaps midnight. This could be because the constable of or above the rank 
of inspector reasonably believes that there is a threat of gang members (those not 
arrested) returning to the premises before closing time but after the police have left. 
However, if the threat is not expected to have subsided by closing time, it may be 
appropriate to impose a closure for a period extending into the following day. 

 
11.30 Any extension under section 99(1) of the Act to an emergency closure 
period may be for a further period of only up to 24 hours from the end of the original 
closure period. 

 
11.31 There is no appeal mechanism for licensees against the imposition of an 
emergency closure order. 

 
Enforcing a closure order 

 
11.32 The Act does not require the licence holder or the police to clear the 
premises of customers following the service of a closure order, however, it is 
assumed that normally premises would empty, as it would be an offence under 
section 97(7) of the Act for a responsible person to allow any licensed premises to 
be open in breach of a closure order. The closure relates to the premises. If an 
individual who is drunk or disorderly is asked to leave by a responsible person or a 
constable and then refuses to leave, they commit an offence (section 116 of the Act). 
Where a constable is asked for assistance to remove such a customer, the officer is 
under a statutory duty to provide that assistance (section 116(4) of the Act). 
 

Page 140



 

 

11.33 Licensing Boards may wish to be aware that the police may propose a 
phased emptying of larger premises for the purpose of safe dispersal, for example, 
to keep disorderly gangs separate or because it is in the interests of public safety to 
keep law-abiding customers inside for a temporary period while those involved in 
antisocial behaviour outside are dispersed by the police. 
 
11.34 The police officers involved should recognise that closing premises will 
sometimes involve putting a potentially volatile and disgruntled group of customers 
onto the streets. In this context, where possible, it is good practice to ensure that 
other licensed premises nearby are warned of the action being taken and of licence 
holders' and others' obligations not to allow disorderly conduct on their premises. As 
stated above, under the Act, police officers are under a duty, when requested by a 
licence holder or other person as referred to above, to assist in ensuring that 
drunken or disorderly persons are expelled from licensed premises, and police 
officers should therefore offer assistance when necessary in preventing the entry of 
troublemakers to other licensed premises who might be seeking to cause new 
problems elsewhere. 
 
11.35 Additional police assistance may be required to clear the resulting crowd, 
particularly where large capacity venues are involved. The availability of that 
assistance is likely to be taken into consideration before any decision is made to 
make a closure order. 
 
Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004 
 
11.36 Licensing Boards may wish to be aware that Antisocial Behaviour may also 
be tackled under section 26 of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004 a 
senior police officer (officers of or above the rank of Superintendent) can authorise 
service of a closure notice in respect of a premises. The effect of such an 
authorisation is that a constable will serve on the relevant premises a closure notice. 
A closure notice prohibits access to the premises by any person other than a person 
who habitually resides in the premises or the owner of the premises. Failure to 
comply with the notice amounts to an offence. 
 
11.37 A senior police officer (officers of or above the rank of Superintendent) may, 
in a case involving antisocial behaviour) only authorise service of a closure notice 
where that officer has reasonable grounds for believing that at any time during the 
immediately preceding 3 months a person has engaged in antisocial behaviour on 
the premises; and that the use of the premises is associated with the occurrence of 
relevant harm; and is satisfied that – 
 

• the local authority for the area in which the premises are situated has been 
consulted; and 

• reasonable steps have been taken to establish the identity of any person 
who 
lives on, has control of, has responsibility for or has an interest in the 
premises. 

(Relevant harm is defined at section 40 of that Act as significant and persistent 
disorder or significant, persistent and serious nuisance to members of the public). 
 

Page 141



 

 

Exclusion Orders 
 

11.38 Licensing Boards may wish to be aware of exclusion orders, to which 
sections 94 to 96 of the Act relate. Section 94(2) of the Act provides that, where a 
person is convicted of a violent offence committed on, or in the immediate vicinity of, 
any licensed premises, the court by or before which the person is convicted of the 
offence may, in addition to any sentence imposed or other disposal in respect of the 
offence, make an order prohibiting the person from entering: 
 

(a) the licensed premises concerned, and 
(b) such other licensed premises (if any) as the court may specify in the order, 
except with the appropriate consent. 

 
This formal exclusion order process is of course separate from any informal 
arrangement which is made between a licensed premises, or a set of licensed 
premises such as in a local Pubwatch scheme, to bar a particular individual. 
 
11.39 The Act also provides that the premises licence holder for the licensed 
premises concerned may themselves, by summary application to the sheriff made no 
later than 6 weeks after the date of the conviction, seek an order prohibiting the 
person convicted from entering the licensed premises concerned. Section 94(4) of 
the Act sets out those conditions that must be considered by the sheriff. 
  

Page 142



 

 

12. Sale and Supply of Alcohol to Children and Young Persons 
 
Introduction 
 
12.1  This chapter provides information about the sale and supply of alcohol to children 
and young persons.  For the purposes of the 2005 Act, “child” means a person under 
the age of 16 and “young person” means a person aged 16 or 17. 
 
12.2 As discussed in Chapter 2, for the purposes of the 2005 Act, one of the five 
licensing objectives is “protecting children and young persons from harm”.  The term 
“young persons” was added to this objective by the Air Weapons and Licensing 
(Scotland) Act 2015.  The broadening out of this objective gives Licensing Boards 
greater scope to protect young persons. 
 
12.3 “Harm” in the context of the 2005 Act is the harm that children and young 
persons suffer through their own drinking. This may take place within licensed 
premises, or through alcohol obtained from off-sales premises, either by the young 
person themselves or by someone else.  Children and young people are particularly 
vulnerable to the effects of alcohol – the earlier a young person begins to drink 
alcohol, the more likely they are to drink in ways that can be risky later in life. 
 
12.4 It is clear that children and young persons need protection from environments 
which are unsuitable and potentially harmful.  They need to be prevented from being 
placed in a position where it is easy for them to circumvent the law and obtain 
alcohol.   There are a number of ways in which the 2005 Act seeks to ensure that the 
licensing system protects children and young people.  
 
On–sales premises 
 
12.5 Children and young persons  can be impacted by the drinking behaviours 
they observe in adults as well as being exposed to the marketing and promotion of 
alcohol within a licensed premises. It is a matter for Licensing Boards  to decide what 
environments may be suitable for access for children and young persons.  For 
example Orkney Islands Area Licensing Board Statement of Alcohol Licensing Policy 
states “The Board requires applicants who submit operating plans including children 
and young persons to ensure that they are not given access to premises when 
activities such as adult entertainment are taking place”. 
 
12.6 As discussed at Chapter 8 (premises licence)  the purpose of a licence 
applicant having to submit an operating plan and a lay-out plan is to provide a 
Licensing Board and the local community with a clear indication, at the time of the 
application, of what activities will be undertaken on the premises.  The Premises 
Licensing (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/452) stipulates that a layout plan 
must show: 
 

• any area on the premises set aside specifically for the use of children and 
young persons; and 

• any area on the premises to which children and young persons will have 
access. 

 

Page 143



 

 

 
 
12.7 The form of an operating plan is set out at schedule 5 to the 2007 
Regulations. The form contains a section relating to on-sales  where children and 
young persons will be allowed to access the premises. The applicant is required to 
provide a statement which covers the following points: 
 

• the terms under which they will be allowed entry; 

• the ages of children or young persons to be allowed entry; 

• the times during which children and young persons will be allowed entry; 

• the parts of the premises to which children and young persons will be 
allowed entry  

 
12.8 Falkirk Licensing Board statement of licensing policy says: “Where an 
application for a new or provisional premises licence or a non-minor variation to a 
premises licence is made, the Board may, prior to determining the application, wish 
to visit the premises. This will usually be the case where either or both of the 
following apply: objections or representations have been received; the variation 
seeks an increase in the access for children and young persons”. 
 
12.9 Argyll and Bute Licensing Board’s statement of licensing policy says “The 
Board will impose appropriate conditions on a premises licence or in granting an 
occasional licence where children and young persons are to be allowed entry. 
Conditions will seek to ensure the safety and wellbeing of children and young 
persons on the premises”.   
 
Off-sales premises 
 
12.10 An applicant for a licence which authorises off-sales only does not require to 
provide a Licensing Board with the information outlined at paragraphs 5 and 6.  
 
12.11  “The Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey 
(SALSUS): alcohol report 2018” shows that 13 and 15 year old who have ever had a 
drink, were most likely to get alcohol: 
 

• from their home (37% for 13 year olds; 28% for 15 year olds); 

• from a friend (25% for 13 year olds; 34% for 15 year olds); or 

• from a relative (31% for 13 year olds; 31% for 15 year olds). 
 
Direct purchase from a licensed premises was rare: 
 

• from a shop – 4% for 13 year olds, 7% for 15 year olds; 

• from an off-licence – 2% for 13 year olds, 3% for 15 year olds; 

• from supermarket, pub, club – 3% for 13 year olds, 4% for 15 year olds. 
 
12.12 This would suggest that measures such as the introduction of an age 
verification policy (Challenge 25) and test purchasing have helped to significantly 
reduce underage sales in shops and pubs. However, the figures highlight that a 

Page 144



 

 

significant percentage of 13 and 15 year olds are obtaining their alcohol from 
relatives, friends or the home (whether with or without parental/ carer permission).   
 
12.13 For example Clackmannanshire Licensing Board’s statement of licensing 
policy states that one of the factors the Board will consider in relation to considering 
licence applications against the protecting children and young people from harm 
objective is:” appropriate measures (e.g. good quality staff training, age verification 
policy) to ensure children do not purchase or consume alcohol on the premises 
(unless such consumption is permitted by a young person in terms of the restricted 
provisions of Section 105(5) of the Act”. 
 
12.14 This is more difficult to control, however, improvements are possible.  A good 
example of trying to reduce proxy purchasing of alcohol is the award-winning 
campaign, “You’re Asking For It. The campaign was created in 2015 by the Scottish 
Alcohol Industry Partnership in collaboration with Police Scotland, North Lanarkshire 
Council and the Scottish Government. This coalition of partners worked together to 
design and deploy a creative campaign to assist retailers eliminate incidences of an 
adult knowingly purchasing alcohol for a minor to consume. Several test campaigns 
lead to an enhanced trial across the entire local authority area of North Lanarkshire 
in 2017. These proved the effectiveness of the campaign. The campaign has run in 
different parts of Scotland since but was halted due to. The campaign evolved and 
from 16th May 2022 (soft launch) to 14th August 2022 the ‘It will cost you’ integrated 
campaign ran nationally throughout Scotland. This was the first time the campaign 
had been delivered as a national campaign. The campaign was run as a partnership 
between the Scottish Alcohol Industry Partnership, Police Scotland and Community 
Alcohol Partnerships. It was coordinated by a Steering Group involving 
representatives from these organisations plus the Scottish Government. 
 
Offences 
 
12.15 Part 8 of the 2005 Act covers Offences, a number of which relate to children 
and young persons: 
 

• sale of alcohol to a child or young person (section 102) 

• allowing the sale of alcohol to a child or young person (section 103) 

• sale of liquor confectionary to a child (section 104) 

• supply of alcohol to a child (section 104A) 

• supply of alcohol to a young person (section 104B) 

• purchase of alcohol by a child or young person (section 105) 

• consumption of alcohol by a child or young person (section 106) 

• unsupervised sale of alcohol by a child or young person (section 107) 

• delivery of alcohol by or to a child or young person (section 108) 

• sending a child or young person to obtain alcohol (section 109) 

• duty to display notice (section 110) 
 
12.16 The majority of these offences have been in place since the 2005 Act was 
implemented.  Minor amendments have been made to these sections by  the 
Criminal Justice (Scotland) Act 2010 (repeal of the word knowingly; where criminal 
conduct has been allowed to take place in terms of the listed offences, an offence 

Page 145

http://www.youreaskingforit.com/


 

 

will be committed whether or not the person involved has knowledge of the conduct 
taking place) and The Licensing (Amendment) (EU Exit) (Scotland) Regulations 
2019.  
 
12.17 Sections 104A and 104B, which created new offences of supplying alcohol 
to children or young people for consumption in a public place, were inserted into the 
2005 Act by the Air Weapons and Licensing Scotland Act 2015. 
 
  

Page 146



 

 

13. Other Offences 
 
Introduction 
 
13.1 Part 8 of the 2005 Act sets out offences relating to children and young people 
(covered in chapter 12 of this guidance), drunken and disorderly conduct and 
miscellaneous offences.  Other offences are set out at sections 1 and 141 
respectively. This chapter does not deal with offences relating to the rights of entry 
and inspection or non-compliance with administrative requirements with which 
Licensing Boards will be well versed. 
 
Prohibition of unlicensed sale of alcohol 
 
13.2 The 2005 Act makes provision for regulating the sale of alcohol, and for 
regulating licensed premises and other premises on which alcohol is sold. Section 1 
establishes that a licence is required to sell alcohol unless the premises are exempt 
as defined in section 124 or to trade.  Examples of “exempt” premises are, “an 
aircraft, a hovercraft or a railway vehicle while engaged on a journey” and “a vessel 
while engaged on an international journey”.  
 
13.3 Anyone who sells alcohol or allows alcohol to be sold in breach of the 
conditions described in  section 1 commits an offence.  Section 195(2) of the 
Criminal Justice and Licensing Act 2010 repeals the word “knowingly” from a range 
of offences in the 2005 Act (including this offence). Where criminal conduct has been 
allowed to take place in terms of the listed offences, an offence will be committed 
whether or not the person involved has knowledge of the conduct taking place.  A 
person guilty of such an offence is liable on summary conviction to  a fine not 
exceeding £20,000, imprisonment for a period not exceeding 6 months or both. 
 
Drunkenness and disorderly conduct 
13.4 A number of offences fall under this heading: 
 

• Drunk person entering or in premises on which alcohol is sold (section 
111) 

• Obtaining of alcohol by or for a drunk person (section 112) 

• Sale of alcohol to a drunk person (section 113) 

• Premises manager, staff etc. not to be drunk (section 114) 

• Disorderly conduct (section 115) 

• Refusal to leave premises (section 116) 
 
  

Page 147



 

 

Drunk persons entering or in premises on which alcohol is sold 
13.5 Section 111 makes it an offence for:  
 

• a drunk person to attempt to enter (unless they reside in the premises) any 
premises in which alcohol is lawfully sold.  

• a person, whilst on premises in which alcohol is lawfully sold, to be drunk 
and incapable of taking care of himself or herself.  

A person committing an offence under this section can be arrested without warrant 
by the police. A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 1 on the standard scale (£200). 
 
Obtaining of alcohol by or for a drunk person 
13.6 Section 112 makes it an offence for any person to buy or attempt to buy 
alcohol for someone who is drunk or to help a drunk person to obtain or consume 
alcohol. The offences only apply where the alcohol is to be consumed on premises in 
which alcohol is lawfully sold. A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable 
on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale 
(£1,000). 
 
Sale of alcohol to a drunk person 
13.7 Section 113 makes it an offence for the premises manager and any other  
person working on the premises, in which alcohol is lawfully sold, to sell alcohol to 
someone who is drunk. A person guilty of a such an offence is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£1,000). 
 
13.8 In seeking to promote each of the licensing objectives, many Licensing 
Boards’ Statements of Licensing Policy contain information regarding “control 
measures” which the Licensing Board and the Licensing Standards Officer 
encourage license holders to put in place.  For example Highland Licensing Board’s 
current statement of licensing policy provides examples of control measures such as: 
 
In the interest of protecting and improving public health:  

• making available information promoting moderate drinking, awareness of 
units of alcohol and recommended guidelines; 

• having a policy to deal with patrons who have consumed excessive alcohol 
(where not already required by the local condition on staff duty of care).  

• ensuring staff awareness of offences such as sale of alcohol to a drunk 
person  

 
Premises manager, staff etc. not to be drunk 
13.9 Section 114 makes it an offence for the premises manager and anyone else 
who working on the premises, in which alcohol is lawfully sold, to be drunk on the 
premises. A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£1,000). 
 
Disorderly conduct 
13.10 Section 115 makes it an offence for any person while drunk: to behave in a 
disorderly manner or to annoy others with offensive language on premises in which 
alcohol is lawfully sold. A person guilty of behaving in a disorderly  manner is liable 
on summary conviction to: (a) a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale 

Page 148



 

 

(£1,000), (b) imprisonment for a term not exceeding 60 days, or (c) both. A person 
guilty of annoying others with offensive language is liable on summary conviction to 
a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£1,000). 
 
13.11 It is also an offence for the premises manager and anyone else working on 
premises, in which alcohol is lawfully sold, to allow disorderly conduct on the 
premises. Provision is made for a “due diligence” defence for a person charged with 
this offence.  It will be a defence where: the accused or an employee or agent of the 
accused, can prove that they took all reasonable precautions and exercised due 
diligence not to commit the offence; or that there were no lawful and reasonably 
practical means by which  the accused could prevent the conduct giving rise to the 
offence.  A person found guilty of this offence is liable on summary conviction to a 
fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£1,000).  
 
Refusal to leave premises 
13.12 Section 116 makes it an offence for a disorderly person to refuse to leave 
premises, in which alcohol is legally sold, when asked or for any person to refuse to 
leave licensed premises at closing time when asked. Certain authorised persons are  
allowed to use reasonable force to remove from any premises on which alcohol is 
sold a person who is behaving in a disorderly manner but refuses to leave when 
asked. “Authorised persons”  are the premises manager and anyone else who works 
on the premises who has been authorised by the premises manager for the 
purposes of this section. 
 
Miscellaneous Offences 
13.13 A number of offences fall under this heading: 
 

• Offences relating to sale of alcohol to trade (section 117) 

• Prohibition of unauthorised sale of alcohol on moving vehicles (section 
118) 

• Delivery of alcohol from vehicles etc. (section 119) 

• Prohibition of late-night deliveries of alcohol (section 120) 

• Keeping of smuggled goods (section 121) 
 
Offences relating to sale of alcohol to trade 
13.14 Section  117, as enacted, made it an offence for a person to sell alcohol to 
trade otherwise than from premises used exclusively for the purpose of selling to 
trade.  The Criminal Justice and Licensing Act 2010 amended this section to correct 
an unintended consequence – i.e. if, for example, a restaurant owner wished to buy 
alcohol for their restaurant from a supermarket instead of the wholesaler, the 
restaurant owner would, under the 2005 Act as enacted, be committing an offence. 
The amendment means it is no longer an offence for a licensed premises to sell to 
the trade. A person guilty of an offence under section 117 is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale (£5,000). 
 
13.15 The sale of alcohol, no matter what the quantities, to trade does not require 
to be carried out under and in accordance with an alcohol licence. Wholesalers who 
sell alcohol to non-trade as well as trade will require a premises or occasional  
licence and any non-trade sales will be bound by the terms of the specific alcohol 
licence. 

Page 149



 

 

 
Prohibition of unauthorised sale of alcohol on moving vehicles 
13.16 Section 118 deals with, for example, “party buses” and “stretch limousines” 
that provide alcohol. It makes it an offence for any person to sell alcohol on any 
vehicle whilst it is moving unless authorised to do so.  As mentioned above, section 
195(2) of the Criminal Justice and Licensing Act 2010 repeals the word “knowingly” 
from certain offences in the 2005 Act (including this offence).  In terms of the 2005 
Act, “vehicle” means a vehicle intended or adapted for use on roads.  A person guilty 
of an offence under this section is liable on summary conviction to: (a) a fine not 
exceeding £20,000, (b) imprisonment for a term not exceeding 3 months, or (c) both. 
 
Delivery of alcohol from vehicles etc. 
13.17 Section 119  deals with deliveries of alcohol (does not include any alcohol 
being delivered to a trader for the purposes of that person's trade) and requires that 
all such deliveries and carrying of alcohol in vehicles is properly and clearly 
recorded.  Offences are committed where:  
 

• the quantity, description and price of the alcohol sold and name and address 
of the person to whom the alcohol is to be delivered is not recorded in a day 
book  nor in a delivery book or invoice carried by the person delivering the  
alcohol prior to despatch by the person who sold the alcohol; 

• a person carries in a vehicle in use for the delivery of alcohol, following a 
sale of alcohol by them and the quantity, description and price of the alcohol 
was not entered in the day book and delivery book/invoice; 

• a person delivers the alcohol  to an address not entered in the day book and 
delivery book/invoice; 

• a person refuses to allow a constable or a Licensing Standards Officer  to 
examine any vehicle or any day book and delivery book/invoice.  

A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary conviction to a 
fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£1,000). 
 
Prohibition of late-night deliveries of alcohol 
13.18 Section 120 applies where alcohol is sold on any relevant premises for the  
consumption off the premises.  For the purposes of Part 8 of the 2005 Act “relevant 
premises” means: any licensed premises; any exempt premises on which alcohol is 
sold; and any premises used for the selling of alcohol to trade.  Offences are 
committed where: 
 

• a responsible (see section 122 for a definition) person delivers or allows 
the  alcohol  to be delivered to any premises (other than licenced 
premises) between the hours of midnight and 6am. 
 

As mentioned above, section 195(2) of the Criminal Justice and Licensing Act 2010 
repealed the word “knowingly” from certain offences in the 2005 Act (including these 
offences). A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (£1,000). 
 
Keeping of smuggled goods 
13.19 Section 121 makes it an offence to keep or allow to be kept on any licensed 
premises any goods which have been imported without payment of duty or which 

Page 150



 

 

have otherwise  been unlawfully imported. A person guilty of an offence under this 
section is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the 
standard scale (£1,000).  A power is also granted to the courts to order the forfeiture 
or destruction of such goods. 
 
Offences by bodies corporate etc  
 
13.20 Section 141 deals with offences committed by companies, partnerships and 
other bodies. It effectively provides for certain persons responsible for the 
management or control of these bodies to share criminal responsibility for offences 
committed with their consent or connivance or due to their neglect. 
 
Defence of due diligence 
 
13.21 Section 141B  of the 2005 Act  provides a defence to certain offences where 
the person accused had no knowledge that the offence was being committed and 
exercised all due diligence to prevent the offence being committed.  This provision 
was inserted into the 2005 Act by the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 
2010.  
 
Vicarious liability of premises licence holders and interested parties 
 
13.22 This is a technical area and it might be helpful to say a few words about the 
policy rationale for inserting section 141B into the 2005 Act. This was discussed 
during the Stage 2 consideration of what was then the Criminal Justice and 
Licensing (Scotland) Bill (“the Bill”).   
 
13.23 The Scottish Government considers that those who operate licensed 
premises must carry a high degree of responsibility for the operation of their 
premises and the actions of their staff. No licence holder should be able to evade 
responsibility by staying away from their premises without fear of being convicted of 
an offence arising from an act or omission by a member of their staff while they are 
absent.  
 
13.24 As discussed during Stage 2 of the Bill, that problem was addressed in the 
2005 Act, which ensures that there is a person directly responsible for the sale of 
alcohol on a licensed premises in the form of a designated premises manager, who 
must hold a personal licence. 
 
13.25 However, it is also the case that for a significant proportion of the licensed 
trade, the operational structure is that head office dictates the policies that must be 
pursued on individual premises. Often, managers have no freedom about what 
signage is used or what products are placed on offer. Therefore, whether or not the 
manager is the designated premises manager, how the premises operate is dictated 
from elsewhere. In effect, the licence-holding company can simply continue by 
sacking managers and not being held responsible for their actions. 
 
13.26 At the time the Bill was progressing through Parliament, the licence holder 
could escape punishment by claiming ignorance of the conduct in question and could 
not be held to account for failures to introduce adequate management systems and 

Page 151



 

 

staff training. Section 141B, which was drafted in consultation with the police, 
ensures that premises licence holders can be held liable for a number of offences 
committed by members of their staff. Section 141B also ensures that premises 
licence holders are correctly afforded a defence of due diligence, where they can 
demonstrate the consistent steps that they took to prevent those offences from being 
committed. 
 
  

Page 152



 

 

14. Excluded and Exempt Premises 
 
Introduction 
 
14.1  As outlined at Chapter 8 a premises licence is tailored to the individual premises by 
means of an operating plan, licensing objectives risk assessment and a layout plan. 
For the purposes of the 2005 Act, “premises” means any place and includes a 
vehicle, vessel or moveable structure. Some premises are excluded from holding a 
licence and some premises are exempt from holding a licence. 
 
14.2 The Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 made minor 
amendments to sections 127 (trains) and 128 (ferries) of the 2005 Act by repealing 
the word “knowingly” from the offences set out in those sections. Where criminal 
conduct has been allowed to take place in terms of the listed offences, an offence 
will be committed whether or not the person involved has knowledge of the conduct 
taking place. 
 
Excluded premises 
14.3 Section 123 provides that certain premises are excluded from the alcohol 
licensing regime and consequently the sale of alcohol would not be permitted on 
these premises. Motorway service stations are prohibited from holding a premises 
licence. Premises used as a petrol station, or parts of a premises used as a petrol 
station, are prohibited from holding a premises licence. Premises are used as a 
petrol station if they are used for the: 
 

• retail sale of petrol 

• retail sale of diesel 

• sale of motor vehicles 

• maintenance of motor vehicles 
 
14.4 However, in certain circumstances a Licensing Board may be prepared to 
consider a premises licence application.  
 
14.5 For example in its statement of licensing policy, Midlothian Licensing Board  
state: 
 

• “An application for a premises licence must be refused if the subject 
premises are ‘excluded premises’. Excluded premises are defined as 
motorway service stations and, with certain qualifications, garage 
premises or petrol/derv filling stations. These premises are not excluded if 
the applicant can demonstrate that local residents are reliant to a 
significant extent for the premises to be a principal source of petrol/derv or 
groceries.  

 

• “In determining such an application the Board will expect the applicant to 
provide sufficient information to enable it to consider the locality in which 
the premises are situated, the other sources of petrol or derv and/or 
groceries in the locality and the extent to which the persons resident in the 
locality are, or are likely to become, reliant to a significant extent on the 
premises as a principal source of petrol or derv, or groceries. 

Page 153



 

 

 
 
14.6 Licensing Board clerks will be familiar with the 2011 BP Oil (UK) Limited v City 
of Edinburgh Licensing Board and City of Glasgow Licensing Board case.  A link to 
the judgement is provided on the Scottish Courts and Tribunals Service website. This 
case law is important in assisting Licensing Boards in their use of provisions in 
section 123.  
 
Exempt premises 
14.7 As mentioned in Chapter 13 Other Offences Section, the 2005 Act makes 
provision for regulating the sale of alcohol, and for regulating licensed premises and 
other premises on which alcohol is sold. Section 1 establishes that a licence is 
required to sell alcohol unless the premises are exempt as defined in section 124 or 
to trade.  Section 124 covers the following premises: 
 

• an examination station at an airport designated for the purposes of this 
section in an order made by the Scottish Ministers, 

• an approved wharf at a port or hoverport so designated, 

• an aircraft, a hovercraft or a railway vehicle while engaged on a journey, 

• a vessel while engaged on— 

• →an international journey, or 

• →a journey (other than an international journey) forming part of a ferry 
service, and 

• premises which are occupied (whether indefinitely or temporarily) for the 
purposes of the armed forces of the Crown, except while being used for 
other purposes. 

 
14.8 Under section 124, the Scottish Ministers may designate an airport, port or 
hoverport as exempt premises.  No ports or hoverports are presently so designated.  
The  Licensing (Designated Airports) (Scotland) Order 2007 [SSI 2007/97] exempts 
from the requirement of the 2005 Act those airports which handle a significant 
amount of international traffic.  Aberdeen, Edinburgh, Glasgow, Glasgow Prestwick, 
Inverness and Sumburgh airports are so designated. 
 
14.9 It is however important to note that the exemption only applies to premises in 
the “examination station” of the airport, that is the area beyond the security controls 
to which only passengers arriving or departing have access (airside).  Premises 
before security controls (landside) will be subject to the provisions of the 2005 Act 
and an application in respect of them will need to be made to the Licensing Board in 
the same way as for other premises. 
 

Page 154

https://www.scotcourts.gov.uk/search-judgments/judgment?id=e7a986a6-8980-69d2-b500-ff0000d74aa7


 

 

Annex A Coronavirus Legislation 
 
Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 
 
1. The aim of the Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 (“the 2020 Act”) was to 
respond to the emergency situation caused by the coronavirus pandemic.  The 
Coronavirus (Scotland) Bill was introduced to the Scottish Parliament on 31 March 
2020 and followed the parliament’s emergency bill procedure.  All three stages of the 
Bill took place on 1 April and following agreement of the Parliament, the Bill 
completed the parliamentary process on 1 April 2020.   Royal Assent was granted on 
6 April 2020 and the alcohol licensing provisions came into force on 7 April 2020. 
 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005: temporary modifications 
 
2. The alcohol licensing regime as set out in the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 
(“the 2005 Act”) contains a considerable number of strict timescales and deadlines 
with little or no discretion available to the relevant authorities if they are not adhered 
to. Schedule 5 contains temporary modification to the law in relation to alcohol 
licensing Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 (legislation.gov.uk).  The Scottish 
Government considers the alcohol licensing provisions in the 2020 Act to be a 
pragmatic response to the coronavirus outbreak.  
 
The temporary modifications cover: 
 
Requirement to hold a hearing 
Paragraph 1 of schedule 5 of the 2020 Act sets out modifications to the operation of 
provisions in section 133 of the 2005 Act relating to requirements falling on Licensing 
Boards to hold hearings. 
 
Premises Licences 
Paragraph 2 sets out modifications to the operation of provisions in the 2005 Act 
relating to premises licences. 
 
Personal Licence holders 
Paragraph 3 sets out a number of modifications to the operation of provisions in the 
2005 Act relating to personal licence holders. 
 
Licensing Boards etc. 
Paragraph 4 modifies the operation of a number of provisions in the 2005 Act 
relating to Licensing Boards. 
 
Modification of duties of Licensing Standards Officers 
Paragraph 5 sets out a number of modifications to the operation of provisions in the 
2005 Act relating to Licensing Standards Officers. 
 
Notification by the Chief constable 
Paragraph 6 modifies the operation of a number of provisions in the 2005 Act 
relating to the Chief constable of Police Scotland being required to respond within 21 
days to a notice from a Licensing Board. The purposes of the response is to provide 
information to Licensing Boards in respect of various licensing matters. 

Page 155



 

 

Interpretation 
Paragraph 7 has the effect of modifying section 147 (interpretation) of the 2005 Act 
as if there were inserted a definition of “coronavirus” into that Act. 
 
Modification of the Licensing (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 
Paragraph 8 modifies the operation of the Licensing (Procedure) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/343). 
 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005: extension and expiry of temporary modifications 
 
Section 12 of the 2020 Act as enacted, provided that, amongst other provisions, the 
temporary modifications to the alcohol licensing regime would expire on 30 
September 2020, unless the Scottish Parliament approved regulations providing for 
its effect to continue to 31 March 2021.  The 2020 Act also provided that the Scottish 
Parliament could approve regulations allowing one further extension until 30 
September at which point any remaining provisions in the Act would expire. 
 
The Coronavirus (Scotland) Acts (Amendment Of Expiry Dates) Regulations 2020 
SSI 2020/299 
The Coronavirus (Scotland) Acts (Amendment Of Expiry Dates) Regulations 2021 
SSI 2021/152 
Coronavirus (Extension and Expiry) (Scotland) Act 2021 
The Coronavirus (Scotland) Acts (Amendment Of Expiry Dates) Regulations 2022  
SSI 2022/113 
 
The 2020 and 2021 regulations extended the temporary modifications made to the 
2005 Act by the 2020 Act to 31 March 2021 and 30 September 2021.   
 
As mentioned above, section 12 of the 2020 Act provided that the temporary 
modifications to the alcohol licensing regime would expire on 30 September 2021. 
The Coronavirus (Extension and Expiry) Scotland) Act 2021 (“the 2021 Act”) 
extended the majority of the alcohol licensing provisions until 31 March 2022.  
 
The temporary modification which allowed for licensing board meetings to be held in 
private for a reason relating to Covid expired on 30 September 2021 made to 
Paragraph 12(2) of schedule 1 to the 2020 Act  which provided that a Licensing 
Board does not have to meet in public if it cannot do so as a result of the coronavirus 
outbreak was expired by the 2021 Act and did not continue to be the law after 30 
September 2021.  
 
The 2021 Act also allowed secondary legislation to be used to extend Part 1 (which 
includes the unexpired alcohol licensing provisions) of the 2020 Act further, to 30 
September 2022.  The Parliament agreed to this by approving the 2022 regulations.  
 
Coronavirus (Recovery and Reform) Scotland Act 2022 
 
A non-emergency Bill was introduced to the Scottish Parliament on 25 January 2022 
following on from a 12 week public consultation. The purpose of the Bill is to embed 
reforms in Scotland’s public services and justice system that, though necessitated by 
the Covid pandemic, have delivered  improvements for service users and improved 

Page 156



 

 

efficiency. The Bill will also help build resilience against future public health threats. 
The Bill was passed by the Scottish Parliament on 28 June 2022, with Royal Assent 
being granted on 10 August 2022.  
 
Alcohol licensing: section 23 how hearings may be held  
This section makes similar provision to alcohol licensing as is made for civic 
licensing by section 21 of the Act, replicating the temporary modifications to the 2005 
Act made by paragraph 1 of schedule 5 of the Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020. A 
new section 133A is inserted into the 2005 Act, giving a Licensing Board the ability to 
hold a licensing hearing through remote facilities, as well as in person, or through a 
mixture of both (often called a “hybrid” format). Subsection (2) of section 133A 
defines “remote facilities” for these purposes, a definition which would include 
telephones and video conferencing software. Subsection (1A) of section 133A 
ensures that any views which participants at a licensing hearing may offer with 
regard to the appropriate format for the hearing must be taken into account by a 
Licensing Board, prior to finalising its decision on the format. This applies to anyone 
who notifies the Board of their intention to participate, such as the licence holder or 
an objector.  
 
Equivalent provision is then made for Licensing Board meetings by amendments to 
paragraph 12 of schedule 1 of the 2005 Act. In addition, because the existing 
paragraph 12(2) requires that Licensing Board meetings are held in public, a new 
paragraph 12(2A) is inserted in order to clarify that this requirement for public access 
is complied with, where a remote or hybrid meeting is held, by the Board enabling 
the public to observe the meeting remotely – for example through the public 
provision of a web link to the meeting.  
 
The Coronavirus (Scotland) Acts (Saving Provision) Regulations 2022 
 

• Part 4 of these Regulations makes saving provision in respect of the expiry of 
section 6 and schedule 5 of the first Scottish Act, insofar as they modified the 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 (“the 2005 Act”). 

• Regulations 5 and 6 make general saving provision relating to the first Scottish 
Act for the purpose of supporting the subsequent particular saving provision, set 
out in regulations 7 to 10, which relate to the modifications of the 2005 Act. 
Regulation 7 saves the modification to section 45 (provisional premises licence) 
of the 2005 Act made by paragraph 2(5) of schedule 5 of the first Scottish Act. 
Section 45 provides that a Licensing Board can grant a provisional premises 
licence, which if not confirmed within 4 years is treated as revoked. The 
modification is saved only in respect of an application to extend the 4 year period 
which was made before the end of September 2022. 

• Regulation 8 saves the modification to section 54 (dismissal etc. of premises 
manager) made by paragraph 2(6) of schedule 5 of the first Scottish Act. Where 
one of the events mentioned in section 54(2) of the 2005 Act occurs, the 
premises licence holder must notify the Licensing Board within 7 days, and must 
apply to substitute another person as the premises manager within 6 weeks. 
Paragraph 2(6) of schedule 5 modified these requirements to increase the 7 day 
period to 28 days and increase the 6 week period to 3 months. The modification 
is saved only in relation to a section 54(2) event occurring before the end of 
September 2022. 

Page 157



 

 

• Regulation 9 saves the modification to section 77 (period of effect of personal 
licence) made by paragraph 3(2) of schedule 5 of the first Scottish Act. A 
personal licence may be extended for 10 years if a renewal application is 
granted. The modification is saved only where an application has already been 
made but has not yet been determined, and the licence has expired, but remains 
in effect immediately before the end of September because of the effect of the 
modification. 

• Regulation 10 saves certain modifications to sections 9A (annual functions 
report) and 9B (annual financial report) made by paragraph 4(2) and (3) of 
schedule 5 of the first Scottish Act. Sections 9A and 9B provide respectively that 
Licensing Boards must prepare and publish annual functions reports and annual 
financial reports within 3 months of the end of the financial year. The 
modifications are saved to allow the Board to be able to delay publication until the 
31 December 2022. 

 
 

Page 158



 

 

Annex B Index of defined expressions 
 
The expressions in the left-hand column of the table are defined or otherwise 
explained by the provisions of the 2005 Act specified in the right-hand column. 
 

Expression Interpretation provision 

  

alcohol section 2 

alcoholic drink section 147(1) 

applicant section 147(1) 

area section 147(1) 

capacity (in relation to licensed premises) section 147(1) 

certified copy (of premises licence or summary) section 55 

chief constable section 147(1) 

child section 147(1) 

closure order section 97(3) 

community council section 147(1) 

connected person section 147(3) 

council section 147(1) 

emergency closure order section 97(4) 

excluded premises section 123(2) 

exclusion order section 94(6) 

exempt premises section 124  

expiry date (of a personal licence) section 77(7) 

extended hours application section 68(3) 

foreign offence section 129(2) 

interested party section 147(5) 

layout plan section 20(2)(b)(ii) 

licensed hours section 62(1) 

licensed premises section 147(1) 

licensing objectives section 4(1) 

statement of licensing policy section 6(1) 

licensing qualification section 91(1) 

licensing register section 9(1) 

liquor confectionary section 147(1) 

locality section 7(2) 

operating plan section 20(4) 

occasional licensing section 56(1) 

occasional licence application section 56(4) 

off-sale hours section 62(2)(a)(ii) 

on-sale hours section 62(2)(a)(i) 

 
     
 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



 

 

Expression Interpretation provision 

  

personal licence section 71 

personal licence application section 72(2) 

personal licence renewal application section 78(4) 

premises section 147(1) 

premises licence section 17 

premises licence application section 20(3) 

premises licence review section 36(2) 

premises licence review proposal section 37(2) 

premises licence variation application section 29(3) 

premises manager section 19(1) 

prescribed section 147(1) 

provisional premises licence section 45(5) 

provisional premises licence application section 45(2) 

railway vehicle section 147(1) 

relevant council section 147(1) 

relevant health board section 147(1) 

relevant offence section 129(1) 

review hearing section 38(2) 

sell (and related expressions) section 147(1) 

selling to trade section 147(2) 

senior police officer section 147(1) 

strength of alcohol section 147(1) 

subject premises section 147(1) 

supplementary statement of licensing policy section 6(2) 

temporary premises licence section 47(4) 

variation (of a premises licence) section 29(5) 

variation – minor (of such a licence) section 29(6) 

vehicle section 147(1) 

vessel section 147(1) 

young person section 147(1) 

 
 

Page 160



© Crown copyright 2023

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except 
where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National 
Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to 
obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.scot 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 

The Scottish Government
St Andrew’s House
Edinburgh
EH1 3DG

ISBN: 978-1-80525-418-8 (web only)

Published by The Scottish Government, January 2023

Produced for The Scottish Government by APS Group Scotland, 21 Tennant Street, Edinburgh EH6 5NA
PPDAS1219482 (01/23)

w w w . g o v . s c o tPage 161

http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
mailto:psi%40nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.gov.scot
http://www.gov.scot


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Development Session
	Item No. 4 - AFS - Local Licensing Guide for Forum Members
	ABOUT THIS GUIDE 
	PART 1: 
ESSENTIAL KNOWLEDGE
	1.1	The role of the forum 
	1.2	The membership of the forum 
	1.3	Key information for forum members
	1.3.1	The licensing system 
	1.3.2	Licensing boards 


	PART 2: HOW THE FORUM CAN FULFIL ITS ROLE
	2.1	Reviewing the operation of the Act in the forum’s area
	2.1.1	Scrutinising the implementation 
of licensing policy 
	2.1.2	Gathering evidence 

	2.2	Giving advice and 
making recommendations 
to the board
	2.2.1	Development of the local statement 
of licensing policy 
	2.2.2	Ongoing review of licensing policy 
	2.2.3	Implementation of policy and decision making 
	2.2.4	Reporting requirements 
	2.2.5	Recommendations about licensed hours 
	2.2.6	Identifying conditions to 
promote the objectives 
	2.2.7	Monitoring the use of occasional licences
	2.2.8	Suggesting improvements to board procedures
	2.2.9	When the licensing board does not follow the forum’s advice


	PART 3: TIPS FOR AN EFFECTIVE FORUM
	3.1	Ensuring an inclusive approach to involvement
	3.2	Building the knowledge of forum members 
	3.3	Developing a work plan 
	3.4	Achieving a culture of participation
	3.4.1	Preparation 
	3.4.2	Management of business 
	3.4.3	Exploring ideas and group decision making 
	3.4.4	Evaluation and review 

	3.5	Facilitating effective communication 
	3.5.1	Communicating with the board 
	3.5.2	Communicating with stakeholders 
and communities 

	3.6	Forum to-do list 



	5 Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 - Section 142 Guidance for Licensing Boards
	Item No. 5 - Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 Section 142 Guidance for Licensing Boards


	Button 18: 
	Button 6: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 5: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 7: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 8: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 9: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 2: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 3: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 

	Button 17: 
	Button 19: 
	Button 20: 
	Button 28: 


